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PART I

ltem 1. Business
Overview

NetSuite Inc. provides an on-demand, integrateéhias management application suite that offers Awting / Enterprise Resource
Planning (“ERP”), Customer Relationship Managen{f@RM”) and Ecommerce functionality to medium-sizegsinesses and divisions of
large companies. We also offer customer supporipaoiissional services related to our suite. Wevelebur suite over the Internet as a
subscription service using the software-as-a-ser{/i8aaS”) model.

Our revenue has grown from $17.7 million during year ended December 31, 2004 to $166.5 millioinduhe year ended
December 31, 2009.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 arfiltB@(percentage of our revenue generated outéiderth America was 18%, 19%
and 18%, respectively.

Industry Background

The 1990s saw the widespread adoption among latgepeises of packaged business management sofapalieations that automated a
variety of departmental functions, such as accognfinance, order and inventory management, husources, sales and customer support.
These sophisticated applications required sigmificash outlays for the initial purchase and fag@ng maintenance and support. In addition,
these applications were internally managed and teiaied by enterprise customers, requiring largiissta support complex information
technology infrastructures. Most importantly, thpkcations generally were provided by multiple gters, with each application providing o
a departmental view of the enterprise. To gainrgargrise-wide view, organizations attempted tddgether their various incompatible
packaged applications through long, complex antlycogegration efforts. Many of these attemptdefdj in whole or in part, often after
significant delay and expense. As a consequencey fagge enterprises have transitioned from mudtjgpdint products to comprehensive,
integrated business management suites, such asdffesed by Oracle and SAP, as their core busimsssgmgement platforms.

Medium-sized businesses, defined as businessesiiih 1,000 employees, have application softwageirements that are similar, in
many respects, to large enterprises because threitbeisiness processes are substantially simikiiose of large enterprises. These
requirements include the integration of back-offic#ivities, such as managing payroll and trackavgntory; front-office activities, including
order management and customer support; and, inegkassophisticated Ecommerce capabilities.

Medium-sized businesses are generally less caffadoidarge enterprises of performing the costlynglex and time-consuming
integration of multiple point products from onemore vendors. As a result, medium-sized businesse$requently derive greater benefits
from a comprehensive business suite. Suites designeand broadly adopted by, large enterprisggdwide a comprehensive, integrated
platform for managing these core business procebsagever, generally are not well suited to mediired businesses due to the complexity
and cost of such applications.

Recently, medium-sized businesses have begun &fibffom the development of the on-demand SaaSeim&haS uses the Internet to
deliver software applications from a centrally feastomputing facility to end users through a wednisier. SaaS eliminates the costs assoc
with installing and maintaining applications withtine customer’s information technology infrastruetuOn-demand applications are generally
licensed for a monthly, quarterly or annual sulpgirn fee, as opposed to on-premise enterprisacapioins that typically require the payment
of a much larger, upfront license fee. As a resutdemand applications require substantially ieiigl and ongoing investment in software,
hardware and implementation services and lower ioggsupport and maintenance, making them moredsdfade for medium-sized businesses.
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To date, the on-demand software model has beeredpla variety of types of business software igppbns, including CRM, security,
accounting, human resources management, messagirgteers, and it has been adopted by a wide yasfdiusinesses.

While SaasS applications have enabled medium-simsthbsses to benefit from enterprise-class cagiabilimost are still point products
that require extensive, costly and time-consumimeggration to work with other applications. Medigized businesses generally have been
unable to purchase a comprehensive business maeagapplication suite at an affordable cost thatbéss them to run their businesses using
a single system of record, provides real-time vieiheir operations and can be readily customiedi rapidly implemented. Until NetSuite,
we believe there was no provider of an on-demartdgrated suite of business management applicatiatsaddresses the needs of medium-
sized businesses in the comprehensive manner thateCand SAP address the similar needs of largg@ises.

Our Solution

Our comprehensive business management applicatitmis designed to serve as a single system foring a business. All elements of
our application suite share the same customerranddction data, enabling seamless, cross-depaghersiness process automation and real-
time monitoring of core business metrics. In additiour integrated ERP, CRM and Ecommerce capiaBilirovide users with real-time
visibility and appropriate application functionglihrough dashboards tailored to their particubér flunction and access rights. Because our
offering is delivered via the Internet, it is awdile wherever a user has Internet access, whetteepersonal computer or a mobile device. The
key advantages of our application suite for outauers are:

One Integrated System for Running a Busin€3ar integrated business application suite pravitie functionality required to automate
the core operations of medium-sized businessasetas divisions of large companies. This unif@gproach to managing a business enables
companies to create cross-functional business pseseextend access to appropriate customerseparsuppliers or other relevant
constituencies; and efficiently share and dissetaimdormation in real time. Our suite is designedbe easy to use, while also providing in
depth functionality to meet the needs of our mophssticated customers. Our customers can usepplication suite to manage mission-
critical business processes, including complex HiR@nce, accounting, inventory and payroll), CR34lés, order management, marketing and
customer support) and Ecommerce (hosting, onlioestand website analytics) functions. We also ail@red our offering to the specific
needs of customers in the wholesale/distributieryises and software industries, to better sergedltustomerdistinct business requiremel
and accelerate the implementation of our offeriiogEustomers in those industries.

Role-Based Application Functionality and Real-Titwesiness IntelligenceUsers access our suite through a role-basedniseface, or
dashboard, that delivers specific application fiomztlity and information appropriate for each usgob responsibilities in a format familiar to
them. For example, the dashboard for a salesp&reald deliver functionality for managing contadesads and forecasts, while the dashboard
for a warehouse manager would deliver capabil#jgsropriate for managing shipping, receiving ardrres. These dashboards also incorpc
sophisticated business intelligence tools that kenaders to track key performance indicators, aabperational data to identify trends, issues
and opportunities and make decisions that can ivgptive performance of their business, all in rizaét

On-Demand Delivery ModelWe deliver our suite over the Internet as a stjpson service using the SaaS model, eliminatmgneed
for customers to buy and maintain on-premise haréwad software. Our suite is designed to achiewvel$ of reliability, scalability and
security for our customers that have typically doden available to large enterprises with substhimfiormation technology resources. Our
architecture enables us to maintain very high kweélvailability, scale easily as our customemsagand provide a safe and secure environi
for their business-critical data and applications.
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Low Total Cost of OwnershipOur suite incorporates the functionality of mpii applications, thereby eliminating the costoesged
with attempting to integrate disparate applicatjamsether managed on-premise or delivered on-denm@udon-demand delivery model and
our application’s ease of use and configurabiligngicantly reduce implementation costs for hardeyasoftware and services and the need for
dedicated information technology personnel. Custsrtypically subscribe to our application suite sogquarterly or annual fee based on the
number of users and the solutions they elect tdoge@ur subscription fees are significantly lesart typical upfront costs to purchase
perpetual licenses and our on-demand delivery systeninates ongoing maintenance and upgrade cbarge

Rapid ImplementationBecause we offer a relatively comprehensive appiin suite that incorporates the functionalityrofitiple
applications, we significantly reduce the time aisé associated with implementing and integratingtiple point products. Our on-demand
delivery model enables remote implementations dindreates many of the steps associated with on-@einstallations, such as purchasing
and setting up hardware. In addition to our induspecific offerings, our professional servicesamgation is organized along customers’
industries; therefore, knowledge gained throughmgslementation with one customer may be appliedth@r customers within that industry,
speeding implementations. Customers can implemamfferings themselves, engage our professionaicgs organization or utilize the
services of our partners.

Ease of Customization and Configuratiowe enable users to customize our applicatiore $aithe particular needs of their businesses.
Our application suite can be configured by endsuséthout software programming expertise. In costtta traditional on-premise applications,
as new versions of our application suite becomdabla, each customer’s customizations and conéigons are maintained with little or no
additional effort or expense required.

Our Business Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as a leadimgloeof on-demand, integrated business managerpgfitation suites for medium-
sized businesses. The key elements of our stratefpde:

Expanding Our Leadership in On-Demand, IntegratediBess SuitesWe believe we were the first software vendontegrate front-
office, back-office and Ecommerce management céipasiinto a single on-demand software suite. Wterid to improve our position in the
on-demand applications market by continuing to mewigh quality offerings that encompass the qmise-class functionality and ease-of-use
our customers require. We also intend to leverageposition as our customers’ primary business meament platform to add new and
enhanced functionality that will help them run thaiisinesses more efficiently and expand our pseiithin their organizations.

Tailoring Our Offering to Customers’ Specific Indliss . While we provide a general purpose suite appleaball businesses, we
believe that tailoring our application to customeggecific industries has been and will continudéimportant to our growth. We currently
offer industry-specific editions of our service feholesale/distribution, services and software canigs. We will continue to enhance the
capabilities of our application by further tailagithe functionality for these and other industries.

Growing Our Customer Base and Expanding Use of 8arwice Within Existing Account$Ve intend to broaden our offerings and
expand our direct and indirect sales efforts tongooir customer base. In addition, we seek to irsg@angoing subscription revenue from our
existing customers by broadening their use of aitesthereby increasing the number of users andutes deployed.

Fostering the Continued Development of the NetRatener Network We provide tools and programs to foster the dgwakent of a
network of value-added resellers, or VARS, systartegyrators and independent software vendors. diitiad to programs that enable our
partners to resell our suite, our NetSuite Busiti@ssrating System (“NS-BOS”) allows these partitersxtend our platform by developing
products of their own, including industry-specifiersions of our application suite. We intend totoare to enhance the NS-BOS platform and
establish distribution models to bring these nelutgms to market.
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Addressing the Multinational Business Requiremehtaur Clients. Medium-sized businesses are increasingly seejtofzal business
opportunities, in large part by leveraging the in&t. We believe that there is significant oppoityuto address the needs of medium-sized
businesses with multinational business operatiand,we currently offer a localized version of ouitesin a number of countries and langua
We will continue to extend our application offerinp support the requirements of multinational medsized businesses.

Our Offerings

Our main offering is NetSuite, which is designegbtovide the core business management capabilitégsnost of our customers require.
NetSuite, NetSuite OneWorld and NetSuite CRM+ asighed for use by most types of businesses. lti@aldve offer industr-specific
configurations for use by wholesale/distributioernsces and software companies. We also sell ahdition-demand application modules that
customers can purchase to obtain additional funatity required for their specific business needs.

NetSuite NetSuite is targeted at medium-sized businesseglizisions of large companies and provides alsiptatform for ERP, CRM
and Ecommerce capabilities. It contains a broaalyeaof features that enable users to do their iddiai jobs more effectively. In addition,
because all users are transacting business oanhe database system, NetSuite can easily automuatesges across departments. For exal
when a sales representative enters an order, ygwoval it automatically appears on the warehouarager’s dashboard as an item to be
shipped and, once the item has been shipped oitreatically appears on the finance managdeshboard as an item to be billed. Each cust
can automate their key business functions acréstephrtments, including sales, marketing, senfioance, inventory, order fulfillment,
purchasing and employee management. As with alobfferings, users access the application aral tiabugh a role-based user interface, or
dashboard, tailored to deliver specific functiotyatind information appropriate for their position.

NetSuite OneWorldNetSuite OneWorld is targeted at global businessel divisions of large companies operating intimational and
multi-subsidiary environments. OneWorld allows ssier utilize our single platform for ERP, CRM andoEhnmerce capabilities in multi-
currency environments across multiple subsidiareblegal entities. NetSuite OneWorld providesahitity to manage multiple companies or
legal entities, with potentially different curreasj taxation rules, and reporting requirementdjiwia single NetSuite account. NetSuite
OneWorld has global CRM capabilities that allow fieanagement of multi-currency quotas, forecastsneizsion payments, sales tax
calculations and real-time reporting for everyamea iglobal sales organization from the local sedgs to the regional vice president to the head
of worldwide sales. Additionally, growing compantgpically employ multiple sales channels for thglimbal sales operations so NetSuite
OneWorld allows for automation of common sales cledsemployed internationally including direct saldistribution partner networks and
Ecommerce. Additionally, marketing and customempgwpoperations can also be managed globally ud&t§uite OneWorld so processes ¢
as lead routing and trouble ticket assignment eailyebe handled across regions or in-country, witibal customer visibility and real-time
measurement of marketing and service operation&mpeance.

NetSuite CRM+ NetSuite CRM+ is targeted at a wide range of camigs, including companies larger than our trad&ionedium-sized
business customers. Medium-sized businesses mayaiSeite CRM+ as an entry point into the entirigeswvhile larger enterprises often
implement it as an alternative to more limited CRf¥ferings. This application provides traditionalesaforce automation, marketing
automation, customer support and service managefmectionality. NetSuite CRM+ contrasts with compe¢ CRM products by also
incorporating, without requiring additional intetjea, order management and many other ERP and Eeooencapabilities. This provides us
with a more comprehensive, real-time view of custoimteractions than can be provided by traditipatand-alone CRM products, whether on-
premise or on-demand. NetSuite CRM+ also offersritige management, project tracking, website hgsdimd analytics and partner
relationship management.
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Add-On Modules We also offer advanced capabilities that are glaour integrated suite, but are typically solgamtely. These modul
allow our customers to specifically augment aspettaur suite to enhance its relevance to theiimasses.

NetSuite Industry EditionsWe have configured NetSuite to meet the requirgmef selected industries. Our current editiongese
companies in the wholesale/distribution, serviaes software industries. Within each edition, weeofidvanced industry specific functionality
to complement our core NetSuite offering, templatielsest practices and dedicated sales and profedsiervices teams with industry-specific
expertise.

NetSuite Business Operating SystéM$-BOS is our technology platform that allowstousers, partners and developers to tailor and
extend our suite to meet specific company, vertical industry requirements for personalizationjrimss processes and best practices. NS-
BOS allows partners to develop products of theinowcluding industry-specific versions of our dpgtion suite. NS-BOS and our
customization environment, titled SuiteFlex, arsigeed to continue to operate across version upgraithout modification and include the
following tools: SuiteBuilder, SuiteScript, SuitdkaSuiteScript D-Bug and SuiteBundler.

. SuiteBuildel. SuiteBuilder is an integrated set of e-to-use, poir-anc-click tools that enables customers to tailor NeSta fit
their company and industry requirements. SuiteRBuikhables users to easily customize fields anmdf@nd add database tables,
without the need for additional programming. Thexibility of SuiteBuilder also allows the look, feend content of individual
user’ dashboards to be easily personali:

. SuiteScrip. Customers, partners and developers use Suit¢Szeptend the suite with everything from simpladtions to nev
business process flows and even entirely new agipits. SuiteScript provides the benefits of a sblauchitecture and on-demand
hosting efficiencies for interaction between oanstard and custom processes. SuiteScript introdustemization and tailoring
capabilities that allow complex processes with bhémg logic and time-based decision trees to beraated. SuiteScript gives
developers access to the same software objectdadedld our core application, allowing seamlestersions of the suite’s core
functionality.

. SuiteTalk SuiteTalk is an integration tool that utilizemple object access protocol and standards-basedeveize application
programming interfaces to integrate our suite wither applications, such as third-party verticalleations and legacy systems.
Our suite’s single data repository, combined witt&Talk’s advanced integration technologies, eesblur application suite to
incorporate and leverage a wide range of data gégbby our customers’ legacy applications. Devaiggan also use SuiteTalk to
build adc-on capabilities, such as wireless interfa

. SuiteScript [-Bug. SuiteScript [-Bug, the reetime, interactive debugger, enables code validaiwhtesting as thi-party
applications run on the application server. Mostdf all SaaS development environments suppoittesf third-party applications
on client machines. SuiteScript D-Bug enables thady applications to be tested in an actual sesmgironment against live data,
allowing developers to see and correct the behaxbibited by the application in r-world conditions

. SuiteBundle. SuiteBundler enables the reuse of customizaiosapplications built with SuiteFlex. Our ve-added resellel
systems integration and independent software vepaidners will use SuiteBundler to package andidige industry-specific
extensions and customizations of NetSuite they ll@veloped. SuiteBundler allows our partners toeshtheir applications,
knowledge and industry best practices into ouresaibnverting professional services traditionafiplacable only to an individual
customer into a product offering that can be soldlt customers in the same industry. In addit@, customers can use
SuiteBundler to share their SuiteFlex customizatiaith others

OpenAir and QuickArrow Professional Services Autiomaand Project Portfolio Managemenin addition to NetSuite, we also offer
both professional services automation (“PSA”) armjgxt portfolio management (“PPM”) products throumur OpenAir, Inc. (“OpenAir”) and
QuickArrow Inc. (“QuickArrow”) subsidiaries. Theseols, delivered in a SaaS environment, providégasional services and project-based
organizations and firms advanced capabilities fiwa and report on billable time, manage projaat$ resources and bill customers.
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Sales and Marketing

Sales. We generate sales through both direct and indiggroaches, with most selling done over the phOwue direct sales team
consists of professionals in various locations s&tbe United States, Europe and the Asia-Paei§ion. Within these regions, our direct sales
organization focuses on selling to medium-sizednasses and divisions of large companies. Indsalds are generated through our
relationships with channel partners in North Americatin America, Europe and the Asia-Pacific regio

Our sales process typically begins with the geimraif a sales lead from a marketing program otausr referral. After the lead is
qualified, our sales personnel conduct focused haded demonstrations along with initial price déstons. Members of our professional
services team are engaged as needed to offer irsiglmd aspects of the implementation. Our sglele ¢ypically ranges from one to six
months, but can vary based on the specific appicathe size and complexity of the potential costo's information technology environment
and other factors.

Marketing. We tailor our marketing efforts around relevamplécation categories, customer sizes and custamdesstries. As part of our
marketing strategy, we have established a numbleeyprograms and initiatives including online ams@rch engine advertising, email
campaigns and web seminars, product launch euveadie show and industry event sponsorship andcgaation, marketing support for chan
partners, and referral programs.

Japanese Majority-Owned Subsidiarin March 2006, we established a majority-ownéokaliary in Japan, NetSuite Kabushiki Kaisha
(“NetSuite KK"). We owned this subsidiary with Tisgosmos, Inc., (“TCI"), Miroku Jyoho Service LtdMJS"), and Inspire Corporation, e¢
of which is a Japanese corporation. TCl and MJ® leelusive distribution rights to distribute our-demand application suite in Japan. As of
December 31, 2008, we owned approximately 72%e&tibsidiary.

In December 2009, the Company purchased TCI's 28#ecship equity in NetSuite KK for $3.0 million,dreasing our ownership in
NetSuite KK to 92%. Subsequent to year end the Goypurchased the remaining ownership equity irBNig¢ KK from MJS and Inspit
Corporation for aggregate consideration of $1.4iomlin cash.

Because of this majority interest, we consolida¢¢Suite KK’s financial results, reflecting its remes, cost of revenue and expense
categories in our consolidated statement of operatiWe then record a noncontrolling interest, Whiflects the noncontrolling investors’
interest in NetSuite KK’s results. Through DecemBgr2009, the operating performance and liquidBtyuirements of NetSuite KK had not
been material to our results of operations or for@rcondition. Although we plan to expand ourisglland marketing activities in Japan to add
new customers, we believe the future liquidity iegments of NetSuite KK will not be significanttine near future.

Service and Support

Professional ServiceswWe have developed repeatable, cost-effectiveutting and implementation services to assist ogtamers with
integrating and importing data from other systechsinging their business processes to take advaotdlge enhanced capabilities enabled by
our integrated suite, implementing those new bissipeocesses within their organization and conifiigquand customizing our application suite
for their business processes and requirements.

Our consulting and implementation methodology lages the nature of our on-demand software archiecthe industry-specific
expertise of our professional services employedsiam design of our platform to simplify, streaneliand expedite the implementation process.
We generally employ a joint staffing model for irmpientation projects whereby we involve the custamee actively in the implementation
process than
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traditional software companies. We believe thigdrgirepares our customers to support the apmicatiroughout their use of our service. In
addition, because our service is on-demand, odegsmnal services employees can remotely configureapplication for most customers
based on telephonic consultations. Our consultijimplementation services are generally offeread dired price basis. Our network of
partners also provides professional services taostomers.

Client Support Our technical support organization, with perséimm€&€anada and Asia, offers support 24 hours a seyen days a week.
Our system allows for skills-based and time zongeHaouting to address general and technical ireguércross all aspects of our suite. For our
direct customers, we offer tiered customer suppargrams depending upon the service needs of atiomers’deployments. Support contra
typically have a one-year term. For customers msitty through resellers, primary product suppopravided by our resellers, with escalation
support provided by us.

Training . We offer a variety of training services througlr training resource, NetSuite University, to faate the successful adoption of
our suite throughout the customer’s organization.

Operations, Technology and Development

Our customers rely on our application suite tothair businesses, and, as a result, we need toestimiavailability of our service. We
have developed our infrastructure with the goahakimizing the availability of our application, vehi is hosted on a highly-scalable network
located in a secure third-party facility. We hdst NetSuite application and serve our customemsgsily from a single data center facility with
SAVVIS Communications Corporation (“SAVVIS”), loa in California. Our OpenAir applications are leaktrom a separate SAVVIS data
center located in Massachusetts and our QuickAapplications are hosted from a data center opetgt&lnguard located in Texas. Our
hosting operations incorporate industry-standardware, the Linux opeseurce operating system and Oracle databases phdatipn server
into a flexible, scalable architecture. Elementswf application suite’s infrastructure can be aepld or added with no interruption in service,
helping to ensure that the failure of any singleice will not cause a broad service outage.

Our single-instance, multi-tenant architecturevafiais to provide our customers with enterprisesctapabilities, high quality of service,
scalability and security, all at an affordable pri©ur architecture enables us to host multiplellsmeustomers on a single x86 server while
preserving the ability to migrate any customeitscoiwn server without interruption or alterationemhthe customergjirowth and business nes
require it. In addition to the enhanced flexibilagd scalability our architecture provides, it @lsdesigned to work on inexpensive, industry-
standard hardware, thereby providing us a significast advantage that is reflected in the prieitegare able to offer our customers.

Unlike other SaaS companies that deploy major red@ases to all customers at once, we roll out ajbnreleases and many upgrades of
our application suite to only a portion of our @mer base at any one time. This “phased releasegsbdis designed to allow us to mitigate the
impact of major changes and new releases, enstirat@ny potential issues affect only a portiomwf customers before they are addressed.

The combination of our hosting infrastructure, & architecture and phased release process anable offer a service level
commitment to our customers of 99.5% uptime peiogeexcluding designated periods of maintenanceldd the terms of this commitment,
we offer to credit a full month’s service fees &y period where we do not meet this service level.

Product development expenses were $23.7 millioh,Sillion and $28.6 million during the years edd@ecember 31, 2007, 2008 and
2009, respectively. In developing our service offfgs, we rely on customer feedback and spend signif time with our customers in formal
user testing sessions as well as less formal ‘aldags” and customer roundtables. We use the NetSeivice to track customer interest in
service enhancements and actual work done on gmsmncements. We develop our offerings using Jadatee Oracle
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database on the server and AJAX on the client avigloal of making our service scalable, high pertorog, robust and easy to use. Finally, we
expose many of our internal development tools ita tharty developers via SuiteFlex to allow extensito the service that mirror the built-in
capabilities we develop internally. Our use of @r@acle database is pursuant to various softwaeadie agreements with Oracle USA, Inc., an
affiliate of Oracle Corporation. Lawrence J. Ellisevho beneficially owns a majority of our commaack, is the Chief Executive Officer, a
principal stockholder and a director of Oracle @ogtion. See Note 17 to our Consolidated Finar&ialements for a further description of 1
software license agreement.

Customers

Our customers are diverse in size and type acresdeavariety of industries, with a focus on medisired businesses and divisions of
large companies. In 2009, the top 10 industrieghiith our customers operated, as measured by cogmeed revenue, were as follows:
Distribution & Wholesale; Professional, Consultawgd Other Services; Computer Software; Ecommer&etil; Manufacturing; Computer &
IT Services; Telecommunications Services; Finare@vices; Healthcare Services; and Education. 8dechistomers in approximately 80
countries in 2009. No single customer accountednfore than 3% of our revenue in 2007, 2008 or 2009.

Competition

We compete with a broad array of ERP, CRM and Ecernencompanies. Our markets are highly competifragmented and subject to
rapid changes in technology. Many of our poterdiedtomers are seeking their first packaged ERP, ©REcommerce application and, as
such, evaluate a wide range of alternatives dutie@ purchase process. Although we believe thaeraf our larger competitors currently of
an on-demand comprehensive business managementweiface significant competition within each af snarkets from companies with
broad product suites and greater name recognitidnmesources than we have, as well as smaller auiegéocused on specialized solutions. In
addition, some of our larger competitors have anoed plans to launch new products that could coenpetre closely with our on-demand
application suite. Internationally, we face comipeti from local companies as well as larger conipetj each of which has products tailored
for those local markets. To a lesser extent, wepsienwith internally developed and maintained sohst Our current principal competitors
include Epicor Software Corporation, Intuit Inc.jdvbsoft Corporation, SAP AG, The Sage Group pld salesforce.com, inc.

We believe the principal competitive factors in awarkets include:

. service breadth and functionali

. service performance, security and reliabil

. ability to tailor and customize services for a sfiecompany, vertical or industn

. ease of use

. speed and ease of deployment, integration andgumation;

. total cost of ownership, including price and imptatation and support cos

. sales and marketing approach; i

. financial resources and reputation of the ven

We believe that we compete favorably with mostuwf @ompetitors on the basis of each of the fadistesd above, except that certain of
our competitors have greater sales, marketing imadidial resources, more extensive geographic peesand greater name recognition thar

do. In addition, although we have extended the rarmbapplications we have introduced for speaiictical markets, we may be at a
disadvantage in certain vertical markets compavagkttain of our competitors. We may face futurepetition in our markets
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from other large, established companies, as wdtoms emerging companies. In addition, we expeat there is likely to be continued
consolidation in our industry that could lead torgased price competition and other forms of coitipet

Intellectual Property

Our success depends upon our ability to protectore technology and intellectual property. To aaplish this, we rely on a
combination of intellectual property rights, inclag trade secrets, patents, copyrights and tradespas well as customary contractual
protections. We view our trade secrets and know-asw significant component of our intellectualgeny assets, as we have spent years
designing and developing our on-demand, integrapgdication suite, which we believe differentiatessfrom our competitors.

As of December 31, 2009, we had eight U.S. andreidgn pending patent applications. We do not kmdwther any of our pending
patent applications will result in the issuanceatents or whether the examination process willirequs to narrow our claims. Even if grani
there can be no assurance that these pending pagitations will provide us with protection.

We have a number of registered and unregisterddrrarks. We maintain a policy requiring our empésyeonsultants and other third
parties to enter into confidentiality and proprigteghts agreements and to control access to softwocumentation and other proprietary
information.

In addition, we license third-party technologieatthre incorporated into some elements of our sesviLicenses of third-party
technologies may not continue to be available tatusreasonable cost, or at all. The steps we tades to protect our intellectual property
rights may not be adequate. Third parties mayrig&ior misappropriate our proprietary rights. Cotitges may also independently develop
technologies that are substantially equivalenupesior to the technologies we employ in our sexsid-ailure to protect our proprietary rights
adequately could significantly harm our competifpasition and operating results.

The software and technology industries are chaiaettby the existence of a large number of pateotsyrights, trademarks and trade
secrets and by frequent litigation based on aliegatof infringement or other violations of intedtaal property rights. As we face increasing
competition, the possibility of intellectual properights claims against us grows. Many of our g@nagreements require us to indemnify our
customers for certain third-party intellectual pedy infringement claims, which would increase oosts as a result of defending those claims
and might require that we pay damages if there weradverse ruling in any such claims. We, andigedf our customers, have in the past
received correspondence from third parties allegfiad) certain of our services, or customers’ useusfservices, violate these third parties’
patent rights. These types of correspondence dncefalaims could harm our relationships with oustomers and might deter future custor
from subscribing to our services.

With respect to any intellectual property rightaiei against us or our customers, we may have talpmages or stop using technology
found to be in violation of a third party’s right&/e may have to seek a license for the technolgich may not be available on reasonable
terms, significantly increase our operating expsmsaequire us to restrict our business activitiesne or more respects. The technology also
may not be available for license to us at all. Assult, we may be required to develop alternatwme-infringing technology, which could
require significant effort and expense.

Employees
As of December 31, 2009, we had 968 employees.|¥deemngage a number of independent contractore@msliltants.

None of our employees is represented by a labamunith respect to his or her employment with ug Néve not experienced any work
stoppages, and we consider our relations with mpleyees to be good. Our

11



Table of Contents

future success will depend upon our ability toaatrand retain qualified personnel. Competitiongfoalified personnel remains intense and we
may not be successful in retaining our key empley@eaattracting skilled personnel.

Available Information

You can obtain copies of our Form 10-K, QuartergpBrts on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8rd, @her filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), andmakkndments to these filings, free of charge fraomvdeb site at
http://www.netsuite.com/investaas soon as reasonably practicable following ourdfibf any of these reports with the SEC. You dao a
obtain copies free of charge by contacting our $tmeRelations department at our corporate heatkgaim he information found on our
website is not a part of this or any other repagtfike with or furnish to the SEC.

You can also read and copy any materials we fita tie SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room @t-18treet, N.E., Washington,
DC 20549. You can obtain additional information abthe operation of the Public Reference Room Iijngathe SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In
addition, the SEC maintains a websit&tp://www.sec.goy that contains reports, proxy and informationestants, and other information
regarding issuers that file electronically with 8EC, including us.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our current executive officers, and their ages@ogitions as of February 28, 2010, are set fortbvine

Name Age  Position(s)

Zachary Nelsol 48 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc

Evan M. Goldber 43 Chief Technology Officer and Chairman of the Bo
James McGeeve 43 Chief Financial Office

Timothy Dilley 50 Executive Vice President, Servic

James Ramse 37 Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sales and Distidy
Douglas P. Solomo 43 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

Zachary Nelsonhas served as a director since July 2002 and aBregident and Chief Executive Officer since Jan@@03. Prior to
that, Mr. Nelson served as our President and Gypefrating Officer from July 2002 to January 200&rk March 1996 to October 2001,
Mr. Nelson was employed by Network Associates, (now McAfee, Inc.), an enterprise security softvaompany. While at Network
Associates, Mr. Nelson held positions including&lt8trategy Officer of Network Associates and Riest and Chief Executive Officer of
MyCIlO.com, a subsidiary that provided on-demandvsaxfe security services. From 1992 to 1996, he hatbus positions, including Vice
President of Worldwide Marketing at Oracle Corpimatan enterprise software company. He holds &8.M.A. degrees from Stanford
University.

Evan M. Goldberg co-founded our company in 1998 and has served agrGén of our Board of Directors and as our Chie¢fihology
Officer since January 2003. From October 1998 thinalanuary 2003, Mr. Goldberg held various pos#tioith us, including President and
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technology OfficBrior to joining us, Mr. Goldberg founded mBeaft®are, Inc., a software company
focused on multimedia tools for website developetsgre he served as Chief Executive Officer fronvénber 1995 to September 1998. Fi
August 1987 to November 1995, Mr. Goldberg heldotas positions in product development at Oraclep@ration, including Vice President
Development in the New Media Division. Mr. Goldbérglds a B.A. from Harvard College.

James McGeevelhas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincee RB00. Mr. McGeever served as our Director of irigafrom
January 2000 to June 2000. Prior to joining us, MtGeever was the controller of Clontech Labor&®rinc., a privately held biotechnology
company from 1998 to 2000 and the corporate cdatrol
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at Photon Dynamics, Inc., a capital equipment méien 1994 to 1998. Mr. McGeever holds a B.Sc. fitbm London School of Economics.
Mr. McGeever has qualified as a chartered accotimahe United Kingdom.

Timothy Dilley has served as our Executive Vice President, Sexrgicee December 2006. Prior to joining us, Mridyilserved as
Senior Vice President of Global Customer Serviddafarmatica Corporation, an enterprise softwasmpany, from December 1998 until
December 2006. He holds a B.S. from Californiaestaiversity at Fresno.

James Ramseyas served as our Senior Vice President, WorldB&les and Distribution since February 2009. Mr. Beyrserved as
our Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sales fromudan 2008 until February 2009. From September 20@ecember 2007, Mr. Ramsey has
held several positions with us, including Seniocé/President of the America’s. Prior to joining Slgite, Mr. Ramsey worked for Oracle
Corporation from July 1995 to September 2003. MimRey held various positions in the sales organizat Oracle including Director of
Midmarket Sales Canada and Central U.S., and Diredtthe West. Mr. Ramsey holds a B.A degree ycRslogy from the University of
Denver.

Douglas P. Solomorhas served as our Senior Vice President, Generaiseband Secretary since July 2008. Mr. Solomoresleas our
Vice President, Legal & Corporate Affairs from Noveer 2006 to July 2008 and has been our Secrdtary 3anuary 2007. Prior to joining
Mr. Solomon served in senior legal and managenaes iat Openwave Systems Inc., a software comgiaomg, April 2000 through March
2006, including Vice President, Legal & Corporatéafs. He holds a B.A. from the University of Migan and a J.D. from Harvard Law
School.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

A description of the risks and uncertainties asated with our business is set forth below. If ahguzh risks and uncertainties actually
occurs, our business, financial condition or opé@rgtresults could differ materially from the plapspjections and other forward-looking
statements included in the section titled “ManagetiseDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditemd Results of Operations” and
elsewhere in this report and in our other publiinfis. In addition, if any of the following riske@ uncertainties, or if any other risks and
uncertainties, actually occurs, our business, fitiahcondition or operating results could be harmsdstantially, which could cause the
market price of our stock to decline, perhaps Sigantly.

Risks Related to Our Business

Continued adverse economic conditions or reducedeistments in on-demand applications and informatitethnology spending may harm
our business.

Our business depends on the overall demand foreamadd applications and information technology spendnd on the economic health
and general willingness of our current and prospeaustomers to make capital commitments. If thieditions in the U.S. and global
economic environment remain uncertain or contiruleet volatile, or if they deteriorate further, duwsiness, operating results, and financial
condition may be materially adversely affected. {Gured weak or volatile economic conditions, oeduction in spending for on-demand
applications and information technology even ifremmic conditions improve, would likely harm our mess and operating results in a nurn
of ways, including longer sales cycles, extendedrnt terms, lower prices for our products andisesy reduced sales, and lower customer
retention rates.

We have a history of losses and we may not acheditability in the future.

We have not been profitable on a generally accegtedunting principles (“GAAP™pasis during any quarterly or annual period singe
formation. We experienced a net loss attributadleetSuite Inc. common stockholders of $23.3 millfor the year ended December 31, 2009.
As of that date, our accumulated deficit was $28dillion. We expect to make significant future ergéures related to the development and
expansion of our business. In addition, as a pwdinpany, we are incurring significant legal, acting and other expenses that we did not
incur as a private company. As a result of theseeised expenditures, we will have to generatesasthin increased revenue to achieve and
maintain future profitability. While historicallyus revenue has grown, this growth may not be sualtdé and we may not achieve sufficient
revenue to achieve or maintain profitability. Weynracur significant losses in the future for a nienbf reasons, including due to the other
risks described in this Annual Report, and we megoenter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, commpbias and delays and other unknown
factors. Accordingly, we may not be able to achievenaintain profitability and we may continue tir significant losses for the foreseeable
future.

Our customers are medium-sized businesses and idigsof large companies, which may result in incissd costs as we attempt to reach,
acquire and retain customers.

We market and sell our application suite to medaired businesses and divisions of large compah@grow our revenue quickly, we
must add new customers, sell additional servicexigting customers and encourage existing cus®inaenew their subscriptions. However,
selling to and retaining medium-sized businessaseamore difficult than selling to and retainiagde enterprises because medium-sized
business customers:

. are more price sensitiv

. are more difficult to reach with broad marketingngeigns;

. have high churn rates in part because of the nafuteeir businesse

. often lack the staffing to benefit fully from oupglication suit’s rich feature set; ar
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. often require higher sales, marketing and suppgréeditures by vendors that sell to them per regatullar generated for tho
vendors,

If we are unable to costffectively market and sell our service to our &rgustomers, our ability to grow our revenue glyieind becom
profitable will be harmed.

Our business depends substantially on customersereing, upgrading and expanding their subscriptiofar our services. Any decline in o
customer renewals, upgrades and expansions woulthhaur future operating results.

We sell our application suite pursuant to servigeeaments that are generally one year in length.cGstomers have no obligation to
renew their subscriptions after their subscripgieniod expires, and these subscriptions may noémewed at the same or higher levels.
Moreover, under specific circumstances, our custerhave the right to cancel their service agreesieatore they expire. In addition, in the
first year of a subscription, customers often paseha higher level of professional services thay tio in renewal years. As a result, our ab
to grow is dependent in part on customers purcleadilitional subscriptions and modules after trst fiear of their subscriptions. We have
limited historical data with respect to rates o$toumer subscription renewals, upgrades and expasmwe may not accurately predict future
trends in customer renewals. Our customers’ reneates may decline or fluctuate because of se¥aectdrs, including their satisfaction or
dissatisfaction with our services, the prices af services, the prices of services offered by augetitors or reductions in our customers’
spending levels due to the macroeconomic envirotnmeother factors. If our customers do not reneirtsubscriptions for our services,
renew on less favorable terms, or do not purchdd#ianal functionality or subscriptions, our rewenmay grow more slowly than expected or
decline and our profitability and gross margin nbayharmed.

Our services are delivered primarily out of a siegllata center. Any disruption of service at thisiiity could interrupt or delay our ability to
deliver our service to our customers.

We host our services and serve our customers ghinfieem a third-party data center facility with SIS located in California. We do
not control the operation of this facility. Thiscflity is vulnerable to damage or interruption frearthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, terrorist
attacks, power losses, telecommunications failanessimilar events. Our data facility is locateéimarea known for seismic activity,
increasing our susceptibility to the risk that antlequake could significantly harm the operatiohths facility. It also could be subject to
break-ins, computer viruses, sabotage, intentiac of vandalism and other misconduct.

The occurrence of a natural disaster or an aarofitism, a decision to close the facilities withadequate notice or other unanticipated
problems could result in lengthy interruptions ur gervices. We currently operate and maintainfesite facility for customers who
specifically pay for accelerated disaster recowemyices. For customers who do not pay for suchices, although we maintain tape backups
of their data, we do not operate or maintain aIsgpalisaster recovery facility, which may incredskays in the restoration of our service for
those customers.

Our data center facility provider has no obligatiomenew its agreement with us on commerciallgoeable terms, or at all. If we are
unable to renew our agreement with the facilityyier on commercially reasonable terms or if infiltere we add additional data center
facility providers, we may experience costs or dma in connection with the transfer to, or theitidd of, a new data center facility.

Any errors, defects, disruptions or other perforogaproblems with our services could harm our refariaand may damage our
customers’ businesses. Interruptions in our sesvigight reduce our revenue, cause us to issuetediustomers, subject us to potential
liability, cause customers to terminate their supsions and harm our renewal rates.
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We may become liable to our customers and loseamstrs if we have defects or disruptions in our deevor if we provide poor service.

Because we deliver our application suite as a seperrors or defects in the software applicatiomderlying our service, or a failure of
our hosting infrastructure, may make our servicavailable to our customers. Since our customer®ussuite to manage critical aspects of
their business, any errors, defects, disruptiorsemice or other performance problems with outesuvhether in connection with the day-to-
day operation of our suite, upgrades or othervziea|ld damage our customers’ businesses. If we &ayerrors, defects, disruptions in service
or other performance problems with our suite, ougis could elect not to renew, or delay or withimdgment to us, we could lose future sales
or customers may make warranty claims againstassiply resulting in an increase in our provisiondoubtful accounts, an increase in
collection cycles for accounts receivable or coltigation.

The market for on-demand applications may developreslowly than we expect.

Our success will depend, to a large extent, omilimgness of medium-sized businesses to acceftesnand services for applications
that they view as critical to the success of thesiness. Many companies have invested substaffiet and financial resources to integrate
traditional enterprise software into their busimssand may be reluctant or unwilling to switch wifferent application or to migrate these
applications to on-demand services. Other factmtsrmay affect market acceptance of our applicdtiolude:

. the security capabilities, reliability and availiiof on-demand service:

. customer concerns with entrusting a third partgttwe and manage their data, especially confidemtisensitive date
. our ability to minimize the time and resources iggfito implement our suit

. our ability to maintain high levels of customerisfaction;

. our ability to implement upgrades and other chaigesur software without disrupting our servi

. the level of customization or configuration we of

. our ability to provide rapid response time durirgipds of intense activity on customer websites!,

. the price, performance and availability of compgfmoducts and service

The market for these services may not develop éuritr may develop more slowly than we expecteeitf which would harm our
business.

If our security measures are breached and unauthmad access is obtained to a custo’s data, we may incur significant liabilities, our
service may be perceived as not being secure arstiorners may curtail or stop using our sui

The services we offer involve the storage of laag®unts of our customers’ sensitive and proprieitafigrmation. If our security
measures are breached as a result of third-paignaemployee error, malfeasance or otherwise,smngeone obtains unauthorized access to
our customerstlata, we could incur significant liability to ounstomers and to individuals or businesses whosenrgtion was being stored
our customers, our business may suffer and outadpn will be damaged. Because techniques usebtein unauthorized access to, or to
sabotage, systems change frequently and generallyoh recognized until launched against a tasgetmay be unable to anticipate these
techniques or to implement adequate preventive anegslf an actual or perceived breach of our sgcaccurs, the market perception of the
effectiveness of our security measures could bmédrand we could lose sales and customers. Suattaal or perceived breach could also
cause a significant and rapid decline in our stuige.
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We provide service level commitments to our custsnehich could cause us to issue credits for futuservices if the stated service levels
are not met for a given period and could significéynharm our revenue.

Our customer agreements provide service level comenits. If we are unable to meet the stated setsied commitments or suffer
extended periods of unavailability for our serviee, may be contractually obligated to provide thasstomers with credits for future services.
Our revenue could be significantly impacted if wéfar unscheduled downtime that exceeds the allodeeentimes under our agreements with
our customers. In light of our historical experienth meeting our service level commitments, wendbcurrently have any reserves on our
balance sheet for these commitments. Our serwat t®mmitment to all customers is 99.5% uptime gaiod, excluding scheduled
maintenance. The failure to meet this level of meravailability may require us to credit qualifgicustomers for the value of an entire month
of their subscription fees, not just the valueha subscription fee for the period of the downtirke a result, a failure to deliver services for a
relatively short duration could cause us to issiesé credits to all qualifying customers. Any eghservice outages could harm our
reputation, revenue and operating results.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periodisve fail to manage our growth effectively, we mmae unable to execute our business
plan, maintain high levels of service or addressmgetitive challenges adequate

We have increased our annual revenue from $17libmduring the year ended December 31, 2004 t&$laillion during the year
ended December 31, 2009. We have increased oureruwhkull-time employees from 296 at December&104 to 968 at December 31, 2009.

Our expansion has placed, and our anticipated gravaty continue to place, a significant strain onrmanagerial, administrative,
operational, financial and other resources. Wenmt® further expand our overall business, custdmee, headcount and operations. We also
intend to continue expanding our operations intéonally. Creating a global organization and mangg geographically dispersed workforce
will require substantial management effort and i§icgnt additional investment in our infrastructue will be required to continue to imprc
our operational, financial and management conants our reporting procedures and we may not betalde so effectively. As such, we may
be unable to manage our expenses effectively ifutiiee, which may negatively impact our gross nragy operating expenses in any
particular quarter.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate in ¢hfuture. As a result, we may fail to meet or exdeke expectations of research analyst:
investors, possibly causing our stock price to deel

Our quarterly and annual operating results maytdlate as a result of a variety of factors, manwlith are outside of our control. A
decline in general macroeconomic conditions codlekasely affect our customers’ ability or willingggeto purchase our application suite,
possibly adversely affecting our operating resoittfinancial outlook. Fluctuations in our quartedyerating annual results or financial outlook
may also be due to a number of additional faciaduding the risks and uncertainties discusseevgtere in this Annual Report.

Fluctuations in our operating results could causestock price to decline rapidly, may lead analystchange their long-term model for
valuing our common stock, may impact our abilityétain or attract key personnel, or cause othanticipated issues. If our operating results
or financial outlook fall below the expectationsre§earch analysts or investors, the price of oomoon stock could decline substantially.

We believe that our revenue and operating resudtg vary significantly in the future and that peridperiod comparisons of our
operating results may not be meaningful. You shaowaldrely on the results of one quarter as an atibo of future performance.
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Our limited operating history makes it difficult tevaluate our current business and future prospe@&sd may increase the risk of your
investment.

Our company has been in existence since 1998, aeti of our growth has occurred since 2004, withreuenue increasing from
$17.7 million during the year ended December 30420 $166.5 million during the year ended Decen®3igr2009. Our limited operating
history may make it difficult to evaluate our curtédusiness and our future prospects. We have ate@d and will continue to encounter ri
and difficulties frequently experienced by growitmmpanies in rapidly changing industries. If wendd address these risks successfully, our
business may be harmed.

The markets where we participate is intensely cotitpe, and if we do not compete effectively, oyrevating results may be harmed.

The markets for ERP, CRM and Ecommerce applicatwasntensely competitive and rapidly changinchwélatively low barriers to
entry. With the introduction of new technologieslanarket entrants, we expect competition to infgrisithe future. In addition, pricing
pressures and increased competition generally gesldt in reduced sales, reduced margin or theréaof our service to achieve or maintain
more widespread market acceptance. Often we contpatd| our application suite against existingtsgss that our potential customers have
already made significant expenditures to instadimPetition in our market is based principally uganvice breadth and functionality; service
performance, security and reliability; ability t@ilor and customize services for a specific compaeytical or industry; ease of use of the
service; speed and ease of deployment, integratidrconfiguration; total cost of ownership, inchglprice and implementation and support
costs; professional services implementation; amanitial resources of the vendor.

We face competition from both traditional softwaemdors and SaaS providers. Our principal compstiteclude Epicor Software
Corporation, Intuit Inc., Microsoft Corporation, 8AThe Sage Group plc and salesforce.com, inc. M&oyr actual and potential competitors
enjoy substantial competitive advantages overutd) 8s greater name recognition, longer operaistgries, more varied products and serv
and larger marketing budgets, as well as substymgigeater financial, technical and other resoarde addition, many of our competitors have
established marketing relationships and accessdgel customer bases, and have major distributiomements with consultants, system
integrators and resellers. If we are not able tomete effectively, our operating results will berhad.

Our brand name and our business may be harmed bgragsive marketing strategies of our competitors.

Because of the early stage of development of oukets, we believe that building and maintainingrisraecognition and customer
goodwill is critical to our success. Our effortstliis area have, on occasion, been complicatetiéoynarketing efforts of our competitors,
including potentially incomplete, inaccurate anl$ésstatements about our company and our senhe¢sdould harm our business. Our ability
to respond to our competitors’ misleading markegffgrts may be limited under certain circumstanmgsegal prohibitions on permissible
public communications by us as a public company.

Many of our customers are price sensitive, andhiétprices we charge for our services are unaccefgdb our customers, our operatin
results will be harmed.

Many of our customers are price sensitive, and awee Himited experience with respect to determintrggappropriate prices for our
services. As the market for our services matuneasmew competitors introduce new products orisesthat compete with ours, we may be
unable to renew our agreements with existing custsrar attract new customers at the same pricas#don the same pricing model as
previously used. As a result, it is possible tlmhpetitive dynamics in our market may require ushtange our pricing model or reduce our
prices, which could harm our revenue, gross maagthoperating results.
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If we are unable to develop new services or sell services into new markets, our revenue growthlwi harmed and we may not be able
achieve profitability.

Our ability to attract new customers and increasemue from existing customers will depend in Igsget on our ability to enhance and
improve our existing application suite and to idmoe new services and sell into new markets. Theess of any enhancement or new service
depends on several factors, including the timemmetion, introduction and market acceptance ofethigancement or service. Any new ser
we develop or acquire may not be introduced imely or cost-effective manner and may not achibeebroad market acceptance necessary tc
generate significant revenue. Any new marketswtiah we attempt to sell our application, includimgw vertical markets and new countries
or regions, may not be receptive. If we are unébkuccessfully develop or acquire new servicesaeoe our existing services to meet
customer requirements or sell our services into markets, our revenue will not grow as expectedwadnay not be able to achieve
profitability.

Because we are a global organization and our l-term success depends, in part, on our ability ipend the sales of our services to
customers located outside of the United States, business is susceptible to risks associated withrnational sales and operations.

We currently maintain offices outside of the Uni&tétes and have sales personnel or independestultaimts in several countries.
Approximately one quarter of our employees aretletén an office in the Philippines. We have lirditexperience operating in foreign
jurisdictions and are rapidly building our interioatal operations. Managing a global organizatiodifSicult, time consuming and expensi
Our inexperience in operating our business outsidbe United States increases the risk that atgynational expansion efforts that we may
undertake will not be successful. In addition, agetthg international operations subjects us to risks that we have not generally faced in the
United States. These risks include:

. localization of our services, including translatiato foreign languages and adaptation for locatpces and regulatory
requirements

. lack of familiarity with and unexpected changes$dreign regulatory requirement

. longer accounts receivable payment cycles andcdlffes in collecting accounts receivak
. difficulties in managing and staffing internatiorgderations

. fluctuations in currency exchange rat

. potentially adverse tax consequences, includingdmeplexities of foreign value added tax systentsrastrictions on the
repatriation of earning:

. dependence on certain third parties, including nebpartners with whom we do not have extensiveeggpce,;
. the burdens of complying with a wide variety ofdign laws and legal standar:

. increased financial accounting and reporting busderd complexities

. political, social and economic instability abro&etrorist attacks and security concerns in general

. reduced or varied protection for intellectual pndpeights in some countrie

Operating in international markets also requirgsificant management attention and financial resesir The investment and additional
resources required to establish operations and geagr@wth in other countries may not produce dddeeels of revenue or profitability.

We rely on third-party software, including Oracleathbase software, that may be difficult to replamecould cause errors or failures of our
service that could lead to lost customers or hamrour reputation.

We rely on software licensed from third partiestfer our service, including database software f@racle. This software may not
continue to be available to us on commercially oeasle terms, or at all. Any
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loss of the right to use any of this software caglsllt in delays in the provisioning of our seevimtil equivalent technology is either
developed by us, or, if available, is identifiebtained and integrated, harming our business. Aroreor defects in third-party software could
result in errors or a failure of our service alspemtially harming our business.

Assertions by a third party that we infringe itstigllectual property, whether successful or not, ¢dsubject us to costly and tir-consuming
litigation or expensive licenses.

The software and technology industries are chaiaettby the existence of a large number of pateotsyrights, trademarks and trade
secrets and by frequent litigation based on aliegatof infringement or other violations of inteltaal property rights. As we face increasing
competition, the possibility of intellectual properights claims against us may grow. Our technig@egnay not be able to withstand any third-
party claims or rights against their use. Additibnalthough we have licensed from other partiesppietary technology covered by patents
cannot be certain that any such patents will nathadlenged, invalidated or circumvented. Furtheenmany of our service agreements rec
us to indemnify our customers for certain thirdtpantellectual property infringement claims, inaséng our costs as a result of defending such
claims and may require that we pay damages if tvere an adverse ruling related to any such clalthsse types of claims could harm our
relationships with our customers, may deter futwstomers from subscribing to our services or cedjabse us to litigation for these claims.
Even if we are not a party to any litigation betweecustomer and a third party, an adverse outéer@aey such litigation could make it more
difficult for us to defend our intellectual propgith any subsequent litigation in which we are mad party.

Any intellectual property rights claim against uoar customers, with or without merit, could bméiconsuming, expensive to litigate or
settle and could divert management attention amahfiial resources. An adverse determination alsttigevent us from offering our suite to
our customers and may require that we procure weldp substitute services that do not infringe.

For any intellectual property rights claim agaiastor our customers, we may have to pay damagaspusing technology found to be
violation of a third party’s rights. We may havestek a license for the technology and such liceiseh may not be available on reasonable
terms, if at all, may significantly increase oueogting expenses or may require us to restricbagimess activities in one or more respects. As
a result, we may also be required to develop ater@ non-infringing technology, which could requgignificant effort and expense.

Our success depends in large part on our abilityptmtect and enforce our intellectual property riggh

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, gmark, trademark and trade secret laws, asasatbnfidentiality procedures and
contractual restrictions, to establish and proteectproprietary rights, all of which provide onlynited protection. We cannot assure you that
any patents will issue from our currently pendirgemt applications in a manner that gives us theeption that we seek, if at all, or that any
future patents issued to us will not be challendgmdilidated or circumvented. We do not have asyésl patents and currently have eight p
applications pending. Any patents that may issubérfuture from pending or future patent appliwasi may not provide sufficiently broad
protection or they may not prove to be enforceabbctions against alleged infringers. Also, wergarassure you that any future service mark
or trademark registrations will be issued for pegddr future applications or that any registeradise marks or trademarks will be enforcee
or provide adequate protection of our proprietégits.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our eyegl® and contractors and agreements with partibswhiom we do business to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary infdiona The steps we have taken, however, may neeptaunauthorized use or the reverse
engineering of our technology. Moreover, others mmagpendently develop technologies that are coitiygeto ours or infringe our intellectu
property. Enforcement of our intellectual propeaights also depends on our successful legal acigamst these infringers, but these actions
may not be successful, even when our rights hage rdringed.
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Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, servieekmncopyright and trade secret protection maybeoavailable in every country in
which our services are available. In addition, lédgal standards relating to the validity, enfordktgland scope of protection of intellectual
property rights in Internet-related industries aneertain and still evolving.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internaontrols, our ability to produce accurate and taty financial statements could k
impaired and investors’ views of us could be harmed

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financidlaccounting controls and procedures in placéaowe can produce accurate
financial statements on a timely basis is a castly time-consuming effort that needs to be re-atatifrequently. Our internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to pevehsonable assurance regarding the reliabilifinahcial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generalbepted accounting principles. Although we have eted the process of documenting,
reviewing and improving our internal controls andgedures for compliance with Section 404 of theb&aes-Oxley Act of 2002, there can be
no assurances that control deficiencies will noideatified in the future.

Implementing any additional required changes toiot@rnal controls may distract our officers andpésgees, entail substantial costs to
modify our existing processes and add personnetal@significant time to complete. These changeg not, however, be effective in
maintaining the adequacy of our internal contrAlsy failure to maintain that adequacy, or consegjirability to produce accurate financial
statements on a timely basis, could increase osratipg costs and harm our business. In additiorestors’ perceptions that our internal
controls are inadequate or that we are unableddyme accurate financial statements on a timelislmagy harm our stock price and make it
more difficult for us to effectively market and lselir service to new and existing customers.

Because we recognize subscription revenue overténe of the applicable agreement, the lack of sutigtion renewals or new servic
agreements may not be reflected immediately in operating results.

The majority of our quarterly revenue is attribu¢ato service agreements entered into during ptsvipiarters. A decline in new or
renewed service agreements in any one quartenatilbe fully reflected in our revenue in that geatiut will harm our revenue in future
guarters. As a result, the effect of significamivdturns in sales and market acceptance of ourcgwn a particular quarter may not be fully
reflected in our operating results until futureipds. Our subscription model also makes it diffidat us to rapidly increase our revenue
through additional sales in any period, becauserma® from new customers must be recognized oveppkcable subscription term.

Material defects or errors in the software we usedeliver our services could harm our reputatioresult in significant costs to us and imp:
our ability to sell our services.

The software applications underlying our serviaesiaherently complex and may contain material desfer errors, particularly when
first introduced or when new versions or enhancemare released. We have from time to time fourddade in our service, and new errors in
our existing service may be detected in the futdre: defects that cause interruptions to the atdits of our services could result in:

. a reduction in sales or delay in market acceptahoer services

. sales credits or refunds to our custom

. loss of existing customers and difficulty in attiag new customers
. diversion of development resourc

. harm to our reputation; ar

. increased warranty and insurance cc
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After the release of our services, defects or emoay also be identified from time to time by cuternal team and by our customers. The
costs incurred in correcting any material defectsroors in our services may be substantial andtddearm our operating results.

Government regulation of the Internet and Ecommeriseevolving, and unfavorable changes or our faikito comply with regulations could
harm our operating results.

As Internet commerce continues to evolve, incrgasigulation by federal, state or foreign agenbesomes more likely. For example,
we believe increased regulation is likely in theaaof data privacy, and laws and regulations apgl{o the solicitation, collection, processing
or use of personal or consumer information couldcafour customersibility to use and share data, potentially redudiemand for ERP, CR
and Ecommerce solutions and restricting our abiditgtore, process and share our customers’ dataldition, taxation of services provided
over the Internet or other charges imposed by gowent agencies or by private organizations for ssiog the Internet may also be imposed.
Any regulation imposing greater fees for Interng or restricting information exchange over thermét could result in a decline in the use of
the Internet and the viability of Internet-basetv/gees, harming our business and operating results.

Privacy concerns and laws or other domestic or figreregulations may reduce the effectiveness of ayplication suite and harm ou
business.

Our customers can use our service to store persomdéntifying information regarding their custors@nd contacts. Federal, state and
foreign government bodies and agencies, howeveg adopted or are considering adopting laws andlaggns regarding the collection, use
and disclosure of personal information obtainednfiTonsumers and other individuals. The costs ofpdiamce with, and other burdens impo
by, such laws and regulations that are applicabtee businesses of our customers may limit theanseadoption of our service and reduce
overall demand for it.

In addition to government activity, privacy advogaroups and the technology and other industriesansidering various new,
additional or different self-regulatory standardattmay place additional burdens on us. If theeyatly of personal information were to be
curtailed, ERP, CRM and Ecommerce solutions woeldeks effective likely reducing demand for ouwvges and harm our business.

Changes in financial accounting standards or pracéis may cause adverse, unexpected financial repgrfiuctuations and harm our
operating results.

A change in accounting standards or practices doaith our operating results and may even affecteporting of transactions
completed before the change is effective. New authog pronouncements and varying interpretationsoabunting pronouncements have
occurred and may occur in the future. Changesisiieg rules or the questioning of current practiogay harm our operating results or the
we conduct our business.

Unanticipated changes in our effective tax rate ddiharm our future operating results.

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statelsvarious foreign jurisdictions, and our doneatid international tax liabilities are
subject to the allocation of expenses in diffefjungsdictions. Our tax rate is affected by chanigethe mix of earnings and losses in countries
with differing statutory tax rates, certain non-detible expenses arising from the requirement fzeage stock options and the valuation of
deferred tax assets and liabilities, including akbitity to utilize our net operating losses. In@esin our effective tax rate could harm our
operating results.
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We may be unable to integrate acquired businessas technologies successfully or to achieve the etpd benefits of such acquisitions. v
may acquire or invest in additional companies, poti@lly diverting our management’s attention, reduh additional dilution to our
stockholders and consume resources that are neagsasustain our busines:

We have undertaken acquisitions in the past andaoaginue to evaluate and consider potential sifatieansactions, including
acquisitions and dispositions of businesses, tdolgies, services, products and other assets ifuthee. An acquisition, investment or busin
relationship may result in unforeseen operatinfiaditties and expenditures. In particular, we magaunter difficulties assimilating or
integrating the businesses, technologies, prodpetspnnel or operations of the acquired compapgsicularly if the key personnel of the
acquired company choose not to work for us, thepamg’'s software is not easily adapted to work weitins or we have difficulty retaining the
customers of any acquired business due to changeanagement or otherwise. Acquisitions may alsougt our business, divert our resoul
and require significant management attention tratldotherwise be available for development of lmusiness. Moreover, the anticipated
benefits of any acquisition, investment or businme&stionship may not be realized or we may be sgddo unknown liabilities.

We may in the future seek to acquire or investdditonal businesses, products, technologies arathsets. We also may enter into
relationships with other businesses to expand ewice offerings or our ability to provide serviceforeign jurisdictions, potentially involving
preferred or exclusive licenses, additional chasnéHistribution, discount pricing or investmemsther companies. Negotiating these
transactions can be time-consuming, difficult arplemsive, and our ability to close these transastimay often be subject to approvals that are
beyond our control. Consequently, these transagtiewen if undertaken and announced, may not diageone or more of those transactions,
we may:

. issue additional equity securities that would @ilatir stockholder
. use cash that we may need in the future to operatbusiness

. incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that veeuerable to repa
. incur large charges or substantial liabiliti

. encounter difficulties retaining key employeesha aicquired company or integrating diverse softwardes or business cultures;
and

. become subject to adverse tax consequences, stidlstipreciation or deferred compensation chat

Any of these risks could harm our business andaijpey results.

We rely on our management team and need additiopaisonnel to grow our business, and the loss of onenore key employees or our
inability to attract and retain qualified personnelould harm our business.

Our success and future growth depends to a signifidegree on the skills and continued servicemiomanagement team, especially
Zachary Nelson, our President and Chief Executiffe€, and Evan M. Goldberg, our Chief Technoldgfficer and Chairman of the Board.
We do not maintain key man insurance on any mentfayar management team, including Messrs. Nelsah@oldberg. Our future success
also depends on our ability to attract, retain mradivate highly skilled technical, managerial, sal@arketing and service and support
personnel, including members of our management.t€ampetition for sales, marketing and technologyedopment personnel is particularly
intense in the software and technology industéasa result, we may be unable to successfullyttaretain qualified personnel. Our inabi
to attract and retain the necessary personnel ¢l our business.
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Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock

Lawrence J. Ellison or members of his family, andlated entities, beneficially own a majority of ooutstanding shares of common stoc
which may limit your ability to influence or contrdocertain of our corporate actions. This concentiah of ownership may also reduce the
market price of our common stock and impair a takew attempt of us.

Entities beneficially owned by Lawrence J. Ellidweld an aggregate of approximately 51.6% of ourroomstock as of December 31,
2009. Further, Mr. Ellison, his family members stsifor their benefit, and related entities togetieneficially owned an aggregate of
approximately 62.5% of our common stock as of ttaé. Mr. Ellison is able to exercise control ogpproval of significant corporate
transactions, including a change of control oritigtion. In addition, if the voting restrictionsathapply to NetSuite Restricted Holdings LLC,
the investment entity to which Mr. Ellison has s#erred his shares, lapse or are amended, MroRliisll be able to exercise control over
additional corporate matters, including electiohsur directors. So long as Mr. Ellison continuese either an officer or director of Oracle,
these voting restrictions cannot be changed withweiipproval of an independent committee of Oradleard of directors. Mr. Ellison’s
interests and investment objectives may differ fium other stockholders. Mr. Ellison is also thaeElkxecutive Officer, a principal
stockholder and a director of Oracle Corporatioradlz supplies us with database software on whiehely to provide our service and is als
potential competitor of ours.

Our Board of Directors adopted resolutions whialotence and provide for a waiver of the corporateoofunity doctrine as it relates to
Mr. Ellison. As a result, Mr. Ellison will have rfmuciary duty to present corporate opportuniti@si$. In addition, Mr. Ellison’s indirect
majority interest in us could discourage poterdiauirers or result in a delay or prevention oharge in control of our company or other
significant corporate transactions, even if a taation of that sort would be beneficial to our athckholders or in our best interest.

We are a “controlled companyivithin the meaning of the rules of the New York $toExchange and, as a result, will qualify for exguions
from certain corporate governance requiremen

Because a majority of our common stock is held bingle stockholder, we qualify for exemptions froertain corporate governance
standards. Under the rules of the New York Stockharge, a company of which more than 50% of thenggiower is held by a single person
or a group of persons is a “controlled company” aray elect not to comply with certain corporate gmance requirements, including (1) the
requirement that a majority of the Board of Direstoonsist of independent directors, (2) the regmént that the compensation of officers be
determined, or recommended to the Board of Dirsdimr determination, by a majority of the indepemtdgirectors or a compensation
committee comprised solely of independent direcamids (3) the requirement that director nomineesdbected, or recommended for the Board
of Directors’ selection, by a majority of the inadglent directors or a nominating committee comgrgsely of independent directors with a
written charter or board resolution addressingni@ination process.

Our failure to raise additional capital or generatihe cash flows necessary to expand our operatiand invest in our application services
could reduce our ability to compete successfully.

We may need to raise additional funds, and we noaye able to obtain additional debt or equity ficiag on favorable terms, if at all. If
we raise additional equity financing, our stocklesidmay experience significant dilution of theirr@aship interests and the per share value of
our common stock could decline. If we engage int fiebncing, we may be required to accept termsrbstrict our ability to incur additional
indebtedness and force us to maintain specifieddity or other ratios. If we need additional cap&nd cannot raise it on acceptable terms, we
may not be able to, among other things:

. develop or enhance our application and serv
. continue to expand our product development, saldsrarketing organization
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. acquire complementary technologies, products oinksses

. expand operations, in the United States or internally;

. hire, train and retain employees;

. respond to competitive pressures or unanticipatdkiwg capital requirement

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders ktbcause our stock price to decline.

If our existing stockholders sell or otherwise disp of, or indicate an intention to sell or dispo§esubstantial amounts of our common
stock in the public market, the trading price of oammon stock could decline. As of December 3D920ve had a total of 62.9 million shares
of our common stock outstanding. Although shares @ne held by NetSuite Restricted Holdings LLCsarkject to certain restrictions on
disposition and a portion of the remaining sharessabject to our Insider Trading Compliance Potiaying certain periods of each quarter,
substantially all of the shares held by partiegothan NetSuite Restricted Holdings LLC, repreisgnd8.4% of our outstanding shares as of
December 31, 2009, are freely tradable, subjectitaquarterly black-out periods that apply to skdreld by our directors, officers, employees
and consultants. If a significant number of thds@ras are sold, or if it is perceived that they i sold, in the public market, the trading price
of our common stock could decline.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our amended amrdtated certificate of incorporation and amendeddarestated bylaws, as well as
provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeovattempt.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamaimended and restated bylaws and Delaware lataiogrovisions that could have
the effect of rendering more difficult or discouiragyan acquisition deemed undesirable by our Bo&mirectors. Our corporate governance
documents include provisions:

. authorizing blank check preferred stock, which ddu issued with voting, liquidation, dividend asttier rights superior to our
common stock

. limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and officel
. limiting the ability of our stockholders to call@bring business before special meetings and ®dation by written consent in lieu
of a meeting

. requiring advance notice of stockholder proposaidtisiness to be conducted at meetings of oukistdders and for nominatior
of candidates for election to our Board of Direstt

. controlling the procedures for the conduct and dalieg of board and stockholder meetin

. providing the Board of Directors with the expressvpr to postpone previously scheduled annual mge#and to cancel previous
scheduled special meeting

. limiting the determination of the number of direst@n our board and the filling of vacancies or lyesveated seats on the board to
our board of directors then in office; a

. providing that directors may be removed by stoctbd only for caust
These provisions, alone or together, could delafileatakeovers and changes in control or changesiii management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdwipions of Delaware law, including Section 203té Delaware General Corporation
law, which prevents some stockholders holding ntibae 15% of our outstanding common stock from emgpin certain business
combinations without approval of the holders ofstahtially all of our outstanding common stock. En8ection 203, our majority stockholc
which is beneficially owned by Lawrence J. Ellisand our current stockholders associated with mesndfeMr. Ellison’s family are not
subject to the prohibition from engaging in suckibhass combinations.
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Any provision of our amended and restated certificd incorporation or bylaws or Delaware law thas the effect of delaying or
deterring a change in control could limit the ogpaoity for our stockholders to receive a premiumtfeeir shares of our common stock, and
could also affect the price that some investorsadlteng to pay for our common stock.

Iltem 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

ltem 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in San M&alifornia and comprise approximately 93,000 sgdaet of space leased through
2012. Our largest international office is in Tomn€anada and comprises 55,000 square feet of dpaaedition, we maintain offices in
Denver, Australia, Hong Kong, Japan, the Philippjrig&ingapore and the United Kingdom.

We believe that our existing properties are in gooddition and are suitable for the conduct of lmuginess. As our existing leases expire
and as we continue to expand our operations, wevaethat suitable space will be available to ugs@mmercially reasonable terms.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in various legedceedings arising from the normal course ofiess activities. We are not presently
a party to any litigation the outcome of which, badieve, if determined adversely to us, would idially or in the aggregate have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating resuftaancial condition.

Item 4. Reserved
None.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock has been quoted on the New YargékIExchange under the symbol “N”. The followingl&sets forth for the
indicated periods the high and low sales pricesunfcommon stock as reported by the New York Steaathange.

For the quarters ended High Low
2009:

December 31, 200 $17.0C $13.6(
September 30, 20( 15.8( 10.1¢
June 30, 200 14.3¢ 9.9¢
March 31, 200¢ 12.27 6.7¢4
2008:

December 31, 200 $18.0z $ 5.42
September 30, 20( 20.5C 15.0¢
June 30, 200 24.3¢ 17.3¢
March 31, 200¢ 40.3¢ 18.31

We have never paid any cash dividends on our constaamk. Our Board of Directors currently intendsetain any future earnings to
support operations and to finance the growth aneldpment of our business and does not intendyapsh dividends on our common stock
for the foreseeable future. Any future determinatielated to our dividend policy will be made at thiscretion of our board.

As of December 31, 2009, there were 228 registst@zkholders of record of our common stock.
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The graph set forth below compares the cumulatited stockholder return on our common stock betwi2ecember 20, 2007 (the date of
our initial public offering) and December 31, 2008th the cumulative total return of (i) the Nasdagmposite Index and (ii) the Nasdaq
Computer Index, over the same period. This grapbrass the investment of $100 on December 20, 206dricommon stock, the Nasdaq
Composite Index and the Nasdaq Computer Indexaasdmes the reinvestment of dividends, if any.graph assumes the initial value of our
common stock on December 20, 2007 was the IPO pfi$26.00 per share.

160
£140
$120
$100
580 — et
560 s
£40 2 —i— MNetSuite
s20 Masdag Composite Index
S0 —e— Masdag Computer Index
December 2C December 31 December 31 December 31
2007 2007 2008 2009
NetSuite $ 10C $ 151 $ 32 $ 61
Nasdaq Composite Ind¢ $ 10C $ 10C $ 60 $ 86
Nasdaqg Computer Inde $ 10C $ 101 $ 54 $ 92

The comparisons shown in the graph are based uptoribal data. We caution that the stock pricéqrenance shown in the graph bel
is not necessarily indicative of, nor is it intedde forecast, the potential future performancewfcommon stock.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read in conjunction with our audited ofidated financial statements and
related notes thereto and with Management’s Disonssd Analysis of Financial Condition and Resoft©perations included elsewhere in
this Annual Report. The consolidated statementpefations data for the years ended December 37, 2008 and 2009 and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@088,and 2009 are derived from, and are qualifieteEerence to, the audited consolidated
financial statements included in this Annual Rep®dhte consolidated statement of operations datthéoyears ended December 31, 2005 and
2006 and the consolidated balance sheet datalsosimber 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 are derived fraiited consolidated financial
statements which are not included in this Annugidre

Years ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per shasmounts)

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations [2e

Revenue $ 36,35¢ $ 67,20 $108,54: $152,47¢ $166,54(
Cost of revenue (1 15,60’ 22,99: 33,76¢ 48,58: 56,10¢
Gross profil 20,74¢ 44,20¢ 74,77" 103,89 110,43!
Operating expense
Product development (. 24,78( 20,69( 23,70 21,51¢ 28,571
Sales and marketing ( 39,17¢ 43,89: 57,93: 76,94 76,16
General and administrative ( 13,68¢ 14,61¢ 16,72( 23,80¢ 29,21¢
77,64« 79,20 98,35¢ 122,26! 133,95
Operating los! (56,89 (34,99 (23,580 (18,369 (23,52
Other income / (expenses), net, net loss attrilbeitab
noncontrolling interest and income ta (769) (730) (32€) 2,50¢ 21¢
Net loss attributable to NetSuite Inc. common shoddters $(57,664)  $(35,727)  $(23,906)  $(15,8649)  $(23,309
Net loss per NetSuite Inc. common sh $(2799) $ 642 $ (245 $ (020 $ (0.39)
Weighted average number of shares used in compuginkpss pe
common shar 2,06( 5,567 9,774 60,38¢ 61,94.
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expensertization of intangible assets and transactisisctor business combinations as
follows:
Years ended December 3:
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Cost of revenu $ — $ 19 $ 1,70% $ 2,98¢ $ 5,28¢
Product developmel 14,14¢ 8,88t 10,37¢ 3,62¢ 6,641
Sales and marketir — 75 2,54( 3,37t 7,07¢
General and administrati\ 8,32:¢ 6,32¢ 3,60¢ 3,38¢ 7,67
Total stock-based compensation expense, amortizafio
intangible assets and transaction costs for busines
combinations $ 22,46¢ $ 15,30¢ $ 18,22« $ 13,37¢ $ 26,68t

In January 2009, the Company adopted provisiong@ent of Financial Accounting Standards 141(RBusiness Combinatiorisof
(FASB ASC topic 805) which requires transactiontsdar business combinations to be recorded agwcuperiod expenses. In prior years, ¢
costs were included as part of the consideratidh foa the acquisition.
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In January 2006, the Company adopted the fair viadoegnition provisions of Statement of Financiatdunting Standards 123(R), “
Share Based Paymentihcluded in FASB ASC topic 718) using the prospectransition method.

December 31
2005

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet De
Cash and cash equivalel $ 1,657
Working capital, excluding deferred rever 13,61¢
Total asset 35,17¢
Deferred revenu 50,85
Long-term debt (includes current portic —
Convertible preferred stoc 125,65
Equity (162,647)

30

December 31

2006

$ 9,91
20,50
48,05:
71,76¢

125,65
(175,32)

December 31 December 31 December 31

2007 2008 2009

(Dollars thousands)

$ 169,40¢ $ 123,63¢ $ 96,35¢
178,00: 140,18« 116,20(
218,77 210,33¢ 202,22
76,98¢ 73,87: 72,72
3,944 2,58¢ 1,14z
112,41( 109,38 104,70°
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ITEM 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwabking statementsthat involve risks and uncertainties, as well aswaptions tha
if they never materialize or prove incorrect, coultlise our results to differ materially from th@sgressed or implied by such forwdodking
statements. Such forward-looking statements inclueexpectation of earnings, revenues or otharfaial items; any statements of the plans,
strategies and objectives of management for fubperations; factors that may affect our operatimgults; statements concerning new
products or services; statements related to futagital expenditures; statements related to fugrzenomic conditions or performanc
statements as to industry trends and other mattextsdo not relate strictly to historical facts statements of assumptions underlying any ¢
foregoing. These statements are often identifiethbyise of words such “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “esti mate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” or “will,” and similar e xpressions or variations. Such forwalmbking statements are subject to risks, unceries
and other factors that could cause actual resuttd the timing of certain events to differ matesidhom future results expressed or implied by
such forward-looking statements. Factors that cadse or contribute to such differences include dve not limited to those discussed in the
section titled “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A Bart | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, ane tfisks discussed in our other SEC filings.

We urge you to consider these factors carefullgvaluating the forward-looking statements contaimethis Annual Report on Form 10-
K. These statements are based on the beliefs augdions of our management based on informatiorently available to management. T
forward-looking statements included in this Annual Repogtmade only as of the date of this Annual Repofform 10-K. All subsequent
written or oral forward-looking statements attrilalie to our company or persons acting on our behedfexpressly qualified in their entirety
by these cautionary statements. We do not undersakkespecifically disclaim, any obligation to upelany forward-looking statements to
reflect the occurrence of events or circumstandes ¢the date of such statements except as reqbiyddw.

Overview

We provide an on-demand, integrated business mar&gepplication suite that provides AccountindRF. CRM and Ecommerce
functionality to medium-sized businesses and divisiof large companies. We also offer customeraupmd professional services related to
our suite. We deliver our suite over the Interreeaasubscription service using the SaaS model.

In 1999, we released our first application, NetlLerdgvhich focused on accounting applications. W tteleased Ecommerce
functionality in 2000 and CRM and sales force awttiam functionality in 2001. In 2002, we releasen next generation suite under the name
NetSuite to which we have regularly added feataresfunctionality. In 2008, we acquired OpenAir am@009 we acquired QuickArrow, bc
of which offer professional services automation prmject portfolio management products.

Our headquarters are located in San Mateo, Caiiovde were incorporated in California in Septemb@$8 and reincorporated in
Delaware in November 2007. We conduct our busineskiwide, with international locations in Cana@ayrope, Asia and Australia.

Key Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue has grown from $17.7 million during year ended December 31, 2004 to $166.5 millioinduhe year ended
December 31, 2009.

We generate sales directly through our sales tewinta a lesser extent, indirectly through chamaetners. We sell our service to
customers across a broad spectrum of industrieswarhave tailored our service
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for wholesalers/distributors, services companiassoftware companies. The primary target custorieergur service are medium-sized
businesses. An increasing percentage of our cussoamel our revenue have been derived from larganbsses within this market. For the \
ended December 31, 2009, we did not have any stugimmer that accounted for more than 3% of otgmee.

We are pursing a number of strategies that we\eligll provide us with significant prospects faitdire growth. The goals of those
strategic objectives are to continue to move upketato increase the use of NetSuite as a platiorchto extend the verticalization of our
product line. Although we have made progress towarrdgoals in recent periods, there are still mamgas where we believe that we can
continue to grow. To achieve these goals, we aresied on the following initiatives:

. Growth of sales of OneWorld, which supports thedse#f large, star-alone companies and divisions of very large enisepy
. Strengthening our professional services automatsticalization with the acquisition of QuickArrovand
. Developing our SuiteCloud ecosystem to enable idndies to extend our offerings with their vertieapertise

We experience competitive pricing pressure wherpooducts are compared with solutions that addxessrower range of customer
needs or are not fully integrated (for example, nvbempared with Ecommerce or CRM stand-alone swig)i In addition, since we sell
primarily to medium-sized businesses, we also faieng pressure in terms of the more limited fici@hresources or budgetary constraints of
many of our target customers. We do not currentpyeeience significant pricing pressure from compesi that offer a similar on-demand
integrated business management suite.

We sell our application suite pursuant to subsicnipagreements. The duration of these agreemegenisrally one year. Prior to 20086,
the majority of our customers entered into multidyagreements. We believe one year agreementsaaieecustomary in our industry, align
more with customer preferences and provide us avithore predictable sales compensation structurerély/én part on a large percentage of
our customers to renew their agreements to driveemenue growth. Our customers have no obligataenew their subscriptions after the
expiration of their subscription period.

We generally invoice our customers in advance imuahor quarterly installments, and typical payments provide that our clients pay
us within 30 to 60 days of invoice. Amounts thaténheen invoiced where the customer has a legajatldn to pay are recorded in accounts
receivable and deferred revenue. As of Decembe2(®19, we had deferred revenue of $72.7 million.

Backlog was approximately $30.4 million and $36.lliom as of December 31, 2008 and 2009, respelgtiBacklog represents future
billings under our non-cancelable subscription agrents that have not been invoiced and, accordiagiynot recorded as deferred revenue.
We expect that the amount of backlog may change frear-to-year for several reasons, including dettining and duration of large
customer subscription agreements, varying billipges of non-cancelable subscription agreemengssplecific timing of customer renewals,
foreign currency fluctuations, the timing of whembilled deferred revenue is to be recognized asme® and changes in customer financial
circumstances. For multi-year subscription agregmbitied annually, the associated backlog is tglhychigh at the beginning of the contract
period, zero immediately prior to expiration andrgases if the agreement is renewed. Low backlagw@iable to a particular subscription
agreement is typically associated with an impendémgwal and is not an indicator of the likelihaddenewal or future revenue of that
customer. Accordingly, we expect that the amouriiaafklog may change from year-to-year dependimgam upon the number of dollar
amount of subscription agreements in particulagesan their renewal cycle. Such fluctuations areraliable indicators of future revenues.

In most instances, revenue is generated under agteements with multiple elements comprised o$eription fees for access to our
application suite and customer support, and feeprfitfessional services. We
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have determined that we do not have objective aliahie evidence of fair value for each elementwf sale agreements that contain a
subscription to our on-demand application suite e@ugtomer support, and fees for professional sesviés a result, the elements within our
multiple-element sales agreements do not qualifgre@matment as separate units of accounting. Adéeglyl we account for fees received under
multiple-element arrangements as a single unitobanting and recognize the entire arrangemenlsatver the term of the related
agreement, commencing upon the later of the agnetestert date or when all revenue recognition détbave been met.

Our subscription agreements provide service lesgirnitments of 99.5% uptime per period, excludinigesttiled maintenance. The
failure to meet this level of service availabilityay require us to credit qualifying customers ughvalue of an entire month of their
subscription and support fees. In light of ourdrigtal experience with meeting our service levehodtments, we do not currently have any
reserves on our balance sheet for these commitments

The percentage of our revenue generated outsiblerti America was 18% during 2007, 19% during 2888 18% during 2009. As part
of our overall growth, we expect the percentagewfrevenue generated outside of North Americatdioue to increase as we invest in and
enter new markets.

In 2006, the Company and NetSuite KK entered ihtire purchase agreements, development fund agréserehpreferred reseller
agreement with TCI, MJS and Inspire Corporationelated Japanese firms. Pursuant to the Share #&adgreement, those firms acquired a
28% ownership interest in NetSuite KK. Under thren® of the Development Fund Agreement, the Compeaas/required to undertake its best
efforts to provide localization of the Company’sa@@mand application service for the Japanese malgbcess that was completed in 2009.
The Preferred Reseller Agreement provides TCI ad& Mith a three-year right and five-year rightpexgively, to distribute the localized on-
demand application service in the Japanese maiketertain favorable pricing terms. The distrilmmtiagreement with TCI expired during
2009. In conjunction with these agreements, the @zomw and NetSuite KK received $17.0 million fromITi@cluding $1.5 million in prepaid
royalties, $4.1 million from MJS, including $394Mh prepaid royalties and $807,000 from Inspirepgooation. All of the prepaid royalties
had been used or refunded as of December 31, 2009.

In December 2009, the Company purchased TClI's 2@%ecship equity in NetSuite KK for $3.0 million. Bsequent to year end the
Company purchased the remaining ownership equieirsuite KK from MJS and Inspire Corporation fggeegate consideration of $1.4
million in cash.

The Company recognized $2.0 million, $6.1 milliord&2.1 million in revenue related to the distribotagreements in the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively ahteunts allocated to the equity investment in Ne¢SKK were recorded as equity and
noncontrolling interest. The amount allocated tepaiid royalties was recorded as a distributor aclvam current liabilities

See Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statenfents further description of NetSuite KK.

Employees

As of December 31, 2009, our headcount was 968m@raepk including 274 employees in sales and marketsb employees in
operations, professional services, training andocosr support, 135 employees in product developnaemt 104 employees in a general and
administrative capacity. We had 971 employees aebwer 31, 2008 including 314 employees in saldswarketing, 430 employees in
operations, professional services, training andocner support, 118 employees in product developnsent 109 employees in a general and
administrative capacity.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs relateldosting our application suite, providing cusesraupport, data communications
expenses, personnel and related costs of operatiosfessional services and
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training personnel, stock-based compensation, soéicense fees, costs associated with websitelalgwent activities, allocated overhead,
intangible asset amortization expense associatddoapitalized internal use software and acquimcetbped technology and related plant and
equipment depreciation and amortization expendas.cbst associated with providing professionalisesvis significantly higher as a
percentage of revenue than the cost associatedielitrering our software services due to the latmsts associated with providing professic
services.

We allocate overhead such as rent, informationntelclyy costs and employee benefit costs to all deygats based on headcount. As
such, general overhead expenses are reflectesgirmtrevenue and each operating expense category.

We expect cost of revenue to decrease slightlyme@ntage of revenue over time; however, it cllulttuate period to period depend
on the growth of our professional services busim@ssany associated increased costs relating toetheery of professional services and the
timing of significant expenditures. Additionally enexpect to further increase data center capacti®pi0, which will further increase our cost
of revenue. We may also incur additional expensse@ated with the acquisition of additional datsbsoftware licenses.

Operating Expenses—Product Development

Product development expenses primarily consisecfgnnel and related costs for our product devetopremployees and executives,
including salaries, stock-based compensation, eyppldenefits and allocated overhead. Our produetldpment efforts have been devoted
primarily to increasing the functionality and enbiag the ease of use of our on-demand applicatide as well as localizing our product for
international use. A key component of our stratisgp expand our business internationally. Thid muire us to conform our application to
comply with local regulations and languages, capsimto incur additional expenses related to tediasi and localization of our application for
use in other countries.

We expect product development expenses to incieagesolute dollars as we extend our service offgrin other countries and as we
expand and enhance our application suite techredo@uch expenses may vary due to the timing sétb&erings and technologies.

Operating Expenses—Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consiserfgnnel and related costs for our sales and niagkemployees and executives,
including wages, benefits, bonuses, commissiongraming, stock-based compensation, commissioitstpaour channel partners, the cost of
marketing programs such as on-line lead genergtimmotional events, webinars and other meetingscamortization of intangible assets
related to tradename and customer relationshipsakocated overhead. We market and sell our agidic suite worldwide through our direct
sales organization and indirect distribution chdsmsach as strategic resellers. We capitalize amattéze our direct and channel sales
commissions over the period the related revenuecisgnized. The commission expense for customemvals is at lower rates than for sales to
new customers. As such, we expect our commissiparese to decline as a percentage of revenue goingufd as a larger percentage of our
recognized revenue is expected to result from custogenewals.

We believe that we have sufficient sales and mgrktaff to meet our revenue goals for 2010. Inriipperiods we may need to continue
to invest in sales and marketing to pursue newoonsts and expand relationships with existing custsnOur sales and marketing expenses
have increased in absolute dollars although theg dacreased as a percentage of total revenudh®/past three years. We expect this trei
continue in the foreseeable future.
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Operating Expenses—General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily ctrdipersonnel and related costs for executimanite, human resources and
administrative personnel, stock-based compensddga| and other professional fees and other catpaxpenses and allocated overhead.

We expect our general and administrative expemseggtease in absolute dollars as we expand ounéss

Income Taxes

Since inception, we have incurred annual operdtisges and, accordingly, have not recorded a poovfsr income taxes for any of the
periods presented other than provisions for mininaunth foreign income taxes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Judgments

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with GAAP in the United States of Aicge The preparation of these
consolidated financial statements requires us tkeneatimates and assumptions that affect the mgharnounts of assets, liabilities, revenue,
costs and expenses and related disclosures. Webasstimates on historical experience and orouarother assumptions that we believe to
be reasonable under the circumstances. In margnicss, we could have reasonably used differenuatioy estimates, and in other instances
changes in the accounting estimates are reasoliladdlyto occur from period-to-period. Accordinglgctual results could differ significantly
from the estimates made by our management. Toxtleatethat there are material differences betwhesé estimates and actual results, our
future financial statement presentation, financa@idition, results of operations and cash flows$ el affected.

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a pdatitransaction is specifically dictated by GAARIaloes not require management'’s
judgment in its application, while in other casgsignificant judgment is required in selecting amangilable alternative accounting stande
that allow different accounting treatment for semnitransactions. We consider these policies regysignificant management judgment to be
critical accounting policies. These critical accting policies are:

. Revenue recognitior

. Internal use software and website development ¢
. Deferred commission:

. Accounting for stoc-based compensation; a

. Goodwill and other intangible asse

A description of our critical accounting policiescgjudgments for those areas are presented batoaddition, please refer to the Note:
Consolidated Financial Statements for further distn of our accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from the sale of subscripiadsprofessional and support services. In mosaists, revenue is generated under
sales agreements with multiple elements, whictcaneprised of subscription fees from customers abegur on-demand application suite,
professional services associated with consulta@wices and customer support. We sell our apitatuite pursuant to service agreements
that are generally one year in length, with somewfagreements having contract terms ranging tiprée years in length. While certain of «
customers on occasion take possession of noneasgopiications that facilitate data transfer agylort review, our services do not provide our
customers the right to take possession of the sofwupporting the on-demand application suiteatiae.
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We commence revenue recognition when all of thiefohg conditions are met:
. there is persuasive evidence of an arranger

. the service is being provided to the custor

. the collection of the fees is reasonably assuned

. the amount of fees to be paid by the customexedfor determinabile

We have determined that we do not have objectideraliable evidence of fair value for each elenardur sales agreements that con
a subscription to our on-demand application suitk @istomer support, professional services or #gta result, the elements within our
multiple element sales agreements do not qualifyréatment as separate units of accounting. Taerefve account for fees received under
agreements that contain multiple elements as desumt of accounting and recognize the entireregesnent ratably over the term of the relz
agreement, commencing upon the later of the agneesterrt date or when all revenue recognition ddthave been met.

Amounts are initially recorded in accounts receigand deferred revenue when our clients have m@iced. Deferred revenue cons
of billings or payments received in advance of maerecognition and are recognized as the revesuggnition criteria are met. We generally
invoice our customers annually or in monthly or meidy installments. Accordingly, the deferred raue balance does not represent the total
contract value of annual or multi-year, non-cangle@ubscription agreements. Deferred revenuentidhe recognized during the succeeding
12 month period is recorded as current deferredme® and the remaining portion is recorded as morewt deferred revenue.

Internal Use Software and Website Development Costs

The costs incurred in the preliminary stages oftlyment are expensed as incurred. Once an applidzds reached the development
stage, internal and external costs, if direct aodeémental, are capitalized until the softwareuisssantially complete and ready for its intended
use. Capitalization ceases upon completion ofuddstantial testing. We also capitalize costs rdladespecific upgrades and enhancements
when it is probable the expenditures will resuladditional functionality. Capitalized costs areaeled as part of property and equipment.
Training costs are expensed as incurred. Inteis@koftware is amortized on a straight line basts ds estimated useful life, generally three
years. Management evaluates the useful lives gkthesets on an annual basis and tests for impdimhenever events or change:
circumstances occur that could impact the recoviisabf these assets. There were no impairmentatirnal use software during the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2008 or 2009.

Deferred Commissions

We capitalize commission costs that are incrememtdldirectly related to the acquisition of custommntracts. Commission costs are
accrued and capitalized upon execution of the saleact by the customer. Payments to sales peetane made shortly after the receipt of
the related customer payment. Deferred commissiomamortized over the term of the related non-glabte customer contract and are
recoverable through the related future revenueastse We believe this is the preferable method odacting as the commission costs are so
closely related to the revenue from the customatreots that they should be expensed over the paned that the related revenue is
recognized.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stodetaompensation for equity grants made to oucerfi directors and employees by
using the intrinsic value method based on the wifiee, if any, between the estimated fair valueusfcommon stock and the exercise price on
the date of grant. Effective January 1, 2006, wapéetl the fair value method of accounting for sheaged payments, using the prospective
transition method, which was applied only to nevaedg granted, and to awards modified, repurchasedrzelled, after
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the adoption date. Under this transition methaatlsbased compensation expense recognized begidamgry 1, 2006 is based on the grant
date fair value of stock option awards granted odified after January 1, 2006. Estimates are useliermining the fair value of such awal
Changes in these estimates could result in changag stock-based compensation expense.

For all periods, we granted employees options tahmse shares of common stock at exercise pricesd gmthe fair value of the
underlying common stock at the time of grant, aembeined by our Board of Directors. The fair vabfeoptions granted subsequent to
December 20, 2007, the date of our Initial Publifefing (“IPO”), is based on the most recent clgsgales price of our common stock on the
date of grant. The IPO price for our stock was @®ered in determining the value of options graritethe week preceding our IPO. For opti
granted prior to the commencement of our IPO, #irevalue of our common stock was determined byBnard of Director after considering
many factors, including:

. our current and historical operating performar

. our expected future operating performar

. our financial condition at the grant da

. the liquidation rights and other preferences of mmeferred stock

. any recent privately negotiated sales of our seeario independent third partie

. our then current book value per she

. input from managemen

. the lack of marketability of our common stoi

. the potential future marketability of our commoacl; and

. the business risks inherent in our business ahéymtechnology companies genera

Restricted stock units are valued based on thev&dire of the underlying shares of our common stock

As a result of our stock-based compensation agtiwie recorded $18.2 million, $11.8 million and $2énillion of stock-based
compensation during the years ended December 8%, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of net assets acquired. Weatied a portion of the purchase price
of the acquisition of our acquired businesses tanigible assets, including customer relationshdpseloped technology and tradenames that
are being amortized over their estimated usefekliof one to seven years. We also allocated aopasfithe purchase price to tangible assets
and assessed the liabilities to be recorded ap#re purchase price. The estimates we madéddoading the purchase price to tangible and
intangible assets, and in assessing liabilitieendsd as part of the purchase, involved the appicaf judgment and the use of estimates and
these could significantly affect our operating fessand financial position.

We review the carrying value of goodwill for impaient annually and whenever events or changesdarogtances indicate that the
carrying value of goodwill may exceed its fair velWe evaluate impairment by comparing the estichfie value of the reporting unit to its
carrying value. We estimate fair value by computing expected future discounted operating cashsfloased on historical trends, adjusted to
reflect our best estimate of future market and afieg conditions as well as the market capitaloratialues of peer comparables. Actual results
may differ materially from these estimates. Thénestes we make in determining the fair value ofréggorting unit involve the application of
judgment, including the amount and timing of futaesh flows, sho- and long-term growth rates, and the weightedagyeicost of capital,
potentially affecting the
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timing and size of any future impairment chargegpairment of our goodwill could significantly afteaur operating results and financial
position. Based on our most recent assessmeng, Wexe no goodwill impairment indicators.

We continually evaluate whether events or circumsta have occurred that indicate that the estinmatedining useful life of our long-
lived assets, including intangible assets, may avdnrevision or that the carrying value of thessetsmay be impaired. Any write-downs are
treated as permanent reductions in the carryinguatnaf the assets. We must use judgment in evalyathether events or circumstances
indicate that useful lives should change or thatdfrrying value of assets has been impaired. Asylting revision in the useful life or the
amount of impairment also requires judgment. Anyhese judgments could affect the timing or sizarof future impairment charges. Revis
of useful lives or impairment charges could sigmifitly affect our operating results and financidipon.

Results of Operations
Revenue and Cost of Revenue
Information about revenue, cost of revenue andgyposfit was as follows for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Revenue $108,54: $152,47¢ $166,54(
Cost of revenue (1 33,76¢ 48,58 56,10¢
Gross profil $ 74,77t $103,89:- $110,43!
Gross margit 69% 68% 66%
(1) Includes sto-based compensation and amortization of intangitdets $ 1,70¢ $ 2,98¢ $ 5,28¢

2008 compared to 2009

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 sede®l4.1 million, or 9%, compared to the sameogdri 2008. The overall increase
in revenue was primarily the result of $21.3 millim new revenue as a result of acquiring new ensts (customers acquired after
December 31, 2008), the continued customer adopfi@neWorld, an increase in average selling ppigenew customer and the incremental
customer revenue resulting from the acquisitio@ofckArrow. The increase in new revenue was offisea $7.2 million decrease in revenues
from existing customers and other sources includimgJapanese distribution rights. This decreasevienues from existing customers is
comprised of a $8.2 million decrease in profesdisaavices revenue from those existing customeesrasult of the nonrenewal of services, a
$4.0 million reduction of revenue recognized froar dapanese distribution rights agreement, offget $4.9 million net increase in existing
customers purchases of subscriptions and suppgwetn®nrenewal of professional services by existigomers is a natural occurrence as such
services are most frequently purchased in conneetith the initial implementation of our product hgw customers. Existing customers’
purchases of additional user subscriptions and tesdor “upsell”) largely offset the impact of caster churn and decreases in subscription
and support revenues (or “downseldy existing customers. We believe that the inceeadoth churn rate and downsell that we expeédria
early 2009 are a result of global economic condgio

Revenue generated outside of North America was8#8dlion, or 18%, of our revenue during the yeaded December 31, 2009, as
compared to $29.0 million, or 19%, during the sgragod in 2008.
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Cost of revenue for the year ended December 319 R@Beased $7.5 million, or 15%, compared to tmaes period in 2008. The increase
was primarily the result of a $4.9 million increaseersonnel costs and a $883,000 increase interaion of intangibles. The increase in
personnel costs is primarily associated with aneiase in the number of employees required to stippomgrowing client base and also
included a $1.2 million increase in stock-based pensation.

Our gross margin decreased to 66% during the yetegcdDecember 31, 2009 compared to 68% for 2008.ddtrease was primarily d
to additional expenses related to stock-based cosapien and intangible asset amortization.

2007 compared to 2008

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008 setle®43.9 million, or 40%, compared to 2007. Reednam products introduced in
2008 was $6.9 million.

$25.2 million of the increase in revenues was fr@w customers (those customers acquired after Deeed1, 2007) including the
incremental customer revenue resulting from theisitipn of OpenAir. This increase in revenue fraew customerseflects a 36% increase
the average revenue recognized per new customieigdbie year ended December 31, 2008 as compated same period in 2007 due to
these new customers adopting more elements ofesvice including NetSuite OneWorld, the purchas®pénAir products, the broader
adoption of more costly industry-specific vertisalutions and an increase in the size of our custem

The remainder of the increase in revenues was phinaaresult of upsell to existing customers extieg decreases resulting from
customer churn and downsells. Subscription and@tippvenues from existing customers (those custermequired before December 31,
2007) increased by $19.9 million for the year enBedember 31, 2008 as compared to the same peri@Di7. Those increases in sales and
support revenues from existing customers wereglgrtvffset by the reduction in professional seegicevenues from those customers.

The revenue generated outside of North America$28s0 million, or 19%, of our revenue during 2088,compared to $19.2 million, or
18% of our revenue during 2007.

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 38 Raeased $14.8 million, or 44%, compared to 200ié increase was primarily the
result of a $10.1 million increase in personneksdscluding stock-based compensation, and a $4l@dmincrease in data center expenses
resulting from an increase in capacity. The incegagpersonnel costs is associated with an incrieabe number of employees required to
support our growing client base. Those increases partially offset by a $2.5 million decrease xpenses for the use of external professional
services that resulted from having additional inid®resources available to perform those services.

Our gross margin decreased to 68% during the yedegcdDecember 31, 2008 compared to 69% for 2008.ddtrease was primarily d
to additional expenses related to hiring additiamaployees in our professional services organimatiovestments in data center capacity and a
$1.0 million increase in the amortization of intérlg assets related to our June 2008 acquisitidDpEnAir.
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Operating Expenses
Operating expenses were as follows for the pefpodsented:

Year ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009
% of % of % of
Amount revenue Amount revenue Amount revenue
(dollars in thousands)

Operating expenses (-

Product developmel $23,70: 22%  $ 21,51¢ 14%  $ 28,571 17%
Sales and marketir 57,93: 53% 76,94 50% 76,16 46%
General and administrati\ 16,72( 15% 23,80« 16% 29,21°¢ 17%

Total operating expens: $98,35¢ 90%  $122,26: 80%  $133,95 80%

(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense, amortization of inténgssets and transaction costs for business oatidns as follows

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Product developmel $10,37¢ $ 3,62¢ $ 6,641
Sales and marketir 2,54( 3,37¢ 7,07¢
General and administrati\ 3,60t 3,38¢ 7,67
Total stocl-based compensation expense, amortization of irttengssets an
transaction costs for business combinat $16,52 $10,39( $21,39¢

In January 2009, the Company adopted provisiosS&# 805-10 which requires transaction costs foiress combinations to be
recorded as current period expenses. In prior yeach costs were included as part of the condiderpaid for the acquisition.

2008 compared to 2009

Product development expenses for the year endeenizer 31, 2009 increased $7.1 million, or 33%,cespared to 2008. The increase
was primarily the result of a $6.7 million increasepersonnel costs. The increase in personnes t®stssociated with an increase in the nui
of employees. The increase in personnel costsdesla $2.9 million increase in stobksed compensation expenses resulting from thariss
of equity awards to both existing and new employPesduct development has increased as a perceotageenue as this area is a key
strategic investment for NetSuite, driven by thatowed investments in OneWorld and internatiorealizersions of our product.

Sales and marketing expenses for the year endeehitexr 31, 2009 decreased $778,000, or 1%, as cethfra008. The decrease was
primarily the result of a $3.0 million decreaseersonnel costs. The decrease in personnel castarfy related to decreases in commissions
expenses, recruiting costs and travel expensesddtrease in personnel costs is net of a $2.5omillicrease in stock-based compensation
expense resulting from the issuance of equity asverdoth existing and new employees. The decliegsersonnel costs was partially offset
an increase in facilities costs and marketing egpsn

General and administrative expenses for the yededbecember 31, 2009 increased $5.4 million, 6,28 compared to 2008. The
increase was primarily the result of a $2.8 millinarease in personnel costs and $2.0 million isitess combination costs. The increase in
personnel costs was primarily due to a $2.3 millrrease in stock-based compensation resultimg the issuance of equity awards to both
existing and new employees.
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2007 compared to 2008

Product development expenses for the year endeeniir 31, 2008 decreased $2.2 million, or 9%, agpeoed to the same period in
2007. The decrease was primarily the result ofcaedese in stock-based compensation expense ofrfid during 2008 as compared to the
same period in 2007, as awards that were subjeetrtable accounting in 2007 were fully vested pt®2008. The decrease in stock-based
compensation expense was partially offset by a 8dllbn increase in other personnel costs attabig to an increase in the number of

employees during 2008 compared to 2007.

Sales and marketing expenses for the year endeenfites 31, 2008 increased $19.0 million, or 33%gamspared to the same period in
2007. The increase was primarily the result of & $illion increase in personnel costs, includitackbased compensation expense, rest
from an increase in the number of employees arl&illion increase in marketing expense. Thedase in personnel costs includes a $3.0
million increase in commission expense during 2808ompared to the same period in 2007, resultorg the growth in revenue.

General and administrative expenses for the yedea&becember 31, 2008 increased $7.1 million, &6,42s compared to the same
period in 2007. The increase was primarily the ltesfua $3.7 million increase in personnel costduding stock-based compensation expense,
resulting from an increase in the number of empdsyend a $2.2 million increase in legal fees, poimal fees and insurance costs related to
the increased costs of being a public company.igu2D07, total general and administrative expensge reduced by approximately $0.6
million due to the release of a previously estdigltsaccrual for uncollected sales taxes as the aimeas determined no longer to be probable

of payment; there was no such benefit recordechdt008.

During 2008, there was also a $1.6 million increadeuilding occupancy costs resulting from inceghspace requirements associated
with our overall increase in headcount. The inceéaguilding occupancy costs includes approxinya$&l73,000 in additional rental expense
related to a mid-year 2008 increase in the rented af our corporate headquarters by approxim®&@dg. Those building occupancy costs are
allocated between cost of revenue and the thremtipg expense categories.

Non-operating Items

Non-operating items, including interest income argense, other income / (expense), income taxethaneffect of net loss attributable
to noncontrolling interest were as follows for theriods presented:

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009
% of % of % of
Amount revenue Amount revenue Amount revenue
(dollars in thousands)
Interest incom: $ 33t 0% $ 3,98¢ 3% $ 56E 0%
Interest expense, including amounts paid to relptaty (859 -1% (479 0% (190) 0%
Other income / (expens 313 0% (2,049 -1% (325) 0%
Income taxe: (734 -1% (1,05¢€) -1% (640) 0%
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling inter 614 1% 1,09¢ 1% 80¢ 0%

2008 compared to 2009

Interest income for the year ended December 319 B@areased $3.4 million as compared to 2008. Eeesdse is primarily related to
lower cash balances and a decrease on interestpaitton cash equivalents invested in money manigétial funds.
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The decrease in other income / (expense) duringgheended December 31, 2009 as compared to 288®rwnarily the result of the
hedging program implemented in September 2008 ahtbreign exchange rate gains and losses recafdinéng those periods.

During December 2009, the Company purchased TQBs$ gwnership equity in NetSuite KK. Subsequentdanend, the company
purchased the ownership equity from MJS and Ingpasporation such that we currently own 100% of3Ngte KK. As a result of these
purchases, the benefit the Company will receivenftbe net loss attributable to the noncontrollimigiest will be significantly reduced during
2010.

2007 compared to 2008

Interest income for the year ended December 318 #ifeased $3.7 million as compared to the sariegm 2007. The proceeds from
our December 2007 IPO were invested in interestiegmmoney market mutual funds during 2008. Inteoesthose invested proceeds was the
primary cause of the increase in interest income.

The decrease in other income / (expense) duringegheended December 31, 2008 as compared to e gariod during 2007 was
primarily the result of net foreign exchange radéng and losses recognized during those perioda.r&sult of the strengthening of the U.S.
dollar, particularly during the third quarter of(8) we recorded $1.0 million in net foreign exchamngte losses relating to the re-measurement
of certain asset and liability balances denominatenlirrencies other than the applicable functianatency during the year ended
December 31, 2008 as compared to $256,000 in foeighange rate gains during the year ended Dece3ih2007.

Our provision for income taxes is primarily relatecour international entities. We expect our negrating loss carryforwards to offset
any domestic earnings for the foreseeable futuue.povision for income taxes increased $322,00thdithe year ended December 31, 2008
as compared to the same period in 2007 due tathedsing profitability in certain foreign juristiens and the settlement of certain historical
foreign tax matters.

The increase in the benefit from net loss attriblg@o noncontrolling interest in NetSuite KK of@8#000 is due to the increasing losses
at that unit during the year ended 2008 as compardte same period in 2007.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our unaudited qudyteondensed consolidated statements of operatiatesfor each of the eight quarters
ended December 31, 2009. The data has been prepathd same basis as the audited consolidatedciamastatements and related notes
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and whuld read the following tables in conjunctioihwsuch financial statements. The table

includes all necessary adjustments, consisting ohhormal recurring adjustments that we consigsessary for a fair presentation of this
data. The results of historical periods are noessarily indicative of future results.

Three months ended
March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30 September 3C December 3:

2008 2008 2008 2008 2009 2009 2009 2009
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per shasenounts)
(unaudited)

Revenue $ 34,11¢ $ 36,55: $ 40,40¢ $ 41,40: $ 41,567 $40,30¢ $ 41,70¢ $ 42,96¢
Cost of revenue (1 10,11t 11,66¢ 13,73 13,06¢ 13,03¢ 13,55¢ 14,49: 15,02:
Gross profif 24,00: 24,88¢ 26,67: 28,33: 28,53: 26,74¢ 27,21; 27,94:
Operating expense

Product development (. 4,08: 4,45 6,05¢ 6,92¢ 6,78¢ 6,77( 7,36¢ 7,65(

Sales and marketing ( 17,80¢ 19,40: 20,22: 19,51¢ 18,791 18,26¢ 19,47¢ 19,62¢

General and administrative ( 5,467 5,14¢ 6,42¢ 6,76€ 6,91( 6,717 8,32 7,26%

Total operating expens: 27,35¢ 28,99¢ 32,70: 33,20¢ 32,49 31,75 35,17( 34,54:

Operating los! (3,35)) (4,110 (6,037) (4,876 (3,969) (5,009) (7,95¢) (6,59¢)
Other income / (expenses), net, including the

effect of noncontrolling interest and income

taxes 1,322 982 (210) 411 21¢ 13 (71) 58
Net loss attributable to NetSu
Inc. common stockholde $ (2,029 $ (8,129 $ (6,247)  $ (4,465 $ (3,745  $(4990 % (8,029 $ (6,540
Net loss per NetSuite Inc. common sh $ (009 $ (0.0 3 010 $ 0.0 $ (0.0 $ (0.0 $ 0.19) $ (0.10)
Weighted average number of shares used in

computing net loss per common sh 60,09 60,16( 60,43¢ 60,83¢ 61,24¢ 61,85 62,10( 62,54

(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense, amortization of irtengssets and transaction costs for business cairdns as follows

Three months ended
March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30 September 3C December 3.

2008 2008 2008 2008 2009 2009 2009 2009
Cost of revenu: $ 294 $ 522 % 1,11: % 1,056 $ 1,042 $ 1,23t $ i18re 8 1,63¢
Product developmel 4832 54¢ 1,147 1,451 1,35(C 1,44: 1,70¢ 2,13¢
Sales and marketir 334 56¢ 1,23¢ 1,23¢ 1,20< 1,462 2,24: 2,17(
General and administratiy 49¢ 587 1,04¢ 1,25¢ 1,15¢ 1,53¢ 3,05% 1,93¢
Total stock-based compensation expense,
amortization of intangible assets and
transaction costs for business combinati $ 160 $ 2,22¢ $ 454; $ 4,99¢ $ 4,75¢ $ 5,671 $ 8371 $ 7,87¢

Our revenue increased in each of the quarters pe@bove as a result of adding new customemseliss an increase in overall
transaction size and upselling to existing cust@méfe believe that as a result of global economiaiions we experienced an increase in

both churn rate and downsell in early 2009. To dat=have not experienced any significant impacbwnresults of operations due to
seasonality.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2009, our primary sources afitiify were our cash and cash equivalents tot$®g.4 million and $25.8 million in
accounts receivable, net of allowance. Our cashcasl equivalents are comprised of the remainingegh portion of the $161.9 million in
proceeds from our December 2007 initial public oiffg that was allocated for working capital purpmse

In the year ended December 31, 2009, cash flows &perations resulted in a $4.8 million sourceasftc Although we have positive
operating cash flows for three consecutive quagated December 31, 2009, the possibility remdiaswe could return to a position of
having operating cash outflows in a future perddspite the possibility of such fluctuations in g cash outflows, management believes
its current cash and cash equivalents are suffifierihe next 12 months and into the foreseealtieré thereafter to meet our operating cash
flow needs. Management expects cash received fumtomers to be sufficient to cover operating expsms future periods as our losses
decrease.

We intend to use the cash provided from the infiigblic offering for general corporate purposesluding potential future acquisitions
other transactions. Further, during 2010, we exfzettcur additional expenses in connection with iaternational expansion and the
localization of our service in new locations. Wdidaee that our cash and cash equivalents proceedsdequate to fund those anticipated
activities.

While we believe that our uncommitted current wogkcapital and anticipated cash flows from operetiwill be adequate to meet our
cash needs for daily operations and capital experedi for at least the next 12 months, we may étedise additional capital through the sale
of additional equity or debt securities, obtairredit facility or sell certain assets. If additibfiznds are raised through the issuance of
additional debt securities, these securities cbalek rights, preferences and privileges seniootdérs of common stock, and terms of any «
could impose restrictions on our operations. The ghadditional equity or convertible debt sedestcould result in additional dilution to our
stockholders and additional financing may not bailable in amounts or on terms acceptable to usvdbelieve that our cash and cash
equivalents are adequate to fund our operatingravgsting cash flow needs for at least the nextwgvenonths, we have not found it necessary
to reassess our capacity to generate cash fromciimg cash flows in the current economic climate Wbuld expect to find it more difficult to
raise cash in the near term than in prior pericda gesult of the economic downturn that has oedusmce our initial public offering. If
additional financing were to become necessary andne unable to obtain the additional financingmay be required to reduce the scope of
our planned product development and marketing &ffpotentially harming our business, financialdition and operating results. In the
meantime, we intend to continue to manage our itaalmanner designed to ensure that we have adeqgasih and cash equivalents to func
operations as well as future acquisitions, if any.

Prior to our initial public offering that raised &IL9 million in net proceeds in December 2007, iwarfced our operations primarily
through private placements of preferred equity sées and common stock and a $20.0 million linedit from Tako Ventures, LLC (“Tako
Ventures”), a related party. In December 2007, waid pff the outstanding balance of the Tako Vertdiree of credit by making a payment of
$8.0 million. The line of credit expired in Febry&008.

Restricted cash consisting of letters of creditdior facility lease agreements is included in loeign other assets which totaled $517,000
and $520,000 at December 31, 2008 and 2009, resggct

As of December 31, 2009, we had an accumulateditefi$284.1 million. We have funded this defiprimarily through the net procee
raised from the sale of our capital stock.
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A summary of our cash flow activities were as falfofor the periods presented:

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating actg $ 4,11¢ $ (8,96%) $ 4,75¢

Net cash used in investing activiti (4,772 (36,839 (28,727

Net cash provided by / (used in) financing actbs 159,80! (869) (3,227

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casraénts 34¢€ 90C (92)

Net change in cash and cash equival $159,49¢ $(45,770) $(27,287)

Cash provided by / (used in) operating activitieswlriven by sales of our application suite andscioeurred to deliver that service. The
timing of our billings and collections relating dor sales and the timing of the payment of ouiilités have a significant impact on our cash
flows. Cash flows from operations increased dutimgyear ended December 31, 2009 as compared saithe period in 2008 primarily as a
result of an increase in revenues.

Cash used in investing activities during the yeatesl December 31, 2009 was related to the acquigifi QuickArrow and our
Australian distributor for a total of $21.9 millian cash, net of cash received and capital expereditfor property and equipment, consisting of
the purchase of software licenses, computer equipreasehold improvements and furniture and feguas we expanded our infrastructure.
Cash used in investing activities during the yemtesl December 31, 2008 was primarily related ta&g8llion in cash used for the acquisiti
of OpenAir, net of cash received.

The net cash used in financing activities for tearg ended December 31, 2008 and 2009 were prymeldited to payments on capital
leases offset by the proceeds from the issuancernofmon stock from the exercise of stock optiongiigu2009, financing activities also
included a $3.0 million payment for the purchaseaicontrolling interests and during 2008, we alam $950,000 in costs related to our 2007
initial public offering.

Contractual Obligations

We generally do not enter into logrm minimum purchase commitments. Our principahgotments consist of obligations under caj
leases for equipment, note payable used for puecbiasquipment, operating leases primarily foragdfspace, and other purchase obligations
consisting of maintenance support contracts orebas owned equipment and other general purchdggtibns. The following table
summarizes our commitments to settle contractuiégations in cash as of December 31, 2009, fomine five years and thereafter.

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1to 3 year 3to 5 year: 5 years
(dollars in thousands)
Capital lease obligatior $ 40 $ 4C $ — $ — $ —
Debt obligations 1,142 1,142 — — —
Total accrued contractual obligatic 1,182 1,182 — — —
Operating lease obligatiol 20,33t 7,19( 11,32: 1,82: —
Purchase obligatior 8,46¢ 7,471 997 — —
Total off-balance sheet contractual obligatic 28,80: 14,66 12,31¢ 1,82 —
Total contractual obligatior $29,98: $15,84: $ 12,31¢ $ 1,82¢ $ —
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2002804, we did not have any relationships with unotidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred &irastured finance or special purpose entitieschwivould have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off balance sheet arrangeter other contractually narrow or limited purees

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 18 in our Notes to Consolidated Finar@t@alements for information regarding recent acdagrfronouncements.

Iltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk
Interest Rate Sensitivity
We had cash and cash equivalents of $96.4 milliddeaember 31, 2009. These amounts were held ghnmmoney market funds.

Cash and cash equivalents are held for workingalgmirposes, and restricted cash amounts arealseddcurity against various lease
obligations. Due to the short-term nature of thagestments, we believe that we do not have angmnaEexposure to changes in the fair value
of our investment portfolio as a result of chanigeisiterest rates. Declines in interest rates, hamewill reduce future interest income. We
believe that we do not have any material exposuchénges in the fair value as a result of chaingiderest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are stibjeftuctuations due to changes in foreign curgeexchange rates, particularly changes
in the British Pound Sterling, Canadian Dollar, &kabkan Dollar, Euro, Japanese Yen, Singapore Dalta Philippine Peso. Our revenue is
generally denominated in the local currency ofdbetracting party. The majority of our billings a& to sales occurring in the United States
and therefore are denominated in U.S. dollars. W fan increasing percentage of sales denominafedeign currencies including, but not
limited to, the local currencies of Canada, the BKstralia and Japan. Our expenses are generailyndieated in the currencies of the
countries in which our operations are located. ©qrenses are incurred primarily in the United StaBanada, the UK the Philippines and
Australia, with a small portion of expenses incdrréhere our other international sales and opersitidfices are located. Our results of
operations and cash flows are, therefore, subjeftti¢tuations due to changes in foreign currenahange rates. During 2008 and 2009 we
undertook a hedging program to limit the exposdr®@ign currency risk resulting from the revaloatof foreign denominated assets and
liabilities through the use of forward exchangetcacts. All contracts that we entered into during year expired before year end. We expe
continue to enter into similar hedging transactionfture periods.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could larnmbusiness in the future. During 2009, foreignateinated revenues were
approximately $30.9 million and foreign denominategenses were approximately $48.0 million. Theafof an 10% adverse change in
exchange rates on revenues and expenses duringn@@08d result in a loss of approximately $1.7 roitii

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We do not have material exposure to market risk waspect to investments, as our investments daquéisarily of highly liquid
investments purchased with a remaining maturitthofe months or less. We do not use derivativenfirs instruments for speculative or
trading purposes. However, this does not preclugtedoption of specific hedging strategies in thteife.

46



Table of Contents

ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed astduthis Annual Report:

Page

number

Report of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Publkicdunting Firr 48
Consolidated Balance She 5C
Consolidated Statements of Operati 51
Consolidated Statements of Convertible PreferrediSand Equity / (Deficit 52
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc 583
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 54
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
NetSuite Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of NetSuite Inc. and subsidiaries aseoémber 31, 2009 and 2008, and the
related consolidated statements of operations,artible preferred stock and total equity/(deficithd cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2009. In abiomewith our audits of the consolidated finangtdtements, we have also audited
financial statement Schedule I, as set forthémltL5(b). We also have audited NetSuite Inc.'sivtlecontrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2009, based on criteria establishédénnal Control—Integrated Framework issued &y @ommittee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOJ}SNige Inc.’s management is responsible for thessalidated financial statements and
financial statement schedule, for maintaining dffecinternal control over financial reporting, aftd its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, includiedthe accompanying Report of Management on lae@ontrol Over Financial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements and finantéement schedule and an opinion on
NetSuite Inc's internal control over financial reporting basedour audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlgUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits toiobtasonable assurance about whether the finastei@ments are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal corgvelr financial reporting was maintained in all evél respects. Our audits of the
consolidated financial statements included exarginim a test basis, evidence supporting the amaunatslisclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarst significant estimates made by managementeaaldating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal @dmver financial reporting included obtaining amderstanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a neteseakness exists, and testing and evaluatiegléisign and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qlitsaalso included performing such other procedasewe considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provideagonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsméor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaatepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajpeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatggaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agjext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaenferred to above present fairly, in all matengagpects, the financial position of NetSuite
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 868,2and the results of their operations and #esh flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2009, in conformiiy U.S. generally accepted accounting principfdso in our opinion, the relate

financial statement schedule, when consideredliatioa to the basic consolidated financial statetsiéaken as a whole,
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presents fairly, in all material respects, the infation set forth therein. Also in our opinion, Batte Inc. maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting of December 31, 2009, based on criteria estadiin Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mations of the Treadway Commission.

As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated findistédements, NetSuite Inc. and subsidiaries rpeatively changed their presentation of
noncontrolling interests due to the adoption of BARatement No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests im&aidated Financial Statements
(included in FASB ASC Topic 810, Consolidation),cdislanuary 1, 2009. In addition, as discussedte & to the consolidated financial
statements, NetSuite Inc. and subsidiaries chaitg@tethod of accounting for business combinatiuns to the adoption of FASB Statement
No. 141R, Business Combinations (included in FASBCATopic 805, Business Combinations), as of Januia?p09.

(sighed) KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
March 12, 2010
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NetSuite Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,
2008 2009
Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 123,63t $ 96,35¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $589%8%Il as of December 31, 2008 and Decembe
2009, respectivel 26,67¢ 25,77¢
Deferred commissior 11,36: 11,72¢
Other current asse 2,38¢ 4,92
Total current asse 164,06: 138,77¢
Property and equipment, r 15,41 14,73:
Deferred commissions, n-current 1,68¢ 1,04(
Goodwill 17,82« 28,09t
Other intangible assets, r 8,712 17,07
Other asset 2,63¢€ 2,50¢
Total asset $ 210,33 $ 202,22
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 2,89¢ $ 1,147
Deferred revenu 66,667 66,36(
Accrued compensatic 10,86: 10,56:
Accrued expense 5,75¢ 5,15¢
Other current liabilitie: 4,36: 5,71¢
Total current liabilities 90,54« 88,93¢
Long-term liabilities:
Deferred revenue, n-current 7,204 6,361
Other lon¢-term liabilities 3,19¢ 2,21
Total lon¢-term liabilities 10,40: 8,57¢
Total liabilities 100,94 97,511
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Equity:
NetSuite Inc. stockholde’ equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.01, 25,000,000 shardgwrized as of December 31, 2008 and 2009; zero
shares issued and outstand — —
Common stock, par value $0.01, 500,000,000 sharbe@zed; 60,919,401 and 62,880,465 sh
issued and outstanding, excluding 45,022 and 6B&0es subject to repurchase as of Decembe
2008 and 2009, respective 60¢ 62¢
Additional paic-in capital 368,80: 387,50°
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 337 75€
Accumulated defici (260,759 (284,059
Total NetSuite Inc. stockhold¢ equity 108,99: 104,83:
Noncontrolling interest in subsidia 39t (12€)
Total equity 109,38 104,70°
Total liabilities and equit $ 210,33 $ 202,22

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financiaé®ients.
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NetSuite Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(dollars and shares in thousands, except per shasenounts)

Year ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009
Revenue $108,54: $152,47¢ $166,54(
Cost of revenu 33,76¢ 48,58 56,10¢
Gross profi 74,77F 103,89 110,43!
Operating expense
Product developmel 23,70: 21,51¢ 28,571
Sales and marketir 57,93: 76,94: 76,16¢
General and administrati\ 16,72( 23,80« 29,21°¢
Total operating expens: 98,35¢ 122,26: 133,95
Operating los: (23,58() (18,369 (23,527)
Other income / (expense), n
Interest incom 33t 3,98¢ 56&
Interest expens (29) (183) (5)
Interest expense to related par (825) (291) (185)
Other income / (expense), r 313 (1,049 (325)
Total other income / (expense), | (20€) 2,46t 5C
Loss before income taxi (23,78¢) (15,909 (23,472
Provision for income taxe 734 1,05¢€ 64C
Net loss (24,520 (16,960 (24,117
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling iatt 614 1,09¢ 80¢
Net loss attributable to NetSuite Inc. common shoddters $(23,90¢) $(15,869) $(23,30¢)
Net loss attributable to NetSuite Inc. common shadtters per common share, basic and dili $ (2.4% $ (0.26) $ (0.3§)
Weighted average number of shares used in compuéinipss per shal 9,77¢ 60,38¢ 61,94:

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financiaé®ients.
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BALANCES, December 31, 20(
Interest income on notes receiva

NetSuite Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred 8tk and Total Equity / (Deficit)
(dollars in thousands)

Accumulated

Conversion of preferred stock into

common stocl

Payment of notes receivable from

stockholder:

Issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costs of $14.0 millic
Exercise of stock options for ca

Lapse of restrictions on common sta
related to early exercise of stock

options

Stocl-based compensatic

Contribution to capital by related pai —

Comprehensive los

Foreign currency translation

adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive los
BALANCES, December 31, 20(
Assumption of stock awards in

connection with acquisition of

OpenAir
Stock issuance cos

Exercise of stock options for ca

Lapse of restrictions on common stock
related to early exercise of stock

options

Vesting of restricted stock awards ai

units

Stocl-based compensatic

Comprehensive los

Foreign currency translation

adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive los

BALANCES, December 31, 20(
Exercise of stock options for ca

Lapse of restrictions on common sta
related to early exercise of stock

options

Vesting of restricted stock awards and

units

Stoclk-based compensatic
Purchase of noncontrolling inter¢

Comprehensive los

Foreign currency translation

adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive los
BALANCES, December 31, 20(

Convertible preferred Total
stock Common Stock other NetSuite Inc. Non-
Additional Notes comprehen- controlling
receivable sive income Accumulated stockholders’
paid-in from interest in Total
Shares  Amount Shares Amount capital  stockholders (loss) deficit equity subsidiary _ equity
33,847,06 $125,65: $ 7,288,19'$ 73% 48,06 $ (4,379 $ (43) $ (220,98) $ (177,26) $ 1,94t $(175,32))
— — — — — (56) (56) (56)
(33,847,06) (125,65 44,676,59 447  125,20° — 125,65: 125,65«
— — — — — 4,42¢ 4,42¢ 4,42¢
— — 6,765,00! 68 161,78t — 161,85: 161,85«
— — 487,39° 5 1,09¢ — 1,10¢ 1,10«
— — 842,26( 8 77€ — 78€ 78€
— — — — 18,20: — 18,20z 18,20
— — — 22 — 22 22
25¢
(23,906 (614)
_ _ _ _ _ _ (23,649) (24,267)
— — 60,059,45 601 355,15! — 21t (244,89) 111,08( 1,331 112,41:
— — — — 127 127 127
— — — — (212) — (212) (212)
— — 705,62: 7 2,14 — 2,15( 2,15(
— — 77,86: — 11€ — 11€ 11€
— — 76,46: 1 (302) — (301) (302)
— — — — 11,77« — 11,77« 11,77«
122 16C
(15,869) (1,09¢)
— — — — — — (15,747 (16,67¢)
— —  60,919,40 60¢  368,80: — 337 (260,759 108,99: 398 109,38
— — 1,472,581 15 4,29¢ — 4,31: 4,31z
— — 32,00: — 35 — 35 35
— — 456,47" 5 (2,940 — (2,93%) (2,935)
— — — — 20,71¢ — 20,71¢ 20,71¢
— — — — (3,405) — 10C (3,305) 30& (3,000
31¢ (18)
(23,309 (80¢)
— — — — — — (22,98%) (23,81))
— 8 — 62,880,46$ 62¢$ 387,500 $ — 3 75€ $ (284,059 $ 104,83 $ (12€) $104,70°

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financié®ients.
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NetSuite Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in thousands)

Cash flows provided by / (used in) operating atiggi
Net loss
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling iag
Net loss attributable to NetSuite Ir
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby / (used in) operating activiti¢
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of other intangible ass¢
Provision for accounts receivable allowan
Stocl-based compensatic
Amortization of deferred commissio
Loss on disposal of property and equiprr
Noncontrolling interest
Accrued interest on notes receivable from stockérs
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqfiired assets and liabilitie
Accounts receivabl
Deferred commissior
Other current asse
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensatic
Deferred revenu
Other current liabilitie!
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating actei
Cash flows used in investing activiti¢
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipr
Purchases of property and equipm
Capitalized internal use softwe
Business combinations, net of cash rece
Advances on line of crec
Acquisition of other intangible
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows provided by / (used in) financing adi@s:
Proceeds from line of credit from related pe
Payments on line of credit from related pe
Proceeds from notes receivable from stockhol
Purchase of noncontrolling inter¢
Payments under capital leases and -term debt
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ofiis=icost
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing actas
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casve&nts
Net change in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Supplemental cash flow disclosu
Cash paid during the period f
Interest paid to related parti
Interest paid to other parti
Income taxes, net of tax refun
Noncash financing and investing activiti
Property and equipment acquired under capital feasd lon-term deb
Exercise of stock options for stockholder noteineable
Conversion of preferred stor

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financié®ents.
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Year ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009
$(24,520) $(16,960) $(24,117)
614 1,09€ 80¢
(23,900 (15,869 (23,309
3,381 5,33( 7,101
= 1,602 3,621
53C 773 1,69:
18,22 11,77¢ 20,71¢
19,75: 22,70¢ 19,94¢
= 34 12
(619) (1,096) (80€)
(56) —
(3,989 (8,729 352
(20,039 (20,21) (19,669
(882) (552) (2,367
(109) (516) 224
632 (170 (1,249
1,93¢ 1,92¢ (57¢)
5,21¢ (3,319 (2,249)
3,87¢ (3,259 1,74:
15¢ 59C (454)
4,11¢ (8,96¢9) 4,75¢
— 28 —
(4,664 (7,265) (6,109
(108) (26€) (254)
— (28,729 (22,219
— (330) (157)
— (275 —
(4,777 (36,83) (28,72)
1,00( — —
(8,000 — —
4,42¢ — —
— — (3,000
(1,139 (1,589 (1,639
163,508 72¢ 1,41¢
159,80 (869) (3,229
34¢€ 90C (91)
159,49 (45,770 (27,289
9,91( 169,40 123,631
$169,40t $123,63t $ 96,35t
$  70€ $ 312 $ 204
$ 75 $ 46 $ 5
$ 261 $ 2,05¢ $  75C
$ 4,73¢ $ — $ —
$ — $ — $ —
$125,65: s — $ —
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Note 1. Organization

NetSuite Inc. (“the Company”) provides an on-demantgrated business management application thateoffers Accounting /
Enterprise Resource Planning, Customer Relationdhipagement and Ecommerce functionality to mediimaesbusinesses and divisions of
large companies. The Company’s headquarters aateldéin San Mateo, California. The Company condigstsusiness worldwide, with
international locations in Canada, Europe, Asia, Aastralia.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidati

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the Company and its majority and whollyned subsidiaries. Intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2009, the Company owri&zdoe interest and 92% interest, respectiveliatSuite Kabushiki Kaisha
(“NetSuite KK"), a Japanese corporation. In Decenftf¥09, the Company increased its interest in Ne#3K by 20% in a single transaction
for which it paid $3.0 million. Given the Companytgjority ownership interest, the accounts of NétSKK have been consolidated with the
accounts of the Company, and a noncontrolling @selhas been recorded for the noncontrolling ister@ the net assets and operations of
NetSuite KK to the extent of the noncontrolling éstor’ individual investments.

Adoption of New Accounting Standarc

In January 2009, the Company adopted Statemerihah€ial Accounting Standards Board Accounting 8&rds Codification (“FASB
ASC”) 810-10-45-16. As a result of the adoptiortro$ standard, the Company classifies noncont@lliierests as a component of equity and
the results of operations attributable to noncdlimiginterests is reported as a part of net I&s®r periods have been restated to conform t
current presentation.

In January 2009, the Company adopted Statemerihah€&ial Accounting Standards Board Accounting 8&rds Codification (“FASB
ASC”) 805-10 and 805-2@Business CombinationsAs a result of the adoption of this standard,Geenpany, among other items, was required
to record business combination costs as a cureFidgexpense and record contingent consideratiéairavalue on the date of acquisition. T
standard was applied to acquisitions following dlaée of adoption.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires management to make certafimeses and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported aofiassets and liabilities and disclosure of iog@int assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, as well as reported amounsvenue and expenses during the reporting pefiotlial results could differ from those
estimates.

Segments

The Company'’s chief operating decision maker i€tigef Executive Officer (“CEO”), who reviews fineial information presented on a
consolidated basis, accompanied by information tlEuenue by geographic region. Accordingly, thenpany has determined that it has a
single reportable segment, specifically, the priovi®f on-demand, business management applicatibess
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Revenue Recognitio

The Company generates revenue from the sale o€sptisns and its services. In most instances, maeds generated under sales
agreements with multiple elements, comprised o$eription fees from customers accessing its on-denag@plication service and professional
services associated with consultation servicescastbmer support. The Company’s sales agreemewesdaatract terms ranging from one to
three years in length. Arrangements with custordersot provide the customer with the right to takssession of the software supporting the
on-demand application service at any time.

The Company commences revenue recognition wheaf tie following conditions are met:
. There is persuasive evidence of an arranger

. The service is being provided to the custor

. The collection of the fees is reasonably assuned

. The amount of fees to be paid by the customexeifor determinable

The Company has determined that it does not hajeetble and reliable evidence of fair value forleatement of its sales agreements
that contain a subscription to its on-demand apptia service and customer support, professionaicgs, or both. As a result, the elements
within its multiple element sales agreements doquetlify for treatment as separate units of acdagntAccordingly, the Company accounts
fees received under multiple element arrangemendssingle unit of accounting and recognizes thieeearrangement ratably over the term of
the related agreement, commencing upon the latérecfigreement start date or when all revenue réthog criteria have been met. Amounts
that have been invoiced are initially recordeddoaunts receivable and deferred revenue.

The Company will occasionally sell professionalvemes separately from a subscription agreemerdetarmining whether the
professional services can be accounted for sepafeten a subscription agreement, the Company darsithe timing of when the professio
service agreement was signed in comparison touhgcsiption agreement start date and the contrbdependence of the subscription service
on the successful completion of the professionalises. If the Company determines that the profesdiservices do not qualify as a separate
arrangement, and hence a separate unit of accguttiis revenue is amortized over the remainingntef the subscription agreement. If these
professional services do qualify as a separategeraent, the Company recognizes such revenuelwr @ittcompleted contract basis on a time
and materials basis depending on the facts andnagtances behind the underlying agreement. To tregrofessional services qualifying as a
separate unit of accounting have not been material.

Sales and other taxes collected from customerseanited to government authorities are excludethfrevenues.

Deferred Revenui

Deferred revenue consists of billings or paymeetgived in advance of revenue recognition andcisgeized as the revenue recognition
criteria are met. The Company generally invoicegitstomers annually or in monthly or quarterlyatiments. Accordingly, the deferred
revenue balance does not represent the total ebntrlue of annual or multi-year, non-cancelablessuiption agreements. Deferred revenue
that will be recognized during the succeeding 12timgeriod is recorded as current deferred revamdethe remaining portion is recorded as
non-current deferred revenue.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs relateldosting the Company’s on-demand applicatiotesproviding customer support,
data communications expenses, salaries and beagéifserations and support personnel, softwarediedees, costs associated with website
development activities, allocated overhead, amatittn expense associated with capitalized intarsalsoftware and intangible assets and
and equipment depreciation.

Deferred Commission

The Company capitalizes commission costs thatrereinental and directly related to the acquisiibnustomer contracts. Commission
costs are accrued and capitalized upon executitilec$ales contract by the customer. Paymentsrtogra and sales personnel are made sl
after the receipt of the related customer payni2eterred commissions are amortized over the terthefelated non-cancelable customer
contract and are recoverable through the relatedduevenue streams. The Company capitalized cegiom costs of $20.0 million, $20.2
million and $19.7 million during the years endedcBmber 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively. Casian amortization expense was $:
million, $22.7 million and $19.9 million during theears ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 200®:atbsgly.

Internal Use Software and Website Development Ci

The Company capitalizes certain development costsried in connection with its internal use softvand website. These capitalized
costs are primarily related to the integrated bessnmanagement application suite that is hosteédebompany and accessed by its customers
on a subscription basis. Costs incurred in themeary stages of development are expensed asrewt.udnce an application has reached the
development stage, internal and external costhrétt and incremental, are capitalized until thftvgare is substantially complete and ready
its intended use. Capitalization ceases upon cdioplef all substantial testing. The Company alapitalizes costs related to specific upgrades
and enhancements when it is probable the expeerditwvitl result in additional functionality. Capitzéd costs are recorded as part of property
and equipment. Maintenance and training costs)grersed as incurred. Internal use software is anedron a straight line basis over its
estimated useful life, generally three years. Managnt evaluates the useful lives of these asseds amnual basis and tests for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances deaticould impact the recoverability of these asSéisre were no impairments to internal
software during the years ended December 31, 208 and 2009. The Company capitalized $108,0086,$20 and $287,000 in internal
software during the years ended December 31, 28 and 2009, respectively. Amortization expeonsaed $250,000, $254,000 and
$260,000 during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively. The net book valusapftalized internal use software at
December 31, 2008 and 2009 was $503,000 and $49t@¢pectively.
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Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and otimaprehensive income. Other comprehensive incoroengrised of foreign currency
translation gains and losses, net of tax. This i@sbeen excluded from net loss and is reflectet@ad in stockholders’ equity. The
Company’s comprehensive loss was as follows fop#r@ds presented:

Year end December 31

2007 2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Net loss $(24,52() $(16,96() $(24,11)
Other comprehensive inconr
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netxdg 25¢ 282 301
Comprehensive los (24,262) (16,679 (23,81)
Less: comprehensive loss attributable to noncdimgpinteresi 614 93t 82¢€
Comprehensive loss attributable to NetSuite $(23,64%) $(15,749) $(22,98%)

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet asd liability approach. Deferred income taxdkeot the impact of temporary
differences between assets and liabilities recaeghfar financial reporting purposes and amountsgeized for income tax reporting purposes,
net operating loss carryforwards and other taxitgedeasured by applying currently enacted tax lafeduation allowances are provided when
necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to an amhatiis more likely than not to be realized.

Compliance with income tax regulations requires@oenpany to make decisions relating to the transfieing of revenue and expenses
between each of its legal entities that are locatesgtveral countries. The Company’s determinatinokide many decisions based on
management’s knowledge of the underlying assetiseobusiness, the legal ownership of these assadsghe ultimate transactions conducted
with customers and other third parties. The catoutaof the Company’s tax liabilities involves dieg with uncertainties in the application of
complex tax regulations in multiple tax jurisdict®&d The Company may be periodically reviewed by elstin and foreign tax authorities
regarding the amount of taxes due. These reviewsimeéude questions regarding the timing and amadinkeductions and the allocation of
income among various tax jurisdictions. In evalugtihe exposure associated with various filing fomss$, the Company records estimated
reserves when it is more likely than not that aceutain tax position will not be sustained uponrexeation by a taxing authority. Such
estimates are subject to change. See Note 15ffomation regarding the impact of the Company’soaicting for uncertainty in income taxes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmegmischased with a remaining maturity of three mertthless to be cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are comprised of investments imepnanarket mutual funds. Cash and cash equivadeatsecorded at cost, which
approximates fair value.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiak&sand liabilities, including cash, accounts realglie, and accounts payable
approximate fair value due to the short maturitiesariable rates of these instruments.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company records goodwill when considerationl jan purchase acquisition exceeds the fair vafuke net tangible assets and the
identified intangible assets acquired. Goodwilhéd amortized, but rather is tested for impairnsmtually or more frequently if facts and
circumstances warrant a review. The Company hasméted that there is a single reporting unit fag purpose of goodwill impairment tests.
For purposes of assessing the impairment of gogdivl Company annually estimates the fair valuthefreporting unit and compared this
amount to the carrying value of the reporting ulfithe Company determines that the carrying valiihe reporting unit exceeds its fair value,
an impairment charge would be required. Duringftheeth quarter of 2009, the Company completedrtsual impairment test of goodwiill.
Based upon that evaluation the Company determimegtdts goodwill was not impaired at December 310®

Other intangible assets, consisting of developelnelogy, tradename and customer relationshipsstated at cost less accumulated
amortization. All other intangible assets have baetermined to have definite lives and are amadtize a straight-line basis over their
estimated remaining economic lives, ranging frora ttnseven years.

Long-lived Assets

The Company continually monitors events and chairgescumstances that could indicate that carrgngunts of its long-lived assets,
including property and equipment and intangibleetssmiay not be recoverable. When such events ogelsan circumstances occur, the
Company assesses the recoverability of long-lissgs by determining whether the carrying valuguch assets will be recovered through
their undiscounted expected future cash flow. éffiture undiscounted cash flow is less than theyicey amount of these assets, the Company
recognizes an impairment loss based on the exé#iss oarrying amount over the fair value of theeds. The Company did not recognize any
impairment charges on its long-lived assets duttiegyear ended December 31, 2009.

Leases

The Company leases worldwide facilities and certdiirer equipment under non-cancelable lease agréeniehe terms of certain lease
agreements provide for rental payments on a graduzsis. The Company recognizes rent expenseeasirtight line basis over the lease
period and accrues for rent expense incurred bupaid.

Under certain leases, the Company also receivedbresements for leasehold improvements. These tegainents are lease incentives
which are recognized as a liability and are amedian a straight line basis over the term of thsdeas a component of minimum rental
expense. The leasehold improvements are includptbjperty, plant and equipment and are amortizest the shorter of the estimated useful
life of the improvements or the lease term.

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciasaromputed on a straiglite basit
over the estimated asset lives. The estimated lusefa by asset classification are generally doves:

Asset classificatior Estimated useful life
Office equipmen 3 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years
Computers 3 years

Software, perpetual licen: 3 years

Software, license with stated te Term of the licens
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Amortization of leasehold improvements is compudad straightine basis over the shorter of the lease term eetimated useful live
of the assets. Amortization of leased softwareimmuted on a straight-line basis over the lease ter

Upon retirement or disposition of property and pguént, the cost and related accumulated depregiat®removed from the accounts
and any resulting gain or loss is recognized irothcome.

Warranties and Indemnification

The Company’s on-demand application service iscglpi warranted to perform in a manner consisteitt general industry standards
that are reasonably applicable and materially coedance with the Compars/online help documentation under normal use amgimistances

The Company includes service level commitmentsstoustomers warranting certain levels of uptinialdity and performance and
permitting those customers to receive credits éethent that the Company fails to meet those leVelslate, the Company has not incurred
material costs as a result of such commitmentshaschot accrued any liabilities related to suclgalibns in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

The Company has also agreed to indemnify its dirscnd executive officers for costs associatet aiily fees, expenses, judgments,
fines and settlement amounts incurred by any afelpersons in any action or proceeding to whichadnlgose persons is, or is threatened to
be, made a party by reason of the person’s seag@director or officer, including any action bg tCompany, arising out of that person’s
services as the Company'’s director or officer at fferson’s services provided to any other compaugnterprise at the Company’s request.
The Company maintains director and officer insueatmverage that may enable the Company to recopertin of any future amounts paid.

The Company’s arrangements include provisions imditing customers against liabilities if our prodsiinfringe a third-party’s
intellectual property rights. The Company has notirred any costs as a result of such indemniéinatand has not accrued any liabilities
related to such obligations in the accompanyingleosed consolidated financial statements.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Custars and Suppliers

Financial instruments potentially exposing the Campto concentration of credit risk consist prirtyaof cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and trade accounts receivableCbhgpany maintains an allowance for doubtful accouateivable balances. The allowance is
based upon historical loss patterns, the numbdays that billings are past due and an evaluatidheopotential risk of loss associated with
problem accounts. The Company generally chargesnaibllectible accounts receivable balances wheowats are 120 days patite based ¢
the account’s contractual terms. Credit risk aggiom accounts receivable is mitigated due tddhge number of customers comprising the
Company’s customer base and their dispersion agarfsus industries. At December 31, 2008 and Déeesrl, 2009, there were no
customers that represented more than 10% of thecceunts receivable balance. There were no cussaimet individually exceeded 10% of
the Company’s revenue in any of the periods presemt December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009lleed assets located outside the
United States were not significant.
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Revenue by geographic region, based on the bélddress of the customer, was as follows for thegepresented. The distribution
rights revenues referred to in Note 8, totalingd$8illion, $6.1 million and $2.1 million the yeagsded December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009,
respectively, are included in the totals for theekivas.

Year ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)

Americas $ 89,34¢ $123,42¢ $135,75:

International 19,19: 29,04’ 30,78¢

Total revenue $108,54: $152,47¢ $ 166,54(

No single country outside the United States reprtesemore than 10% of revenue during the yearsceBeéeember 31, 2007, 2008 or
2009.

The Company maintains cash balances at severasbAokounts located in the United States are imshyethe Federal Deposit Insura
Corporation (“FDIC"), up to $250,000. Certain opérg cash accounts may exceed the FDIC limits.

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties

The Company participates in a dynamic high techmpladustry and believes that changes in any ofdhewing areas could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s futurarfoial position, results of operations or cash ioadvances and trends in new technologies
and industry standards; pressures resulting fromapplications offered by competitors; changesanain strategic relationships or customer
relationships; litigation or claims against the Gamy based on intellectual property, patent, prodegulatory or other factors; risk associated
with changes in domestic and international econanijgolitical conditions or regulations; availabjlof necessary product components; ant
Company’s ability to attract and retain employeesassary to support its growth.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar is the reporting currency for alipds presented. The financial information foriteg# outside the United States is
measured in their functional currency which, defpeg@n circumstances, may either be the local cggrer the U.S. dollar. NetSuite transle
the financial statements of consolidated entitieese functional currency is not the U.S. dollaoibtS. dollars. NetSuite translates assets and
liabilities at the exchange rate in effect as effinancial statement date and translates stateofi@perations accounts using the average
exchange rate for the period. Exchange rate diffage resulting from translation adjustments areatied for as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income. Gains or losses, whethéized or unrealized, due to transactions irifm currencies are reflected in the
consolidated statements of operations under tleeitim other expense. The Company recognized ragfocurrency gains / (losses) of
$256,000, $(1.0) million and $(312,000) during ylear ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, rtespgc

Advertising Expenst

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiagiexpense was $0.9 million, $2.0 million and3$iillion for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accountedgtions granted to employees and directors usiagntrinsic value based method
based on the difference, if any, between the egtidnfair value of the Company’s common stock armdetkercise price on the date of grant. All
options granted were intended to be exercisaldepaice per share not less than fair market valubeoshares of the Compasytommon stoc
underlying those options on their respective dafeggant. The Company’s Board of Directors detemdithese exercise prices in good faith
based on the best information available to the Gowis Board of Directors and its management atithe of the grant. Certain options were
subject to variable accounting during 2007.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopteddinealue method for recording stock-based comatas for new awards granted,
modified, repurchased or cancelled, after the adppmtate. The Company recognizes compensation fryrstsvards with only service
conditions that include graded vesting featurea straight-line basis over the requisite serviagopefor the entire awards. As a result of
independent sales of common stock in February 20@7Company performed a retrospective calculatfathe fair value of option grants me
since January 1, 2006.

In November 2007, the Company entered into amentihteroutstanding stock options with two of its rahexecutive officers
increasing the exercise prices of certain stoclooptsubject to variable accounting. This actisuled in a substantive modification and at the
date of this modification the intrinsic value ambwmas fixed, and will be recognized as stock conspéion expense over the remaining service
period.

Under the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2007PJla the Company has granted selected executeéother key employees
performance share units (“PSUs”) whose vestingigingent upon meeting companywide performancesyaaiforfeited PSUs will vest in
three equal annual tranches over the service pértoelfair value of each PSU grant was determirgesbth on the fair value of the underlying
shares on the date of grant. The compensatiorfaoigte PSUs will be recognized over the vestindqakof those awards. Compensation costs
for each tranche of the PSUs will be recognized tive vesting period for those individual tranches.

On June 20, 2009, the Company completed a stoaropkxchange program (the “exchange program”) peatitted the Company’s
eligible employees to exchange certain outstansiogk options (the options eligible for the exchapgogram are referred to herein as
“eligible options”) with an exercise price greatiean or equal to $13.11, which was 120% of theiestpprice of the Company’s common stock
approximately one week before the May 20, 2009daufate of the exchange program. In determiningtbek-based-compensation to be
recognized for the new equity awards, the Compaay required to determine the fair value of the earged options immediately prior to the
exchange. The Company used the Binomial-Latticeimimodel to determine the fair value of the exajel options and the incremental
compensation costs of the fair value of the newtgguvards issued over those exchanged will begeized over the vesting term of the new
awards.

The Company accounts for compensation expenseddatstock options granted to consultants and othe-employees based on the
fair values estimated using the Black-Scholes modéhe date of grant and re-measured at eachtirgpdiate over the performance period.
The compensation expense is amortized using thgktrline method over the related service term.

The Company issues new shares of its common siook the exercise of stock options and the vestingsiricted stock, RSUs and
PSUs.
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Net Loss Per Common Shal

Basic net loss per common share is computed bylidiyinet loss attributable to NetSuite Inc. comrmatotkholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding dtiréhgeriod less the weighted-average number ofsiadecommon shares subject to the
Company'’s right of repurchase. Diluted net lossquenmon share is computed by giving effect to ateptial dilutive common shares,
including options, common stock subject to repusehavarrants and convertible preferred stock. Basitdiluted net loss per common share
was the same for all periods presented as the ingpadl potentially dilutive securities outstandiwas anti-dilutive.

Note 3. Business Combinations—Acquisition of Quick&kow

On July 24, 2009, the Company acquired all of thistanding share capital of QuickArrow Inc. (“Quigkow”), for initial aggregate
consideration of approximately $19.4 million (th@uickArrow Consideration”) gross of acquired cabtansaction costs of $1.7 million were
expensed as part of the acquisition and were iedund general and administrative operating expenses

QuickArrow develops and markets cloud computingisohs for professional services businesses. Quickwill be integrated into
NetSuites OpenAir product line. This acquisition is expetto further advance NetSuite’s creation of agexteration cloud computing
application suite for services-based companies.

As a result of the transaction, QuickArrow becanvehally-owned subsidiary of the Company. The resaftQuickArrow’s operations
have been included in the consolidated financatkstents since July 24, 2009, the date of thengosi the acquisition.

The Company has recorded goodwill in its consofiddinancial statements in connection with the &itjon of QuickArrow. Goodwill
represents the excess of the purchase price owéaittvalue of the underlying acquired net tangidhd intangible assets. This amount
represents buyer-specific value resulting from sgies that are not included in the fair valuess¥eds that would not be available to another
likely marketplace buyer. The factors that contrélalito the recognition of goodwill in the acquisitiof QuickArrow included increased
revenues and profits resulting from the potentatross-sell NetSuite’s fully integrated applicatguite to QuickArrow’s clients.
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The allocation of the QuickArrow Consideration he thet assets acquired was as follows:

Tangible asset:

(dollars in thousands

Cash and cash equivalel $ 71C
Accounts receivabl 89t
Other current asse 14Z
Property and equipme 502
Total tangible asse 2,25(
Goodwill 7,26¢
Intangible asset:

Developed technolog 3,32¢
Tradenam 25¢
Customer relationshiy 7,49
Total goodwill and intangible asse 18,34:

Liabilities assumec
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (1,149
Total liabilities assume (1,149
Net assets acquire $ 19,44¢

The estimated economic lives of intangible assetdaur years for developed technology, seven yiearsustomer relationships and one
year for tradename. The Company is also undertakingnalysis of the net operating loss tax atteibaicquired which could result in
adjustment to the purchase price allocation. Tleeatfion of the Consideration may be adjusted upercompletion of that analysis.

Pro forma financial statements for the Companyentiihg the acquisition of QuickArrow have not béecluded as the amounts are not
material to the consolidated financial resultshef Company.

Acquisition of Australian Distributor

On June 25, 2009, the Company acquired the assets dustralian distributor for cash considerattotaling $3.2 million and
forgiveness of accounts receivable of $933,000s &hguisition has been accounted for as a bustoaskination. The Company completed
purchase price allocation for this acquisition dgrthe third quarter of 2009. We have recorded $8®of customer relationship intangible
assets with an estimated economic life of sevensy&6,000 in trade name intangible assets withséimated economic life of one year and
$3.2 million in goodwill related to this acquisitio

Acquisition of OpenAir

On June 4, 2008, the Company acquired all of thstanding share capital of OpenAir for aggregateseration of approximately $3¢
million (the “OpenAir Consideration”). The Considéion consists of the cash consideration paid ter@jr's former stockholders totaling
$33.0 million and other direct transaction cost$2fl million consisting primarily of investmentridang fees and other professional fees. The
cash used in the acquisition was $28.7 million,ai¢#6.1 million in cash and cash equivalents aeglias part of the transaction. The Company
also recorded $127,000 in additional paid in capétated to assumed restricted stock units asultref a change in the price of our common
stock from the date the acquisition was announcebe date the acquisition was completed.
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OpenAir is a provider of on-demand professionavises automation software. NetSuite expects traattguisition of OpenAir will
accelerate the development of NetSuite’s prodymsifically designed for service companies, paldidy project and time-based organizations
in markets such as professional services, busara$s$T consulting, legal, accounting, and governineentracting. As a result of the
transaction, OpenAir became a wholly-owned subsidiithe Company. The results of OpenAir's openagi have been included in the
consolidated financial statements since the datkeotlosing of the acquisition.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pnier the fair value of the underlying acquiretdtaagible and intangible assets. This
amount represents buyer-specific value resultiomfsynergies that are not included in the fair @alaf assets that would not be available to
another likely marketplace buyer. The factors twattributed to the recognition of goodwill in thegaisition of OpenAir included increased
revenues and profits resulting from the expectdthpoement of NetSuite’s application suite throdghihclusion of OpenAir’s functionality
designed specifically for services companies, thteitial to cross-sell NetSuite’s fully integratggplication suite to OpenAir’s clients, as well
as the acquisition of a talented workforce.

The allocation of the OpenAir Consideration to tie assets acquired was as follows:

(dollars in thousands
Tangible asset:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 6,141
Accounts receivabl 1,84«
Other current asse 10¢
Property and equipme 29€
Other nol-current assei 39
Total tangible asse 8,42¢
Goodwill 17,82«
Intangible asset:

Developed technolog 4,50z
Tradenam 528
Customer relationshiy 5,11%
Total goodwill and intangible asse 27,96:

Liabilities assumec
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (1,339
Total liabilities assume (1,339
Net assets acquire $ 35,05¢

Pro forma financial statements for these acquisitisave not been included as the amounts are netialdo the historical consolidated
financial results of the Company.
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Note 4. Financial Instruments
Cash and Cash Equivalents,
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2@D80Q09 consist of:

December 31,
2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Cash $ 9,68¢ $16,18¢
Money Market Mutual Fund 113,94¢ 80,16¢
Cash and cash equivale $123,63t $96,35¢

Restricted Casl

Restricted cash secures letters of credit appligihat the Compang’facility lease agreements in the amount of $5X¥ dhd $520,000
December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively, anctladed in long-term other assets.

Balance Sheet Hedgir—Hedging of Foreign Currency Assets and Liabilities

During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 208%;ompany hedged certain of its foreign denoraethassets and liabilities to
reduce the risk that earnings would be adversédctegfd by changes in exchange rates. The notionalat of derivative instruments acquired
during the period was $35.3 million. The Compangoamts for derivative instruments as either asselisbilities on the balance sheet and
measures them at fair value. Gains and lossesffsogign exchange forward contracts intended to Bedmmfunctional currency denominated
assets and liabilities are recorded each peri@casnponent of other income / (expense) in theal@sed statements of operations. The
derivatives are carried at fair value with chanigethe fair value recorded as other income / (egpgnlhese derivative instruments do not
subject the Company to material balance sheetligkto exchange rate movements because gainsssas lon these derivatives are intended
to offset gains and losses on the assets andtiedbibeing economically hedged. All contracts tiie Company entered into during the period
expired prior to year end and the Company did meehany derivative contracts outstanding as of Bées 31, 2008 or 2009 and there wer:
unrecognized gains or losses on derivative instnisnen either of those dates. The effect of dekieahstruments on the Statement of
Operations was as follows for the periods presented

Amount of net gain / (loss)
recognized in income on

Location derivatives during the year :
Derivatives and of net gain / (loss) recognized ended December 31
forward contracts in income on derivatives 2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Foreign exchange contrac Other income / (expense), $ 40¢< $ (889
Total $ 408 $ (88%)

The Company has entered into all of its foreignhaxge contracts with a single counterparty. Dutivegperiods such contracts are open,
the Company is subject to a potential maximum arnotitoss due to credit risk equal to the gross¥ailue of the derivative instruments if the
counterparty to the instruments failed to complepedrform according to the terms of the contra@tsnerally, we have the right of offset for
gains earned and losses incurred under these agméerur agreements with the counterparty doewptire either party to provide collateral
to mitigate the credit risk of the agreements.

65



Table of Contents

NetSuite Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contirad)

Note 5. Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certain financial assets ataflae on a recurring basis based on a fair vhlagarchy that requires us to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minirttizeuse of unobservable inputs when measuring&ile. A financial instrument’s
categorization within the fair value hierarchy asbd upon the lowest level of input that is sigaifit to the fair value measurement. The three
levels of inputs that may be used to measure &dire:

. Level I—Quoted prices in active markets for identical aseefiabilities.

. Level z—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices suduased prices for similar assets or liabilitiespted prices in marke
with insufficient volume or infrequent transactigffesss active markets); or model-derived valuationghich all significant inputs
are observable or can be derived principally frommarroborated by observable market data for sukistyy the full term of the
assets or liabilities

. Level z—Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology #re significant to the measurement of fair valfiassets o
liabilities.

For certain financial instruments, including casld aash equivalents, short-term investments, a¢soeneivable, accounts payable and
other current liabilities, the carrying amounts @pimate their fair value due to the relatively ghoaturity of these balances.

As of December 31, 2009, financial assets statégiratalue on a recurring basis were comprisethohey market mutual funds included
within cash and equivalents. The fair value of ¢hfssancial assets was determined using the foligvimputs:

Fair value measurements at reporting date using
Quoted prices in

active markets for Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable input:
identical assets
Total (level 1) (level 2) (level 3)
(dollars in thousands)
Cash equivalent $80,16¢ $ 80,16¢ $ — $ —

Note 6. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment as of December 31, 2002@88 consists of:

December 31,

2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)

Computer equipmet $ 16,24( $ 18,65¢
Purchased softwal 8,571 8,96t
Internally developed softwa 3,02¢ 3,28(
Leasehold improvemen 3,881 5,481
Furniture and fixture 1,79: 2,45;
Office equipmen 944 1,08¢
Total property and equipme 34,45t 39,920
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (19,049 (25,199
Property and equipment, r $ 15,41 $ 14,73:
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Depreciation and amortization expense was $3.4amjl$5.3 million and $7.1 million for the yearsden December 31, 2007, 2008 and
2009, respectively.

Note 7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The change in the carrying amount of goodwill tog years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009 weoll@sd:

(dollars in thousands

Balance as of January 1, 2C $ —
Goodwill acquired during ye 17,82«
Balance as of December 31, 2( 17,82«
Goodwill acquired during ye: 10,46¢
Adjustment to goodwill acquired in prior year dgimeasurement peric (195
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 28,09¢

The carrying amount of other intangible assets ag®llows:

As of December 31, 200

Gross Accumulated Net carrying
carrying o
amount amortization amount
(dollars in thousands)
Developed technolog $ 4,50z $ (859 $ 3,64
Tradenam 528 (149 374
Customer relationshif 5,11 (418 4,69¢
Total $10,13¢ $ (1,429 $ 8,71
As of December 31, 2009
Developed technolog $ 7,82¢ $ (2,729 $ 5,102
Tradenam 94C (60€) 334
Customer relationshif 13,30¢ (1,669) 11,637
Total $22,07: $ (4,999 $ 17,07

The total amortization expense for other intangdsisets was $1.6 million and $3.6 million for tle&ss ended December 31, 2008 and
2009, respectively. The weighted average estimadedomic life of other intangibles is 5.5 years. gktization of acquired developed
technology is included in cost of revenue and isdp@mortized over an estimated economic life gfragimately 3.5 years. Amortization of
tradename and customer relationships is includeales and marketing expenses, and is being amdizer periods of approximately 1 and 7
years, respectivel

During 2008 and 2009, the Company recorded $178000554,000, respectively, in amortization expeatsed to the use of certain
intellectual property rights that are includeddong-term assets.
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Future amortization of intangible assets recordedfdecember 31, 2009 is expected to be as follows

(dollars in thousands
Fiscal year ende(

December 31, 201 $ 4.56¢
December 31, 201 3,37¢
December 31, 201 2,732
December 31, 201 2,36¢
December 31, 201 1,901
Thereaftel 2,13

Total $ 17,07:

Note 8. NetSuite Kabushiki Kaisha

In March 2006, the Company formed NetSuite Kabudk#isha (“NetSuite KK”), a subsidiary of the Conmyain order to market and
sell applications and services of the Company padaThe Company and NetSuite KK entered into &ibigion Agreement in which the
Company granted NetSuite KK exclusive rights wihpect to the business of providing the Company:demand application service in the
Japanese market.

In 2006, the Company and NetSuite KK entered ihtres purchase agreements, development fund agresarehpreferred reseller
agreement with TCI, MJS and Inspire Corporationelated Japanese firms. Pursuant to the Share &adgreement, those firms acquired a
28% ownership interest in NetSuite KK. Under then of the Development Fund Agreement, the Compaas/required to undertake its best
efforts to provide localization of the Company’s@emand application service for the Japanese mal@bcess that was completed in 2007.
The Preferred Reseller Agreement provides TCI ad& Mith a three-year right and five-year rightpexgively, to distribute the localized on-
demand application service in the Japanese maiketertain favorable pricing terms. The distriloutiagreement with TCI expired during
2009. In conjunction with these agreements, the o and NetSuite KK received $17.0 million fromITi@cluding $1.5 million in prepaid
royalties, $4.1 million from MJS, including $394M prepaid royalties and $807,000 from Inspireg@aation. All of the prepaid royalties
had been used or refunded as of December 31, 2009.

In December 2009, the Company purchased TCI's 28#ecship equity in NetSuite KK for $3.0 million. Bsequent to year end the

Company purchased the remaining ownership equietsuite KK from MJS and Inspire Corporation fggeegate consideration of $1.4
million in cash.

The Company recognized $2.0 million, $6.1 milliord&2.1 million in revenue related to the distribotagreements in the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively ahteunts allocated to the equity investment in Ne¢KK were recorded as equity and
noncontrolling interest. The amount allocated tepaiid royalties was recorded as a distributor aclvam current liabilities.

In conjunction with the agreements with TCI and M{}f8 Company agreed to pay a commission fee todapendent party who
brokered the transaction. This commission paymexs allocated to favorable distribution rights amel €quity investment based on their
relative fair value. The amount allocated to equiis accounted for as an issuance cost and theraualtncated to the distribution rights has
been recorded as deferred commission.
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Note 9. Long-term Debt

On October 31, 2007, the Company entered into pepeasl software license agreement with Oracle USé,, a related party, to license
Oracle database and application server softwasagakith technical support. This license agreenhasta fortypwvo month term that allows t
Company to download an unlimited number of pergdicanses and was financed pursuant to notesdssu®racle USA, Inc. The note bears
interest at a rate of 6.20% per annum. The cuaedtiong-term portions of the note payable, reabide€'Other current liabilities” and “Other
long-term liabilities,” respectively, are as follevior the periods indicated:

December 31,

2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)

Current portior $ 1,44« $ 1,147
Long-term portion 1,142 —

Total lon¢-term debt $ 2,58¢ $ 1,147

The maximum amount outstanding under the notesbdasmillion and $2.6 million during the years edd@ecember 31, 2008 and 20
respectively. The Company repaid principal of $hiflion during both the years ended December 30828hd 2009. Interest payments on
these notes were $251,000 and $167,000, respgectivel

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had a $20ldmsecured line of credit agreement with TakonWees, a related party. There
were no outstanding borrowings on the line of dradiof December 31, 2007 or prior to its expiraiio 2008. Interest expense paid to related
parties on the line of credit were $652,000 duthmgyear ended December 31, 2007. No such expamsedncurred during the years ended
December 31, 2008 or 2009.

Note 10. Lease Commitments

The Company leases computer equipment and purclafisdhre from various parties under capital lesgpeements that expire through
April 2010. The total amount financed under thesgital leases was $684,000 at both December 3B 200 2009. Accumulated amortization
on those leases was $396,000 and $644,000 at Dec&hp2008 and 2009, respectively. Amortizatiomssets recorded under the capital
lease is included in depreciation expense. Theentiand long-term portions of the capital lease®een recorded in “Other current
liabilities” and “Other long-term liabilities,” rggectively on the consolidated balance sheets. Tiremnt and long-term portions of capital lease
were as follows:

December 31
2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Current portior $ 15t $ 4C
Long-term portion 79 —
Total lon¢-term debt $ 234 $ 4C

The Company also has several non-cancelable opglatises, primarily for its facilities, that expthrough 2014. Certain of these leases
contain renewal options for periods ranging froro te five years and require the Company to pagxalcutory costs such as maintenance,
taxes, and insurance. The Company’s corporate lieaidys is located in San Mateo, California andhdease expires in 2012. In addition, the
Company also leases office space elsewhere in t8edd well as in the United Kingdom, Canada, Siogs,
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Philippines, Hong Kong, Australia, and Japan, @xgion various dates through 2014. Minimum rentrpagts under operating leases are
recognized on a straight-line basis over the tefrthelease including any periods of free rent eextt concessions.

Future minimum lease payments under ganeelable operating leases (with initial or rermgjriease terms in excess of one year) an
future minimum capital lease payments as of Decerdbe2009 are as follows:

Capital Operating
leases leases
(dollars in thousands)

Years endec

2010 $ 4 $ 7,19
2011 — 6,64¢
2012 — 4,67¢
2013 — 1,64
2014 — 17€
Thereaftel — —
Future minimum lease paymel 41 $ 20,33¢
Amount representing intere 1

Present value of future minimum lease paym $ 40

Rental expense for operating leases, net of subieasme, was $2.8 million, $5.5 million and $6.8lion for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectivelyledsb income was $293,000, $423,000 and $275,0@0dee same periods, respectively.

Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies
Sales and Use Taxe

Prior to the first quarter of 2007, the Company miid collect sales and use taxes from its custorBarsed on the services provided to
customers in certain states, and subsequent résefafte applicable statutes, regulations, ruliagd other authority, the Company determined
that it was both probable and estimable that the@my owed uncollected sales and use tax in vastaies and local jurisdictions.
Accordingly, the Company provided for that liakjlduring 2007, including applicable penalties ameiiest that were considered reasonably
estimable. During 2008, the Company made settlepayrhents in several states that resulted in actextuof the amount of the liability. Sal
tax liabilities totaled $1.1 million as of Decemisdr, 2008 and $1.4 million as of December 31, 2009.

Legal Proceeding:

As of December 31, 2009, the Company was not sutgjeany material legal proceedings. From timedrteet however, the Company is
named as a defendant in legal actions arising frormal business activities with customers, vendos$ partners. Although the Company
cannot accurately predict the amount of its ligilif any, that could arise with respect to cuthepending legal actions, it is not expected that
any such liability will have a material adverseeeffon the Company'’s financial position, operatiegults or cash flows.
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Note 12. Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholde’ Equity
Common Stock and Preferred Stock Authorized Shares

During the quarter ended December 31, 2007 andsacgation with the initial public offering, the @pany re-incorporated in the State
of Delaware and amended its post initial publiedffg certificate of incorporation to set the autbed capital stock of the Company at
525,000,000 at a par value of $0.01 per share, deatpof 500,000,000 shares of common stock ar@DR3)00 of preferred stock. Each share
of common stock entitles the holder thereof to woie on each matter submitted to a vote at anyingeef stockholders.

Initial Public Offering

In December 2007, the Company completed the sa#e766,000 shares of common stock, which includeauhderwriterséxercise of a
over-allotment option, at a price of $26.00 a shArtotal of $175.9 million in gross proceeds waised in this initial offering. After deducting
the underwriting discount of $10.1 million, andefhg expenses of $3.9 million, net proceeds wag1%® million.

Preferred Stock

In December 2007, the Company completed its intiddlic offering and converted all 33.8 million feed shares that were previously
outstanding into 44.7 million shares of common ktiacaccordance with the terms of such instruments.

After the consummation of the Company’s initial paloffering in December 2007 and the filing of tBempany’s amended and restated
certificate of incorporation, the Company’s Boafdirectors has the authority, without further actiby stockholders, to issue up to
25,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or rseries, to fix the number of shares of any sudesand the designation thereof and to fix
the rights, preferences, privileges and restrigtigranted to or imposed upon such preferred stockiding dividend rights, dividend rate,
conversion rights, voting rights, rights and tewhsedemption, redemption prices, liquidation prefee and sinking fund terms, any or all of
which may be greater than or senior to the rights@® common stock. The issuance of preferred stocitd adversely affect the voting power
of holders of common stock and reduce the likelthtiaat such holders will receive dividend paymemd payments upon liquidation. Such
issuance could have the effect of decreasing thikahprice of the common stock. The issuance digpred stock or even the ability to issue
preferred stock could have the effect of delaydegerring or preventing a change in control. At ®aber 31, 2008 and 2009, no shares of
preferred stock were outstanding.

Common Stock Warrants

In June 2000, in conjunction with an equipmentdedise Company issued warrants with a contracifieadt 10 years to a lender to
purchase 1,633 shares of Series C preferred st&bz026 per share. The warrants were not exefeisof December 19, 2007, the date o
initial public offering, and subsequently becamereisable for 9,522 shares of common stock witkxarcise price of $7.88 per share. The
value of the warrants was estimated on the daggaoft and amortized over the nimenth term of the equipment lease. The warrante fdly
vested and exercisable at the date of grant. Tlwas@nts remain unexercised at December 31, 2009.

Notes Receivable from Stockholde

In October 2005, 4,359,444 shares of common stk wesued to officers of the Company upon exemfistock options in exchange
full-recourse promissory notes. The stock opti@ssiéd to these officers were
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modified by the Company’s Board of Directors in /a2005 to allow exercise pursuant to promissotgsthat are at least 51% recourse.
These notes bore interest at a rate of 5% annaatlywere repaid in 2007.

The shares were restricted and their restrictiapsdd on a graded basis as the employee perfoengdes for the Company over a four-
year period. Restricted shares are subject to cepge by the Company at the original issue pri¢hérevent the employee terminates pric
vesting. For accounting purposes, the restrictagdeshof common stock are not deemed to be issu@dherestriction lapses because the
employee does not bear the risks and rewards o slvenership until such time. Consequently, unwkesteres are excluded from the shares of
common stock outstanding at each balance sheetaddtthe earnings per share computation for eageotive period.

As a result of the modification noted above andeitihe 5% interest rate on each note was deternmneat represent a market rate at the
time the shares vest, the fair value of the notay fiuctuate and differ from the stated exercidegoof the shares at each vesting date.
Accordingly, each award was subject to variableanting whereby compensation cost was measurdteasxtess of the fair value of the
shares over the fair value of the notes until tieras vest.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Compmayded compensation expense for these share® & @illion. No such
compensation expense was recorded in 2008 or 2009.

In December 2006, additional full-recourse pronigswtes were issued with the same terms as deskcabove in exchange for the
exercise of stock options by officers and employ@aswith the promissory notes issued in 2005,ittiterest rate was deemed to be lower than
the market rate at the date of issuance. Accorgirsbck compensation was recorded based on a izetétih of terms and is being amortized
over the remaining requisite vesting period. Congéon cost related to these restricted sharesmafron stock for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 was immaterial.

During the year ended December 31, 2007 all natesivable from stockholders, totaling $4.4 milliaoluding accrued interest, were
repaid to the Company.

Note 13. Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based Plans

The Company maintains the 2007 Plan for the purpbgeanting incentive stock options, nonstatutstigck options, RSUs, stock
appreciation rights, PSUs, and performance shari¢gs émployees and directors. Additionally the @amy has an additional plan, the 1999
Stock Plan (“the 1999 Plan”), with options outstiaggdrom which it will not grant any additional avds. The Company has also assumed
unvested RSUs issued under a plan maintained byApprior to their acquisition on June 4, 2008.

The 2007 Plan, adopted by the Company’s Board @dors in June 2007 and effective in December 2@&érved 2,375,000 shares of
common stock for issuance under the plan. As oebdaer 31, 2009, 1,554,488 options remained avaifalfuture grants under the 2007
Plan. Options cancelled under the 1999 Plan aredatidthe shares available for issuance under@fé Plan when those cancellations occur.
The 2007 Plan also provides for annual increasésimumber of shares available for issuance ofirteday of each fiscal year equal to the
lower of a) 9,000,000 shares of the Company’s comatock; b) 3.5% of the Company’s aggregate comstock outstanding plus common
stock issuable pursuant to outstanding awards uhdeCompany’s equity plans; or ¢) such other arhearthe Board of Directors may
determine. The assumption of the RSUs issued by@ipeid not impact the number of shares availdbtegrant under the 2007 plan.
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The exercise price for options granted under tH#9an and the 2007 Plan is the fair market vafuen underlying share of common
stock on the date of grant. If an optionee, atithe the option is granted, owns stock totaling enttkan 10% of the total combined voting ric
of all classes of stock of the Company (a “10% Ow)n¢he exercise price for such options will na less than 110% of the fair value of an
underlying share of common stock on the date afitg@ptions generally vest over a four year peend have a term of 10 years from the date
of grant. Options granted under the 2007 Plan # Ovners have a maximum term of 5 years.

The Company issues new shares of common stock theoexercise of stock options, the granting ofrietstd stock and the vesting of
RSUs and PSUs.

During 2009 the Company granted selected execusindther key employees PSUs whose vesting wasigent upon meeting
companywide performance goals; 30% of the shares vantingent on meeting 2009 revenue goals, 308teoghares were contingent on
meeting 2009 incremental sales goals, 30% of theeshwere contingent upon meeting 2009 goals fmmaGAAP measure of net income and
10% were contingent upon meeting 2009 non-GAAP oreasf operating cash flows. As of December 31 9200anagement determined that
the Company met some or all of the goals in eatdgoay. Upon this determination 26% of the PSUsaxerfeited for failure to achieve
certain of the goal. The remainder of the PSUssabgect to term vesting conditions.

During 2008 the Company granted selected execusindsother key employees PSUs whose vesting wdsigent upon meeting
companywide performance goals; 50% of the shares e@ntingent on meeting 2008 revenue goals and&Qbe shares were contingent
upon meeting 2008 goals for a nGAAP measure of net income. As of December 31, 20Ghagement determined that the Company mu
goal for the non-GAAP measure of net income bdidtnot meet the goal for revenue.

Unforfeited PSU’s will vest in three equal annuahiches over the service period. The fair valueach PSU grant was estimated on the
date of grant using the same model used for RSatgtepl under the 2007 Plan. The compensation cogtddSUs will be recognized over the
vesting period of those awards. Compensation dostsach tranche of the PSUs will be recognized tive vesting period for those individual
tranches.

In November 2007, the Company entered into amentihteroutstanding stock options with two of its rahexecutive officers
increasing the exercise prices of certain stoclooptsubject to variable accounting. This actisuled in a substantive modification and at the
date of this modification the intrinsic value ambwmas fixed, and was recognized as stock compamsakipense over the remaining service
period.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2009, all outstandiogksbased payment awards qualified for classificads equity.

Exchange Programr

On June 20, 2009, the Company completed a stoaropxchange program (the “exchange program”) peatitted the Company’s
eligible employees to exchange certain outstansiiogk options (the options eligible for the exchapgogram are referred to here as “eligible
options”) with an exercise price greater than arad¢dgo $13.11, which was 120% of the closing pdtéhe Company’s common stock
approximately one week before the May 20, 2009dautate of the exchange program. The Company sethteshold to ensure that only
outstanding stock options that were substantiallyderwater” (meaning the exercise prices of théoaptare greater than the Company’s
current stock price) were eligible for exchangeemtie exchange program.

Employees who participated in the exchange progexitept the executive officers, received 0.5 regd stock units for each share
underlying an exchanged option. Executive officgh® participated in the exchange
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program instead received a new option at ratiogirgnfrom 0.64 to 0.88 new options for each shaideulying an exchanged option. This ratio
was based on (a) the number of shares underlyagption exchanged multiplied by (b) an exchangje st at a value to equal value ratio.
The contractual term of the new equity awards wastical to the remaining term of the exchangedibapt

Information about the options exchanged under xichange program was as follows:

Weighted
average
exercise New options ot
price of Strike price
exchange restricted stock of new stocl
Options
Employee group exchanged options New equity award type units options
Executive officers 470,01: $ 17.3¢ Stock options 387,36( $ 10.6:
All other eligible employee 1,263,80. $ 17.4% Restricted stock uni 632,10(
Total 1,733,811 $ 17.4:

In determining the stock-based-compensation tebegnized for the new equity awards, the Compars/required to determine the fair
value of the exchanged options immediately prichtoexchange. The Company used the Binomial-leafticcing model to determine the fair
value of the exchanged options and the incrementabensation costs of the fair value of the newitg@wards issued over those exchanged
will be recognized over the vesting term of the reevards.

Stock Options
A summary of the Company’s stock option activityidg the year ended December 31, 2009 was as feilow
Weighted-
Weighted- average
average remaining
exercise price contractual Aggregate
Shares per share term (in years) intrinsic value
(dollars and shares in thousands, except per shasmounts)
Outstanding at January 1, 2C 8,224 $ 7.8¢
Granted 1,37¢ $ 12.3¢
Exercisec (2,479 $ 3.0¢
Cancelled and forfeite (1,999 $ 16.41
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 6,12¢ $ 7.2 15 $ 54,42
Vested and expected to vi 5,68¢ $ 6.81 6.3 $ 25,90t
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 4,65 $ 4.5¢ 4.7 $ 48,917

The total intrinsic value of the options exercisess $5.2 million during the year ended Decembe280y, $10.0 million during the year
ended December 31, 2008 and $12.9 million duriegytrar ended December 31, 2009.

As of December 31, 2009, there was $21.7 milliototdl unrecognized compensation cost, net of egéichforfeitures, related to stock
option grants that are expected to be recognized @weighted-average period of 2.5 years.
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The Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing modeéétermine the fair value of stock options. The Vailue of each option grant is
estimated on the date of the grant. The weightexla@ye grant date fair value of options grantedthadange of assumptions using the model
are as follows for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009
Weightec-average fair value of options grant $ 8.9t $10.2¢ $ 7.6%
Expected term (in year 5.7 6.1 6.1
Expected volatility 52% 57% 61%
Risk-free interest rat 4.27% 3.2% 2.7%
Dividend yield none none none

The assumptions are based on the following for e&the years presented.
Expected TernmThe Company utilized the midpoint between vestiatpdind contractual expiration date to determimeeted term.

Volatility. Since the Company is a newly public entity withitexd historical data regarding the volatility of twn common stock price,
the expected volatility being used is based oreadbf the Company’s implied volatility and thetbigcal and implied volatility of comparable
companies from a representative industry peer group

Risk Free Interest Rat&he risk free interest rate is based on U.S. Tmgamero coupon issues with remaining terms sintdahe
expected term on the options.

Dividend YieldThe Company has never declared or paid any cagifiedids and does not plan to pay cash dividendseifidreseeable
future, and, therefore, used an expected dividégld pf zero in the valuation model.

Forfeitures.The Company estimates forfeitures at the time ahgand revises those estimates in subsequentipafiactual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. The Company uses fiigsticdata to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures sembrds stock-based compensation expense
only for those awards that are expected to vesstatk-based payment awards are amortized ora@istrline basis over the requisite service
periods of the awards, which are generally theinggieriods. If the Company’s actual forfeitureerag materially different from its estimate,
the stock-based compensation expense could bdis#gniy different from what the Company has re@atdn the current period.

Restricted Stock Units, Restricted Stock and Penfiance Share Unit:
A summary of the Company’s RSU, restricted stoak RBU activity during the year ended December 8092s as follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- average
average grant remaining
date fair value contractual Aggregate
Shares per share term (in years) intrinsic value
(dollars and shares in thousands, except per shaanounts)
Nonvested at January 1, 20 1,344 $ 18.01
Granted 2,60t $ 12.3¢
Vested (691) $ 12.8¢
Cancelled and forfeite (255 $ 18.9i
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 3,00: $ 15.8¢ 14 $ 47,99
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Compensation expense for RSUs, restricted stockP&idk is determined based on the value of the lyinigishares on the date of grant.
Compensation expense for RSUs assumed as a pihe GfpenAir acquisition was determined based owvalhge of the underlying shares on
the date of the acquisition. As of December 3192@8ere was $39.6 million of total unrecognizechpensation cost, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to RSUs, restricted stock BSdUs that is expected to be recognized over a welghverage period of 1.4 years.

Reserved for Future Issuanc
The Company has reserved the following sharesthibaized but unissued common stock for future issea

As of
December 31, 2009
(shares in thousands

Options outstandin 6,12¢
RSUs and restricted stock awards outstan 3,00¢
Warrants outstandin 10
Shares available for future grau 1,55¢

10,69¢

Total

Note 14. Other Employee Benefits Plans

The Company has a retirement plan (“the Plan”) toakrs substantially all employees of the Compaimg Plan allows employees to
contribute gross salary through payroll deductiopso the legally mandated limit in each jurisdicti

During the years ended 2007, 2008 and part of 2808e United States, Canada, the United Kingdath/Australia, the Company has
made matching contributions equal to 34% of defewatributions, up to $3,570 per employee per ybkatching contributions were
suspended in the United States and Canada durb® Z&ie Company contributed $836,000, $1.2 mildod $531,000 to the Plan for the y«

ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respsctivel

The Company will also be responsible for makingametlly mandated pension plan payments for the eygels of NetSuite Philippines.
These payments will not begin until 2011, and areexpected to have a material effect on the Coryipdimancial position, operating results

or cash flows.
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Note 15. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes consists of theofelhg:

Loss before income taxes and noncontrolling inte
Domestic
Foreign
Total
Current taxes
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current taxe
Deferred taxes
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred taxe
Total

Year ended December 31
2007 2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)

$(23,59)  $(14,79)  $(23,08¢)
(195) (1,119 (386)
$(23,780)  $(15,909  $(23,47)
$ — $ — $ —
— — 204
734 1,20¢ 67t
734 1,20¢ 87¢
$ — $ — —
— (147) (239)
— (147) (239)
$ 734 $ 105 $ 64C

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal inu® tax rate to the Company'’s effective income tag s as follows:

Federal statutory income tax ri
State tax, net of federal bene
Foreign rate differentic
Stock options
Research and development cre
Meals and entertainme
Other permanent differen:
Valuation allowanct

Effective income tax rat

Year ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009

-35.0(%  -35.0(% -35.0(%
-1.2% -7.66% -0.6€%
1.6%% -1.5(% -0.3$%
10.81% 7.12% 0.25%
-0.98% -2.4% 0.0(%
0.67% 0.7¢% 0.2(%
-0.1% -1.0(% 1.6€%
27.32% 46.41% 36.6€%

3.0€% 6.64% 2.72%
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Net deferred tax assets consist of the following:

December 31,
2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Property and equipme $ 8 $ (87
Deferred revenu 4,75k 3,33¢
Other reserves and accru 4,88 5,82¢
Stock options 11,00: 12,82(
Federal operating loss carryforwal 65,52: 69,54¢
State and foreign net operating loss carryforw. 11,19¢ 12,60«
Research and development cre 4,82¢ 3,832
Deferred tax asse 102,20( 107,88:
Deferred tax liabilities
Acquired intangible asse $ (3,537 $ (6,409
Tax deductible goodwi — (359
Deferred tax liabilitie: (3,53)) (6,449
Net deferred tax assets, before valuation allow: 98,66: 101,43t
Valuation allowanct (98,53)) (101,04)
Net deferred tax asse $ 132 397

As a result of continuing losses, management hisrdaned that it is more likely than not that then@pany will not realize the benefits
its domestic deferred tax assets and thereforedtasded a valuation allowance to reduce the aagryalue of these deferred tax assets to :
As a result, the valuation allowance on our neerdefl tax assets increased by $2.5 million dutiegyear ended December 31, 2009.

The Company considers all undistributed earningtsdbreign subsidiaries to be permanently inveé&teforeign operations.
Accordingly, no deferred tax liabilities have beenorded in this regard.

Deferred income taxes have not been provided onndestributed earnings of foreign subsidiariese @mount of such earnings at
December 31, 2009 was $3.2 million. These earriiage been permanently reinvested and the Compas/rtut plan to initiate any action
that would precipitate the payment of income takeseon. It is not practicable to estimate the amhofiadditional tax that might be payable
the undistributed foreign earnings.

During 2009, the Company recorded no tax beneditged to stock-based compensations that was edettitstockholder’s equity during
the year.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had approeimn&198.7 million of federal and $141.9 million sthte net operating loss
carryforwards available to offset future taxableame, respectively. The federal net operating éass/forwards expire in varying amounts
between 2018 and 2029. The California net operatisg carryforwards expire in varying amounts betw2010 and 2028. The net operating
losses include $83,000 relating to the tax bewnéfitock option exercises that, when realized, beélrecorded as a credit to additional paid-in
capital.

The Company also had approximately $2.6 milliofiedferal and $1.8 million of state research and ldgweent tax credit carryforwards
for 2009, and $52,100 of Manufacturer Investmemd@rcarryforwards. The
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federal credits expire in varying amounts betwe@t92and 2027. The California research credits d@rpire and the Manufacturer Investrr
Credits for California expire in varying amountsween 2010 and 2013.

The Company’s ability to utilize the net operatlogs and tax credit carryforwards in the future rbaysubject to substantial restriction in
the event of past or future ownership changes fasedkin Section 382 of the Internal Revenue caud similar state tax law. Such annual
limitations could result in the expiration of thetroperating loss and tax credit carryforwards keetdilization.

The Company had gross unrecognized tax benef#2.8f million and $24.4 million at December 31, 2@0®8 December 31, 2009,
respectively. $554,000 of this amount, if recogdiagould affect the Company’s annual effective rabe.

The following table summarizes the activity relatedinrecognized tax benefits for the periods presk

Years ended

December 31,
2008 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Beginning balan—unrecognized tax benefits, grc $ 2,40( $ 2,830
Increase- current year tax positior 432 22,417
Adjustments to brought forward unrecognized taxelbiées — (861)
Ending balanc—unrecognized tax benefits, grc $ 2,832 $ 24,38¢

The state unrecognized tax benefits included isdl@mounts are reported gross instead of net efdedenefit.

The Company does not anticipate either materiahgés in the total amount or composition of its eognized tax benefits within 12
months of the reporting date. The Company accmntesdst and penalties related to unrecognizeddagfiis in income tax expense. No
penalties were accrued in the years ended Dece3ib@008 and 2009 and only an immaterial amounitefest was included in the income
tax provision during 2009.

The Company files federal, state and foreign inctemeeturns in jurisdictions with varying statutgdimitations. Due to its net operati
loss carryforwards, the Company’s income tax retg@nerally remain subject to examination by feldemd most state tax authorities. In most
of our significant foreign jurisdictions, the 208%ough 2008 tax years remain subject to examindtiotheir respective tax authorities. In
addition, the 2004 and 2005 tax years remain op@xamination in a single foreign jurisdiction.
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Note 16. Net Loss Per Common Share
The following table presents the calculation of tibenerator and denominator used in the basic datkdinet loss per common share:

December 31
2007 2008 2009
(dollars and shares in thousands,
except per share amounts)

Numerator:

Net loss attributable to NetSuite Inc. common shadtters $(23,90¢) $(15,869) $(23,309)
Denominator

Weightec-average number of common shares outstar 10,21 60,46/ 61,96(

Less: Weighte-average number of common shares subject to repae (439) (79) (19)

Weightec-average number of common shares outstanding usariputing basic and dilute

net loss per common she 9,774 60,38¢ 61,94.

Net loss per common share, basic and dil $ (2.45 $ (0.26) $ (0.3%)

The Company’s unvested restricted stock and RSUwmtioontain non-forfeitable rights to dividendslatividend equivalents. As such,
unvested shares of restricted stock and RSUs amequoired to be included in the Company’s compaitabf basic and diluted net loss per
common share.

Outstanding common stock owned by employees an@duo repurchase by the Company is not includetié calculation of the
weighted-average shares outstanding for basicregsmer share.

The following table presents the weighted averagengial shares that are excluded from the comjputatf diluted net loss per common
share for the periods presented because inclubdam twould have had an anti-dilutive effect:

December 31
2007 2008 2009
(in thousands)

Options to purchase shares of common s 8,23¢ 8,33¢ 7,03
Unvested RS’s 5 524 2,36¢
Warrants to purchase shares of common < 10 10 10
Common stock subject to repurchi 11€ 79 19

Total 8,36f 8,947 9,42¢

Note 17. Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into various softwaredieeagreements with Oracle USA, Inc., an affilid&t®mcle Corporation. Lawrence J.
Ellison, who beneficially owns a majority of the i@pany’s common stock, is the Chief Executive Officerfiagipal stockholder and a direc
of Oracle Corporation. In April 2005, we enteretbia perpetual license for the use of Oracle dambad application server software on a
certain number of individual computers, along wébhnical support. Under the April 2005 agreemtiret,Company paid $2.5 million over n
installments, including the final buyout paymenhigh occurred on June 19, 2007. In May 2007, then@my entered into another software
license agreement with Oracle USA, Inc. to liceB®sacle software for an additional number of commytalong with technical support. The
May 2007 agreement
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calls for payments of $0.9 million over 12 equaadarly installments through 2010. In October 2aG6@, Company entered into another
perpetual software license agreement with Oracl&,Ui&. to license Oracle database and applicatewmer software, along with technical
support. This license has a fottye month term that allows the Company to downlaadinlimited number of perpetual licenses. The Camy
also purchased the initial 12 months of technioab®rt services under the agreement, which waswethén 2008 and is renewable annually.
The October 2007 agreement requires the Compapayt&4.7 million for the net license fees to bedpaier 12 equal quarterly installments
through 2010 and annual payments of $1.4 milliarttie technical support fees. The October 2007eamyeat replaces the support portion of
the product orders made under the April 2005 angl B07 agreements. Certain of these agreementsfimareed through long-term notes
and capital leases described further in Notes 91énd he total payments to Oracle and its affiBateere $1.7 million, $3.4 million and $3.8
million during the years ended December 31, 200082and 2009, respectively.

In November 2005, June 2007 and October 2007, Miditgrg received loans for $250,000, $2.0 millionl £2.5 million with current
interest rates of 4.04%, 4.64% and 2.87%, respelgtifrom an entity affiliated with Lawrence J.iEn. The loans are due in November
2012, June 2013 and October 2012, respectively.obnypensatory elements of the loans provided toGétdberg by the entity affiliated with
Lawrence J. Ellison are recorded as a contributiacepital by related party and compensation expeRise loans to Mr. Goldberg remained
outstanding as of December 31, 2009.

In October 2005, the Company made a loan of $2liBobmio Evan M. Goldberg, its Chief Technology @#r and Chairman of the
Board, with an interest rate of 5.00%. In Februz097, Mr. Goldberg repaid $400,000 owed on the.ltmdune 2007, Mr. Goldberg repaid
remaining $2.0 million owed on the loan from then@pany, which included $200,000 of interest accrihedeon.

As disclosed in Note 9, in September 2005, the Gomntered into a $10.0 million secured line efddragreement with Tako Ventur
a related party. The line of credit was amendddanch 2006 to increase the amount to $20.0 mill&houtstanding balances on the line of
credit were paid off in December 2007. The line@dit expired in February 2008. There were notantiing borrowings on the line of credit
as of December 31, 2007 or at any time during 2008 to its expiration. Interest expense paiddiated parties on the line of credit were
$652,000 during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Commencing in 2004, the Company entered into aatextreement with Oracle Racing, Inc. (“Oracle Rgt), a sailboat racing
syndicate. Lawrence J. Ellison, who beneficiallynswthe Company’s majority stockholder, is the priygreource of funding for Oracle Racing.
Under the terms of the agreement, the Company ddgoesupply certain of its on-demand applicationvises to Oracle Racing in exchange for
logo placement on the sailboats. Based on thengri@r similar licenses to unaffiliated third padj the Company calculated the fair market
value of the services provided to Oracle Racinigg@pproximately $251,000, $241,000 and $250,002367, 2008 and 2009, respectively.
The Company did not obtain an independent valuaifdhe logo placement rights received from Ord&éeing. Based on an estimate received
from Oracle Racing, the Company determined theevafithe logo placement on the sailboat to be agpprately $250,000 to $350,000 per
year during 2007 and 2008 and approximately $780t6%950,000 during 2009. The incremental coghéoCompany of providing -deman
services and the incremental cost to Oracle Ramfipgoviding logo placement rights on the sailb@as nominal. The on-demand application
suite provided to Oracle Racing has been recoraleddcounting purposes at historical cost.

In July 2004, the Company entered into a Licenseefgent with the Oakland Athletics (“the Athletipglith a term of 41 months. The
agreement provided for an upfront payment to thea@any of $50,000 by the Athletics for the use sfoh-demand application services
through November 2007. In December 2006, the
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Company entered into a three-year partnership aggeewith the Athletics. Under the terms of theeggnent, the Company will pay the
Athletics $375,000 over the three-year term ofaheeement for certain sponsorship benefits. Thiseagent also extended the Athletics’ right
to use the Company’s service through December #00% additional consideration from the Athletits April 2008, the Company entered
into a supplemental sponsorship agreement witithketics. Under the terms of the supplemental spoship agreement, the Company will
pay the Athletics $429,000 over the three year tefrthe agreement for certain sponsorship benéfitdpril 2009, the Company entered into
an amendment of its sponsorship agreement undehwithe Company agreed to purchase additional litstasignage for $50,000 per year
through 2011. Total payments to the Athletics hiawen $100,000, $385,000 and $282,000 during thes yemled December 31, 2007, 2008
and 2009, respectively. William L. Beane lll, ther@gral Manager of the Athletics, became a memb#reo€ompany’s Board of Directors in
January 2007.

In August 2004, the Company entered into a liceggeement with FieldGlass Inc. A member of the Camyfs Board of Directors,
Deborah Farrington, is also a member of the Bo&fdi@ctors of FieldGlass Inc. The licensing agreetrhas been renewed, and additional
services have been sold at various points in tidmeler the terms of the agreement, FieldGlass It the Company $115,000, $9,000 and
$196,000 in 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectivelytHeruse of its services.

In March 2005, the Company entered into a busiagesement with Perquest. A member of the Compagad of Directors, Deborah
Farrington, became a member of the Board of Dirsadd Perquest following the commencement of thisifiess agreement. Under the
business agreement, Perquest became the exclasikera payroll service provider for the Companyistomers located in the United States.
Additionally, Perquest’s payroll and tax servicglagation would be accessible to, and availableuse by, the Company’s customers through
the NetSuite application. Under the terms of theament, the Company recognized revenues of $43&00 $565,000 in 2007 and 2008,
respectively, and recognized costs of $346,000638d,000 in 2007 and 2008, respectively. In Nover20€8, the Company purchased
software from Perquest that had previously beemied under the March 2005 agreement for $150T080purchase price included a $39,000
cash payment to Perquest with the remainder apptiathst a $111,000 receivable due NetSuite fromuest. Under the 2008 purchase
agreement the Company recognized revenues of $815/8d costs of $236,000 during 2009.

In August 2006, the Company entered into a liceggeement with SolarwWinds.net, Inc. (“SolarWind®)member of the Company’s
Board of Directors, Kevin Thompson, is SolarWin@siief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officerdaiireasurer. The licensing agreement
has been renewed, and additional services havedméeito SolarWinds at various points in time. lafgh 2009, SolarWinds entered into a-
year renewal of the license agreement and purchedditional professional services for which theyl may the Company $957,000. Under
terms of the agreement, SolarWinds paid the Com@a@2@,000, $538,000 and $622,000 in 2007, 20082808 respectively, for the use of
services.

In August 2006, the Company entered into a liceggeement with a division of MetLife, Inc. (“Metleif). A member of the Company’s
Board of Directors, Catherine R. Kinney, becameeanimer of MetLife’s Board in April 2009. Under therms of the license agreement,
MetLife paid the Company $0, $356,000 and $48,002007, 2008, and 2009 respectively, for the ustsaervices.

In September 2007, the Company entered into areagmet with IRON Solutions LLC under which IRON Sidms became a partner &
reseller of the NetSuite product. In June 2008, NR&blutions was acquired in part by StarVest PastheC. Deborah Farrington, a membe
the Company’s Board of Directors, is also a fougdinincipal of StarVest Partners. IRON Solutiorsodhas a preexisting services agreement
with the Company. During 2008 and 2009, IRON Sohuipaid the Company $59,000 and $102,000 respégctior the use of its services.
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In May 2008, the Company entered into an agreemihtthe San Jose Earthquakes (“the Earthquak&k®.Earthquakes share comn
ownership with the Athletics. Under the terms af #greement, the Company will receive certain sprehgp benefits from the Earthquakes
during 2008 in exchange for the Earthquakes’ usbefCompany’s on-demand application services tiitdday 2009. Based on an estimate
received from the Earthquakes, the Company deteirtine value of the sponsorship benefits to becequpately $112,000.

In 2008, the Company engaged Horn Productionsddumre videos on behalf of the Company. Horn Pradustis owned by the wife of
the Company’s President and Chief Executive Offigachary Nelson. For the years ended Decembe2(88, and 2009 the Company made
payments to Horn Productions totaling $126,000$281000, respectively. The Company also providesifwoductions the right to use the
Company'’s services at no consideration.

Note 18. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the FASB issued new authorgaivdance, EITF 08-1,Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverailes
(FASB ASC 650-25-25) which provides guidance oredatning multiple elements in an arrangement and tatal consideration should be
allocated amongst the elements. It also expandfdisre requirements for multiple-element arranggmeConcurrently, the FASB also issued
new authoritative guidance for arrangements thatide both software and tangible products thatuedes tangible products and certain related
elements from the scope of the revenue recognétighoritative guidance specific to software tratisas. The standards must both be adopted
in the same period and can be applied on a praspdssis for revenue arrangements entered intoaderially modified in fiscal years
beginning on or after June 15, 2010, with earlpglization permitted, or they can be adopted oet@spective basis. We have not yet adopted
the standards. If the Company elects to early atli@pprovisions of this pronouncement during 20ti8, expected to result in an increase in
total revenues during the period. The Company baget determined the amount of increase the adlofti would have on revenue.

Note 19. Subsequent Events

Subsequent to year end the Company purchasedrtzénieg ownership equity in NetSuite KK from MJSldnspire Corporation for
aggregate consideration of $1.4 million in cash.
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ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Iltem 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Management's Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting and Attestation Report of the Registeed Accounting Firm

Our management is responsible for establishingnagidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting (as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Acprtavide reasonable assurance regarding the rétjabflour financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with U.S. generally accepteduating principles.

Management assessed the effectiveness of ourahintrol over financial reporting as of DecemBg&r 2009, the end of our fiscal year.
Management based its assessment on criteria a$tadhlin Internal Control—Integrated Framework isishig the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COS®™anagement’s assessment included evaluation ofegiensuch as the design and
operating effectiveness of key financial reportimaptrols, process documentation, accounting palj@aed our overall control environment.

Based on this assessment, management has conthadedir internal control over financial reportiwgs effective as of the end of the
fiscal year to provide reasonable assurance ragatte reliability of financial reporting and theeparation of financial statements for external
reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. geneaaitepted accounting principles. We reviewed dselts of management’s assessment with
the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

The attestation report concerning the effectiveroésmir internal control over financial reporting af December 31, 2009, issued by
KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accountiirgn, appears in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual BRemn Form 10-K.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation was performed by management, wittptiréicipation of our Chief Executive Officer (“CEand our Chief Financial
Officer (“CFQ”), of the effectiveness of our disslae controls and procedures as of December 38, B80defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d—15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1884amended). Disclosure controls and procedueesoatrols and procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed in our reports filed or submitted undher 1934 Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodsi§ipd in the SEC’s rules and forms. Based on évatuation, our CEO and CFO have
concluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwere effective as of December 31, 2008 to peokgédsonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports thatileeof submit under the Exchange Act is recordedc@ssed, summarized, and reported within
the time periods specified in Securities and Exgea@ommittee rules and forms, and is accumulatdccammunicated to management,
including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to aliovely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during our most recent fiscahger that have materially affected
are reasonably likely to materially affect, oureimtal control over financial reporting.
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Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, doegxymct that our disclosure controls and procedorresir internal controls will
prevent all error and all fraud. A control systera,matter how well conceived and operated, canigeoanly reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control systenmet. Because of the inherent limitations lirc@htrol systems, no evaluation of controls
can provide absolute assurance that all controkssind instances of fraud, if any, within the Camyphave been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgmentglgcision-making can be faulty, and that breakdogarmsoccur because of a simple error or
mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvenbgcthe individual acts of some persons, by collusif two or more people, or by
management override of the control. The desigmygfsystem of controls also is based in part upetaiteassumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurancerthatesign will succeed in achieving its stated gaslder all potential future conditions. Over
time, controls may become inadequate because afjelsan conditions, or the degree of compliancé thie policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitationa gost-effective control system, misstatementstderor or fraud may occur and not be
detected.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

ltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace.
The information required by this item is incorpaeby reference to NetSuite’s Proxy Statementt§o2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§ slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decer@be2009.

The information required by this item concerning executive officers is set forth under the headigecutive Officers of the
Registrant” in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Repornt Form 10-K.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorp@aeby reference to NetSuite’s Proxy Statementt§o2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§ slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decer@be009.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andlanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference to NetSuite’s Proxy Statementtéo2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decer@be009.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships, and Related Transactions, ahDirector Independence.

The information required by this item is incorpaeby reference to NetSuite’s Proxy Statementt§o2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§ slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decerabe009.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service:

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference to NetSuite’s Proxy StatementtéoP010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decer@be009.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements

The financial statements filed as part of this repee listed on the index to financial statememtpage 47.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedule is fikesla part of this Annual Report:

Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Schedule Il
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Additions
Charged tc
Beginning Charged tc deferred Ending
balance operations revenues Write -offs balance

(dollars in thousands)
Trade receivables allowan

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 384 53C 822 (1,157 $ 58t
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 58t T7% 342 (1,117 $ 58¢
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 58¢ 1,69: 1,321 (2,687) $ 921

All other schedules are omitted because they areeqaired or the required information is showha financial statements or notes
thereto.

(c) Exhibits
We have filed, or incorporated into the Report &fgrence, the exhibits listed on the accompanyidgx to Exhibits immediately
following the signature page of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalfi®yundersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on Mag;t2010.

NETSUITE INC.

By: /'s/ ZACHARY N ELSON

Zachary Nelson
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and oré#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/ s/ ZACHARY N ELSON Director, President and Chief Executive Officer March 12, 2010
Zachary Nelson (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ JAMESM C G EEVER Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial a March 12, 201(
James McGeever Accounting Officer)
/sl WiLLiam L. B EANEI Director March 12, 2010

William L. Beane IlI

/'s/ DEBORAHA. F ARRINGTON Director March 12, 2010
Deborah A. Farrington

/s/ EvaN M. G OLDBERG Director March 12, 201(
Evan M. Goldberg

/s/ CATHERINE K INNEY Director March 12, 2010
Catherine Kinney

/s/  KEVIN T HOMPSON Director March 12, 201(
Kevin Thompson

/s/ EDWARD J. ZANDER Director March 12, 2010
Edward J. Zander
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Exhibit Index

The following exhibits are incorporated by referemnc filed herewith.

Exhibit
number

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

10.1+

10.2+

10.3+

10.4+

10.6+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

10.9+
10.9A+
10.10+

10.11

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registrant (incorporated by reference to Bitl¥.2 of Registrant’s
Form &1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant {purated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of Regis's Form {1 Registratior
No. 33:-144257).

Form of Common Stock certificate of the Registr@mtorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Ragis's Form &1
Registration No. 3:-144257).

Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreemenhbyaenong the Registrant and certain stockholdeesiddarch 31, 200¢
and amendments thereto (incorporated by referenEghibit 4.2 of Registra’s Form -1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of tSeite Restricted Holdings LLC (incorporated byerehce to Exhibit 4.4
of Registrar’'s Form &1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Board resolutions approving corporate opportunigver (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.Refgistrant’'s Form S-1
Registration No. 3:-144257).

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Riegiit and each of its directors and executive effidincorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registr’'s Form -1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

1999 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereyimmrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Regis’'s Form 1
Registration No. 3:-144257).

2007 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreem#rgseunder (incorporated by reference to Exhilitd 1o 10.4 of Registrarst’
Quarterly report on Form -Q filed on August 13, 2008

2008 Executive Bonus Plan (incorporated by refezg¢ndExhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Reportfrm 8-K filed on May
1, 2008).

OPENAIR, INC. 2008 RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT PLAN anatfns of agreement thereunder (incorporated byeatsr to
Exhibits 10.5 and 10.6 of Registr’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed on August 13, 200¢

Offer Letter Agreement by and between the Registrad Zachary Nelson effective July 1, 2007 (incogped by reference
Exhibit 10.6 of Registra’s Form (-1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Offer Letter Agreement by and between the Regismad Evan M. Goldberg effective July 1, 2007 (mayated by reference
Exhibit 10.7 of Registra’s Form (-1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Offer Letter Agreement by and between the Registtad James McGeever effective July 1, 2007 (inm@red by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 of Registra’s Form (-1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Offer Letter Agreement by and between the Registtad James Ramsey effective August 15, 2
Amendment to Offer Letter Agreement by and betwiberRegistrant and James Ramsey effective FebA&908.

Offer Letter Agreement by and between the Registtad Timothy Dilley effective July 1, 2007 (incomated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 of Registra’s Form (-1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Office Lease Agreement by and between the Registirash EOP-Peninsula Office Park, L.L.C. dated Aa@)2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of R&gin’s Form $-1 Registration No. 3:-144257).
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Exhibit
number

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18+

10.19+

10.20+

10.21+

10.22+

10.23+

10.24+

10.25

10.26

211
23.1
311

Description
First Amendment to the Office Lease Agreement hy laetween the Company and EOP-Peninsula Office, RdtkC. dated
April 24, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exthilf).2 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 28, 2008

Distribution Agreement by and between the Registaad NetSuite KK dated March 8, 2006 (incorpordtgdeference to
Exhibit 10.14 of Registra’s Form &1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Strategic Reseller Program Development Fund Agreeimeand among the Registrant, NetSuite KK anch§ecasmos, Inc
dated March 8, 2006 (incorporated by referencextulit 10.15 of Registra’s Form &1 Registration No. 33-144257).

Strategic Reseller Program Development Fund Agreeimeand among the Registrant, NetSuite KK andMirJyoho Servic
Co., Ltd. dated October 20, 2006 (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 10.17 of Registrant's Form BRebistration No. 333-
144257).

Preferred Reseller Agreement by and between Net8iitand Miroku Jyoho Service Co., Ltd. dated OetokO, 2006
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of R&gin’s Form 1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Software License Agreement by and between the Ragisand Oracle USA, Inc. dated May 11, 2007 (ipocated by referenc
to Exhibit 10.19 of Registra’s Form (-1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Severance and Change of Control Agreement by atweeba the Registrant and Zachary Nelson effectieedinber 24, 200:
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of R&gin’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 13, 2008

Severance and Change of Control Agreement by atweeba the Registrant and Evan M. Goldberg effediieeember 24, 200!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of R&gin’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 13, 2009

Severance and Change of Control Agreement by atweeba the Registrant and James McGeever effectaceibber 24, 2008.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of R&gin’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 13, 2009

Severance and Change of Control Agreement by atweeba the Registrant and Timothy Dilley effectived@mber 24, 2008.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of R&gin’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 13, 2009

Severance and Change of Control Agreement by atweeba the Registrant and Dean Mansfield Dilley @ffe December 2¢
2008. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2Registran’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 13, 200¢

Severance and Change of Control Agreement by atweeba the Registrant and Douglas P. Solomon effe@ecember 24
2008. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2Registran’s Annual Report on Form -K filed on March 13, 200¢

Severance and Change of Control Agreement by atweeba the Registrant and James Ramsey effectivegtuyg 2009.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Regis’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed on August 7, 200¢

Ordering Document by and between the RegistranGradle USA, Inc. dated October 31, 2007 (incorfentdy reference to
Exhibit 10.26 of Registra’s Form &1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Master Services Agreement by and between the Ragisind SAVVIS Communications Corporation (formpeEkodus
Communications, Inc. and Cable & Wireless USA, )nated May 14, 2001, Amendment No. 1 thereto dited 15, 2007,
Amendment No. 2 thereto dated December 4, 200thanHosting Colocation terms thereto (incorpordtgdeference to Exhik
10.27 of Registra’s Form &1 Registration No. 3:-144257).

Subsidiaries of the Registra
Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pukticounting Firm.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuido Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act.
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Exhibit

number Description

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act.

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and i€hFinancial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of arbane-Oxley Act.

The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 thatoepanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K is notdee: filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporayeference into any filing of NetSuite Inc. undlee Securities Act of 1933 or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made baforfter the date of this Annual Report on Fof¥K] irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.

+  Indicates management contract or compensatorygularrangemen
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EXHIBIT 10.9

August 15, 2003
Mr. James Ramse i
[ADDRESS] 1 NETLEDGER

Dear James,

It is with pleasure that we offer you the positmfrVice President, Inside Sales at NetLedger répgto Jodi Maxson. Your base salary will be
$140,000 with total earnings of $240,000 on plaou Will be granted the option to acquire 100,008rshk of NetLedger common stock, sub

to approval by the Board of Directors. Your optiavif vest, consistent with NetLedger’s Stock Pl1aB% one year from grant date and 1/48th
monthly thereafter for a total of 4 years vesting.

Upon your start day, you will be eligible to paipiate in all employee benefit plans including madlidental, vision, life and disability
insurance. You will be eligible to participate irrfledger’'s 401K plan 90 days after your start ddtk the company matching 34% of your
contribution.

NetLedger offers 16 days PTO (accrued from datgre) and 8 holidays. You will also receive reguiaviews.

Please keep in mind that employment is at “at virillthe state of California and that either pardy ¢terminate employment at any time with or
without cause. We require all employees to sigri_Béger’s standard Proprietary Information Agreenantvell as an Agreement to Arbitrate
any disputes which may arise. We also require approval to seek a background check, which yowera#f contingent upon.

James, we are very excited about the future of ddgker and are happy you will be a part of the camigegrowth along with fulfilling your
own career objectives. We look forward to having gtart on September 29, 2003.

Sincerely,

Pt

Zach Nelson
President

./I
"\1_:-. 1 o
Accepted:. Date: 8/25/0:



EXHIBIT 10.9A

-L NEI'_I__'SUITE'

February 4, 2008

Mr. James Ramsey
[ADDRESS]

Dear James:

We are pleased to extend to you an internal motlemiNetSuite, Inc. to the position of SVP World d&iSales. Your acceptance of this letter
will confirm the terms and conditions of your emyieent with NetSuite.

You will be employed as a SVP World Wide Sales dullatime basis commencing on January 1, 2008. Mdlreport to Dean Mansfield.
Your salary will remain the same.

Your participation in NetSuite’s comprehensive eoygle benefit programs will continue unchanged. ¥gree that the employmenet benefit
plans may change during your employment and thet shanges will not impact upon the remaining Biovis of this Agreement.

All other conditions and clauses remain in effecpar your signed offer dated September 29, 2003.
Congratulations on your new role James. | look Boduo working with you in this position.

Sincerely,

Sy S

Dean Mansfield
President World Wide Sales & Distribution

*kkkkkkkkk

I, James Ramsey, hereby accept the offer of empay@s detailed above and agree to be bound hgrtins and conditions of employment as
outlined in the Agreement dated September 29, 2003.

rerear frvise

Print Name

g

il 2/4/08
Signature Date




Subsidiary name

NetSuite Australia PTY LTD

NetSuite Canada In

NetSuite Hong Kong Limite

NetSuite K.K.

NetSuite (Philippines) Inc

NetSuite Software (Asia Pacific) Pte. L
NetSuite UK Limitec

OpenAir, Inc.

QuickArrow, Inc.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of

incorporation

Australia
Canade

Hong Kong
Japar
Philippines
Singapore
United Kingdom
Delaware
Delaware



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
NetSuite Inc.

We consent to the incorporation by reference irrdlggstration statements (Nos. 333-164864, 333-05,/333-153039, and 333-148290) on
Form S-8 of NetSuite Inc. of our report dated Mat@h2010, with respect to the consolidated balaheets of NetSuite Inc. and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the relatesbtidated statements of operations, convertitdéepred stock and total equity/(deficit),
and cash flows for each of the years in the thes-period ended December 31, 2009, the relataddial statement schedule, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting as of December 31, 2009, which report appigethe December 31, 2009 Annual
Report on Form 10-K of NetSuite Inc.

Our report on the consolidated financial statemesfers to retrospective changes in NetSuite Ind.subsidiaries’ presentation of
noncontrolling interests due to the adoption of BARatement No. 160 oncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financ&thtements
(included in FASB ASC Topic 81@onsolidation), as of January 1, 2009. In addition, our reparthe consolidated financial statements re

to changes in NetSuite Inc. and subsidiaries’ nmetthfcaccounting for business combinations due ¢catthoption of FASB Statement No. 141R,
Business Combinatiot(included in FASB ASC Topic 80Business Combinationsas of January 1, 2009.

/s/  KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
March 12, 2010



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Zachary Nelson, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10ffetSuite Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presénta report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgualures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the teg’s internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvel financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize apbrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signiffole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2010 By: /s/ ZACHARY N ELSON
Zachary Nelson
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James McGeever, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10ffetSuite Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presénta report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgualures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the teg’s internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvel financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize apbrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signiffole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2010 By: /s/ JameEs M c G EEVER
James McGeever
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fNetSuite Inc. for the annual period ended Deceamifie 2009 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehéhe “Report”), Zachary Nelson, as Chief ExeeatDfficer of NetSuite Inc., hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dapted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002, that, to the best of his
knowledge the Report fully complies with the requiients of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securlieshange Act of 1934, and the
information contained in the Report fairly preseimsall material respects, the financial conditand results of operations of NetSuite Inc.

Date: March 12, 2010 By: /'s/ ZACHARY N ELSON

Zachary Nelson
President and Chief Executive Officer

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fNetSuite Inc. for the annual period ended Deceamfie 2009 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dat@h@he “Report”), James McGeever, as Chief FinahCifficer of NetSuite Inc., hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dapted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002, that, to the best of his
knowledge the Report fully complies with the requiients of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securlieshange Act of 1934, and the
information contained in the Report fairly presemsall material respects, the financial conditaond results of operations of NetSuite Inc.

Date: March 12, 2010 By: /sl JamEs M c G EEVER

James McGeeve|
Chief Financial Officer




